“We have known about it [The Hoax of the Twentieth Century] for some time.
But we didn’t want to give it any publicity and help the sales. Now it’s too late;

it’s out in the open and we have to face it squarely.”
—Abbot A. Rosen, Chicago Executive Director, ADL, Pittsburgh Press, Jan. 26, 1977

First published in 1976, this slightly revised and enhanced edition of The
Hoax of the Twentieth Century is the seminal work of “Holocaust” revision-
ism and still the most widely read on the subject.

In 502 pages of penetrating study and lucid commentary, Dr. Butz gives
the reader a graduate course on the subject of the Jews of World War Two
Europe — concluding not only that they were not virtually wiped out, but
what’s more, that no evidence exists to date to confirm that there was ever
any Hitler attempt to do so.

Chapter by solidly referenced chapter, Dr. Butz applies the scientist’s rig-
orous clinical technique to every cornerstone of the legend. He focuses on the
post-war crimes trials where the prosecution’s false “evidence” was secured
by coercion and even torture. He re-examines the very German records so
long misrepresented; he critiques the European demographics, which do
not allow for the loss of the “Six Million™; he re-evaluates the concept and
technical feasibility of the “gas chambers” with some startling conclusions;
and he separates the cold facts from the sheer tonnage of disinformation that
has served as a formidable barrier to the truth since the end of WWII.

This is the book that has caused unprecedented shockwaves throughout the
academic and political world. Its open sale has been banned in an increasing
number of countries including Germany and Canada. It is a book violently
denounced by those unable to refute its thesis — the most hysterical reac-
tions to it coming from those whose own historical views cannot withstand
the light of honest review.

Now in its third edition, five major supplements have been added to bring
the reader up-to-date on the continuing “Holocaust” controversy and its
impact almost everywhere World War Two is discussed. A best-seller by any
meaningful standard, yet still ignored and maligned by the people who have
known of it but have never even made the effort to read it, The Hoax of the
Twentieth Century is a book you must read if you want a clear picture of the
scope and magnitude of the historical cover-up of our age, who is behind it,
and what can be done to put an end to it.
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Foreword to the 2003 Edition

My investigations of the Jewish “Holocaust” commenced in 1972, and twenty
seven years have passed since the first publication of this book in 1976 in England
as The Hoax of the Twentieth Century. Twenty six years have passed since the re-
lease of the slightly revised second British and first American edition of 1977.
This text consists of the last, preceded by a short article I wrote for the student
newspaper at Northwestern University in 1991' and followed by five supplements
representing writings from 1979-1997. There is also an addendum to Appendix E
(“The Role of the Vatican®), consisting of the obituary/tribute I wrote on Rev.
Robert A. Graham. All were published in the Journal of Historical Review. Also
Appendix A on Kurt Gerstein, has been revised somewhat.

I am proud that this book remains of interest to anybody a quarter century after
publication. Nevertheless, the age of this text, and the great advances that have
subsequently occurred in Holocaust revisionism, require some comments on the
value of the book to today’s reader. How can a quarter century old text not be ob-
solete today? What does today’s reader gain from it? Would it not be better to re-
vise this text to take into account more recent developments?

From the perspective of today, the book has defects, and several people, of
whom I am one, could now do better. In admitting such defects, I can plead that I
was one man working with little help. Except for Wilhelm Stéglich, the corre-
spondents I had before publication in 1976 were not then, and have not subse-
quently become, significant in revisionist work. The literature of revisionist orien-
tation was scanty. Some of it was rubbish that constituted a minor nuisance. On
the positive side were Paul Rassinier, Thies Christophersen, and Wilhelm Stig-
lich. At that time the writings of Rassinier, a former political prisoner at Buchen-
wald, were of interest both as a primary source, relating personal experiences, and
as historical exposition (today Rassinier is of interest only as a primary source).
Christophersen and Stiglich, Germans who had been stationed near Auschwitz,
were of value only as primary sources, although Stiglich later wrote a book of
historical exposition. Even taking these three into account, the historical complex
was not there, as I shall explain below.

A common complaint about this work has been that I am not a trained histo-
rian or history professor. It is, however, not unusual for people who are not aca-
demic historians to make contributions to history. The great American historian
Francis Parkman was no history professor; he had only a brief academic appoint-
ment as Professor of Horticulture at Harvard. The late Arnaldo Momigliano urged
wariness of academic historians and pointed out that none of the three leading
nineteenth century historians of the ancient world was a history professor, e.g.
Mommsen was a Professor of Law.”

However, such examples do not satisfactorily illustrate the fact that history has

' Rhodes, 347. Daily Northwestern, May 13, 1991, correction May 14.
A. Momigliano, “History in an Age of Ideologies,” American Scholar, Autumn 1982, pp. 495-
507.
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a closer relationship to popular culture than most other academic disciplines. This
is easily clarified and proved. In the major book reviews (New York Times, New
York Review, etc.) one can find reviews of, and advertisements for, many works
on the leading edge of historical research, i.e. works not specifically written for
popular readership. No such attention is given to leading edge works in electrical
engineering and most other academic disciplines. Many intelligent laymen can
read such historical works with comprehension. If many can read them, then some
can write them. I could give reasons for this relatively popular status of serious
history study, but it would carry us too far afield. In any case, there is no venality
on the part of academic historians in approving of such popular promotion of their
books.

Such observations show, however, that there is hypocrisy in their common im-
plication, when denouncing Holocaust revisionism, that only people with their
kinds of Ph.D. degrees are competent to deal with historical issues.

The style of my book is certainly not elegant. I believe my style has improved
much since then but, like most men with a technical education, my style remains
at best dry and not elegant. It was, however, good enough to do the job. I have
even sometimes wondered if elegance of style might be incompatible with a sub-
ject as dreary as the present one.

It is not immodest for me to say that mine is the best book of its type, because
it is the only book of its type. To compare my book to others, the approach of
mine is horizontal, the others vertical. Subsequent investigators have taken spe-
cific subjects and gone more deeply into them than I did. Such vertical approaches
should be contrasted with my horizontal. I attempted to cover every reasonably
relevant aspect of the problem. The question of the existence of gas chambers was
only one of many. I tried to show what did happen as well as what did not. I
showed the relevance of the Zionist and related movements. I discussed the Allied
policies and the Jewish influences in them. My use of sources (e.g. the Nuremberg
trials, Red Cross reports, Vatican documents, contemporary newspaper accounts)
today seems obvious but it was not then. To aid in comprehending the early war
crimes trials, I gave witchcraft trials as a useful precedent.

I claim an additional contribution of this book that may seem ridiculous on its
face. I treated the German concentration camps as specific institutions that existed
in specific locations, with the alleged events that took place in them taking place,
if at all, in real space and real time, together with other events that happened si-
multaneously in those same camps or in real space. By “real space” I mean a
space that we all exist in so that, whatever happened at Auschwitz, it happened at
the same time President Roosevelt held meetings in Washington, and I as a child
went to school, etc., and in the same space.

That is so obvious that it may seem preposterous for me to present it as an
original perspective, but please hear me out. My impression of the extant litera-
ture was that the events claimed there may as well be imagined as having taken
place on Mars, if at all, so absent was a concern for the broader context. As I re-
minded readers on page 210:

“There was a war going on during World War I1.”
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Consider my presentation of Auschwitz, the principal alleged “extermination
camp”. I started by describing Auschwitz as a camp that performed functions
similar to those performed by typical German camps that are not claimed to have
been extermination camps; I outlined those functions and I presented a map show-
ing where the German camps were. Then I described Auschwitz in its unique re-
spects and showed, why the Allies would have been interested in events transpir-
ing at Auschwitz. I presented pictures of crematorium ovens at Auschwitz and
other camps. I presented a map of the Auschwitz region and a plan of the “Birke-
nau” section of the Auschwitz camp. That plan and the various maps showed the
reader exactly where, in Europe, Poland, and at Auschwitz, the great gas cham-
bers were supposed to have been located. Then I considered one of the specific
groups of Jews, the Hungarian Jews, not only from the point of view of allega-
tions of events in German camps but from the point of view of events in Hungary.
That is, for me the problem of the Hungarian Jews was as much a problem of
what happened in Hungary as what happened at Auschwitz. Even in considering
events at Auschwitz, I chose to place my perspective elsewhere, among the Allies
who, at the time in question, were very interested in Auschwitz as an industrial
bombing target and would have photographed the camp for that purpose.

The photographs were produced almost three years after publication of my
book and confirmed my conclusions, but that is not the point that I am now trying
to emphasize. My point is that, as unlikely as it may seem, my method of placing
Auschwitz in its general historical context was essentially unique in this historical
area. True, some of what I said in that respect is to be found in earlier books that
purported to relate how the “exterminations” transpired, but in scattered bits and
pieces that were usually incidental to those accounts. Even so, much had to be
culled from diverse sources. For example, though it seems obvious that any useful
discussion of the Auschwitz problem required a map of the Auschwitz region and
of the Birkenau camp, the former had to be constructed by me from several
sources and the latter had to be lifted, not from one of the standard “Holocaust”
books such as those by Hilberg or Reitlinger, but from a book about a German
trial of Auschwitz personnel that took place in 1963-5. Hilberg, Reitlinger, and
similar authors were very stingy with maps and pictures, except in books specifi-
cally devoted to presenting pictures. We can say, with only minor oversimplifica-
tion, that they would sell you a book of pictures or a book of text, but not one
book integrating the two in any useful way.

I believe my analysis provoked investigations of specific problems, even when
such influence was not acknowledged. My implied skepticism about the reality of
the mysterious “German industrialist” who in 1942, according to the World Jew-
ish Congress, passed along information that a plan to exterminate the Jews had
been discussed in Hitler’s headquarters, may have provoked the later investiga-
tions attempting to determine his identity. Walter Laqueur and Richard Breitman,
in Breaking the Silence, 1986, unconvincingly proposed Eduard Schulte. I also
stressed the inaction of the Allies with respect to Auschwitz, which Laqueur (The
Terrible Secret, 1980) and Martin Gilbert (Auschwitz and the Allies, 1981) tried
without success to explain.

10
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The existence and relevance of the 1944 aerial reconnaissance photos of
Auschwitz were, to the best of my knowledge, first argued in my book.” I also be-
lieve that my book provoked, perhaps through some intermediary, the 1979 re-
lease of these photos by the CIA, but again such influence is not admitted.

I analyzed the specifics of the alleged extermination process at Auschwitz. I
showed that all of the specific material facts required a dual interpretation of rela-
tively mundane facts, e.g. transports, selections, showers, shaving hair, Zyklon B,
crematoria, etc., all real and all relatively mundane, had been given a second in-
terpretation. That insight scarcely merits the label today, but it did then. It has
been the main paradigm for all subsequent revisionist writing on Auschwitz and
other alleged “extermination camps”. It may seem very simple and obvious after
one reads this book; it certainly was not when I wrote it. The reader is shown what
sorts of questions he should ask if he wants to go further. Those who have studied
the development of ideas understand that the right answers are not attainable until
the right questions are formulated (yes, questions can be right or wrong). This
book, even today, shows how to do that.

I consider my book generally “right” even today in the sense of how the his-
torical parts fit together, and they fit perfectly without major or fundamental mys-
teries. Contrast the gyrations of the typical historians who have nothing but mys-
teries. How and when was an order to exterminate given? Was such an order
given at all? Why didn’t the Allies recognize what was (allegedly) happening at
Auschwitz? Why didn’t the Pope forthrightly condemn physical extermination,
even after the German had been driven out of Rome? Why didn’t the Allied press
give greater prominence to reports of extermination of Jews, rather than bury
them in the back pages of the larger newspapers?

This horizontal analysis remains unique in the revisionist literature. The book
presented a historical complex that remains valid today. The book made special-
ized studies easier because investigators did not have to worry about coherence of
the larger picture; they could direct a curious person to my book. I did a good
enough job for that, even if not a perfect job. The proof is that, among revision-
ists, defects of the book are certainly seen, but, unfortunately, there seems to be
no great demand for an improved integrated work of comparable scope and no as-
piring author in view.

An example. You want to discuss the question of gas chambers at Auschwitz.
My old book won’t help if you want to be current, and there would not necessarily
be any reason to cite it. There are much more recent and conclusive writings, but I
could not imagine a person securely venturing into such a controversy without
having a grasp of the general historical complex, as provided in my book. Thus, I
cannot imagine contemporary Holocaust revisionism existing without a book such
as mine, even if it is never necessary to cite it today.

> There is an unconfirmed and disputed claim that U.S. Army Capt. Jacob Javits (later U.S. Sena-

tor) used the photos, in 1944, to argue for bombing Auschwitz. See letters in the New York Jew-
ish weekly Forward, 23 Feb. 2001, p. 10, and 6 April 2001, p. 16. If the claim is true, the photos
were forgotten until I argued, in my 1976 book, that they had to exist. I am inclined to think the
claim is not true.
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It is still the only book of this sort. A better one would be nice but there are
two problems that occur to me. First such a book, if written from the point of view
of our knowledge today, would not fit into a single volume. This explains why I
reject the idea of trying to bring this book up to date. Such a project would
quickly run away from “updating”, resulting in an entirely new work. Any attempt
to respect the original content and organization of the book would be a handicap
in the updating project. The best single volume for bringing the reader up to date
on revisionist scholarship is a compilation of papers by many people, not an inte-
grated work.*

Second, a paradox: a weakness of the book explains some of its strength. From
the present point of view, there seems much in the book that is awkwardly pre-
sented. This is because I did not write this book as an expert. The book was writ-
ten as works of research normally are: I was myself struggling to understand, as
would an intelligent and serious reader. Thus, the book expresses a relationship of
common perspective, and therefore implicit mutual empathy, between author and
reader that could not exist in a new book, written today from a position of exper-
tise and directed at a neophyte reader, which is the only relationship possible to-
day. I believe this explains the occasional overwhelming effect the book has.
From this point of view the book is still contemporary, as well as “right”, and
ought not undergo major revision.

For these reasons, I have rejected any idea of “updating” this book. Rather,
several later writings from 1979 on have been provided here, as specified above.

That this book is still valuable today is due to the distortions and misrepresen-
tations that have continued to issue from the media and academe, resulting in mil-
lions of people so uninformed that a viewpoint of 1976 is a great revelation for
them in 2003.

I consider this book as successful as could have been judiciously hoped under
the circumstances, but it is important to view it as one of the successes in the phe-
nomenon of Holocaust revisionism, for which no single person, or set of specific
persons, can take credit. It seems to me to be just something that was timely and
had to develop and that I was just a part of this development. I discussed this in
my paper reproduced as Supplement 1, but to try to make my point clearer, let me
emphasize that the Jews have played a very important role in this development;
they must take some of the credit. It was they who chose, in 1977, to spread the
news of this obscure book to the most remote corners of the universe. Who could
have imagined such massive publicity for a book from an unknown publisher,
written by an unknown author, and only barely available in the USA? They have
used their powerful positions in the media to keep the subject of “Holocaust” up-
permost in the minds of the populace; we get it for breakfast, lunch, and dinner.
The present “Holocaustomania”, which younger readers may believe has been a

*  Germar Rudolf (ed.), Dissecting the Holocaust: The Growing Critique of “Truth” and “Mem-

ory”, ond edition, Theses & Dissertations Press, PO Box 257768, Chicago, IL 60625, USA, 2003.
Expanded version of the text originally published as Grundlagen zur Zeitgeschichte: Ein Hand-
buch iiber strittige Fragen des 20. Jahrhunderts, by Ernst Gauss (ed. = Germar Rudolf), Grabert-
Verlag, Tiibingen, 1994. Probably not available from Grabert now, but available from T&DP.
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permanent feature of our public affairs since World War II, can be fairly said to
have started with the 1978 NBC-TV “docudrama” Holocaust. Only Jewish groups
(either formally Jewish or having a largely Jewish membership), on the campus of
Northwestern University, have maintained students’ interest in my work on the
“Holocaust”. Such mutual dependency only holds for things that had to happen.

When I wrote this book, there were perhaps a half dozen serious Holocaust re-
visionist researchers (most not known by me). Today there are too many for me to
even try to list, and readers of contemporary Holocaust revisionist literature in all
languages certainly number in the hundreds of thousands, perhaps millions.

There are many back-handed compliments to our success. Perhaps the most
conspicuous is the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Museum. A February 1992 funds
appeal for it, signed by “National Campaign Chairman” Miles Lerman, named
“revisionists” as those whom the museum would “counter”. The Museum for-
mally opened in April 1993 with the “Intent on refuting revisionist attempts to
diminish the scope of the Holocaust™.” As if that weren’t enough, the 104th Con-
gress passed, without dissent, a resolution making only two points: it “deplores”
revisionism and “commends the vital, ongoing work of the [...] Museum.”® That
silly Museum is an ironic monument to Holocaust revisionism.’

The Museum will not be the last such monument. In 1996, Jewish Senators
Barbara Boxer and Arlen Specter handed Jewish movie director Steven Spielberg
a check representing a $1 million federal grant for his “Survivors of the Shoah
Visual History Foundation” (a project of videotaping accounts of “survivors” —
“Shoah” is the Hebrew word used in place of “Holocaust”). Specter motivated the
grant in terms of opposing the considerable success of revisionists.®

A more recent example is the projected Holocaust Memorial in Berlin. A July
2001 advertisement, appealing for funds, raised the danger of revisionism.’

Revisionist apostasy has been rare. It has been most visible in cases where
some public figure who was not actually a revisionist made public remarks sup-
portive of revisionism. A 1996 example was Abbé Pierre, a sort of French Mother
Teresa (although more active in public affairs) who, despite his quick recantation
of his revisionist remarks, will never be forgiven by his former friends.'® This epi-

> Chicago Tribune, 23 April 1993, sec. 1, p. 18.

Senate resolution 193 passed 9 Nov. 1995, and House resolution 316 passed 16 April 1996.
Perhaps the most telling point is that the Museum, after so much promotion and millions spent,
has failed to depict a homicidal gas chamber. Robert Faurisson has commented on this and re-
lated his humorous encounter with the Museum’s director, Dr. Michael Berenbaum. Journal of
Historical Review, Jan./Feb. 1994, p. 23; Nov./Dec. 1994, p. 4.

Boston Globe, 24 July 1996, p. A6. Spielberg got into “Shoah business” (from an American ex-
pression — “there’s no business like show business”) via his Schindler’s List movie, which also
failed to depict a gassing or homicidal gas chamber. On the basis of his other movies and other
scenes in this one, I could not attribute the failure to squeamishness on Spielberg‘s part. He is a
good enough showman to have realized that a complete depiction of a gassing via Zyklon B,
faithful to the legend and to physical possibility, would have been far too preposterous even for
him. The Jewish worker who was shot for exceeding her assigned tasks was routine rubbish, but
the gassing would have been too much.

°  NYTimes, 18 July 2001, p. A6.

10 NY Times, 1 May 1996, p. A6. Boston Globe, 23 July 1996, p. A5.
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sode is one of many that illustrate the handicaps that Holocaust revisionism has
labored under.

A final proof, if needed, of our success is the fact of laws passed in recent
years, in several European countries, criminalizing the publication of revisionist
views on the Holocaust. Such literature circulated freely in Europe until the pre-
sent revisionist movement started making its impact in the late 70s. In the United
States we are still free of state suppression, although there is considerable whining
in some quarters about “First Amendment absolutism”. Here the repression works
largely by extra-legal means of intimidation and reprisal. For example, Fred
Leuchter was the leading execution technologist in the USA when he published
his famous 1988 report on the alleged Auschwitz gas chambers.'' Since then, his
business has been ruined and his marriage destroyed. All such developments are
of course back-handed and evil tributes to the success of Holocaust revisionism.
Even the most naive reader will see the point: they don’t want you to know these
things! They are trying to hold back the wind.

We are successful, but we have a long way to go, as the brute strength of the
dying monster is considerable.

Evanston, Illinois
June 2003

'S, Lehman, “A Matter of Engineering,” Atlantic Monthly, Feb. 1990, pp. 26-29. Also see the let-
ters in the May issue; Fred A. Leuchter, An Engineering Report on the alleged Execution Gas
Chambers at Auschwitz, Birkenau and Majdanek, Poland, Samisdat Publishers Ltd., Toronto
1988; for an update on this issue, see Germar Rudolf, The Rudolf Report. Expert Report on
Chemical and Technical Aspects of the ‘Gas Chambers’ of Auschwitz, Theses & Dissertations
Press, PO Box 257768, Chicago, IL 60625, USA, 2003.
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Foreword

In common with virtually all Americans, who have had their opinions formed
since the end of World War II, I had, until not very long ago, assumed that Ger-
many had given the world a particularly murderous outburst during World War II.
This view has ruled Western opinion since 1945 and earlier, and I was no excep-
tion in accepting the essentials of it.

An important qualification in the preceding is the term “essentials,” for the
collection of crimes of which the Germans were supposedly guilty in World War
II grows rapidly smaller as one examines the evidence and arguments assembled
in readily available “revisionist” books. An elementary critical examination re-
veals that most of the crimes that are real even in the minds of “intellectuals” (e.g.
lampshades manufactured by some Germans from the skins of human beings
killed in concentration camps for the purpose) obviously had no basis in fact.
Likewise with legends about mistreatment of American and British prisoners of
war. Moreover, the general problem is elaborated considerably when one weighs,
as the revisionists do, the appalling wartime and postwar brutalities of the West-
ern Allies.

Such an investigation does not overturn the “Holocaust” legend, however, and
the “six million” Jews murdered, mainly in “gas chambers,” can seem immovable
fact. The revisionist books which overturn some of the most popular misconcep-
tions seem to accept the gas chambers as factual. All educated opinion that the in-
vestigator consults accepts the “extermination” story. Professors of history who
have specialized in Germany, if asked, seem to consider the charge as established as
the Great Pyramid. Liberal and conservative publicists, though they have very dif-
ferent attitudes toward World War II and America’s entry into it, and though they
squabble with each other on almost everything else, close ranks on the reality of the
“Holocaust.” Noting the obvious ways in which this legend is exploited in contem-
porary politics, notably in connection with the completely illogical support that the
U.S. extends to Israel, I had long had lingering doubts about it, and there was also
the fact that there existed a small number of respected observers whose views had
not been formed entirely after World War II and who, in the very limited channels
open to them and with various degrees of explicitness, denied even the approximate
truth of the legend. A good example is the distinguished American scholar John
Beaty, who was called to active duty in the military Intelligence Service of the War
Department General Staff just before the entry of the U.S. into the war and attained
the rank of Colonel by the end of the war. Among other things, Beaty was one of
the two editors of the daily secret “G-2 Report,” which was issued each noon to give
persons in high places, including the White House, the world picture as it existed
four hours earlier. In his book Iron Curtain Over America, published in 1951, he
ridiculed the six million legend with a few remarks that were unfortunately brief and
inconclusive, but, coming from a man who was one of the best informed in the
world during the war, carried some amount of authority.

Elementary investigation into the question, of the sort the non-historian cus-
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tomarily does, led me nowhere. The meager amount of literature in the English
language which denied the truth of the legend was not only unconvincing; it was
so unreliable and unscrupulous in the employment of sources, when sources were
employed, that it had a negative effect, so that the case for the truth of the essen-
tials of the legend (disregarding quantitative problems, e.g., whether it was six
million or four million or only three million) seemed strengthened. At the time I
became aware that there existed additional literature in French and German but,
being quite unaccustomed to reading texts in those languages except on rare occa-
sions when I consulted a paper in a French or German mathematics journal, I did
not undertake to acquire copies of the foreign language literature.

Moreover, I assumed that if such literature was worth more than what was be-
ing published in English, somebody would have published English translations.

Still possessing my lingering doubts I sat down, early in 1972, and started to
read some of the “Holocaust” literature itself rather more systematically than I had
previously, in order to see just what claims were made in this connection and on
what evidence. Fortunately, one of my first choices was Raul Hilberg’s The De-
struction of the European Jews. The experience was a shock and a rude awaken-
ing, for Hilberg’s book did what the opposition literature could never have done. 1
not only became convinced that the legend of the several million gassed Jews
must be a hoax, but I derived what turned out to be a fairly reliable “feel” for the
remarkable cabalistic mentality that had given the lie its specific form (those who
want to experience the “rude awakening” somewhat as I did may stop here and
consult pp. 567-571 of Hilberg'?).

Although my long-lingering skepticism in regard to the legend was no longer
on the defensive, my information could not, early in 1972, be considered conclu-
sive, and my knowledge of the subject was not comprehensive, so I set out, at first
in my “spare time,” to investigate the subject with the thoroughness that was re-
quired.

The reader will have surmised that my “spare time” eventually expanded con-
siderably.

Several — for me startling — discoveries made the subject irresistible in a purely
intellectual sense. I acquired the foreign language literature. Ultimately, I spent
the entire summer of 1972 working on an exposé of the hoax, since by then I had
penetrated and demolished the whole sorry mess. While the book you are holding
differs considerably in quantity of factual content and general quality from the
picture I had formed by the summer of 1972, that picture, whose essentials are
transmitted here, was in such overwhelming contradiction to the lies that Western
society had equipped me with, that my attention could not be drawn from the sub-
ject by any appeal to prudence or any such practical calculation. Because even
early in the summer of 1972, it was evident that my research had carried the sub-
ject beyond the existing literature, I felt an inescapable obligation and an intellec-
tual imperative to put forward for society’s evaluation what I knew about this
most pernicious hoax. It quickly became clear that only a book would do; the sub-

2 Vol. 3, pp. 885-890 in the “revised and definitive edition” of 1985. Editor’s note: Cf. J. Graf, The
Giant with Feet of Clay.
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ject could not, given the years of propaganda, be treated in a research paper or
pamphlet and, a fortiori, it could not be treated in the form of a lecture.

The body of a text was written in the summer of 1972, and then the manuscript
was gradually improved in the course of the next two years. A trip to Europe in
the summer of 1973 was very rewarding, as was a trip to Washington later in the
year. The book was essentially finished in late 1974.

There will be those who will say that I am not qualified to undertake such a
work and there will even be those who will say that I have no right to publish such
things. So be it.

If a scholar, regardless of his specialty, perceives that scholarship in acquiesc-
ing, from whatever motivation, in a monstrous lie, then it is his duty to expose the
lie, whatever his qualifications. It does not matter that he collides with all “estab-
lished” scholarship in the field, although that is not the case here, for a critical ex-
amination of the “holocaust” has been avoided by academic historians in all re-
spects and not merely in the respect it is treated in this book. That is, while virtu-
ally all historians pay some sort of lip service to the lie, when it comes up in
books and papers on other subjects, none has produced an academic study argu-
ing, and presenting the evidence for, either the thesis that the exterminations did
take place or that they did not take place. If they did take place then it should be
possible to produce a book showing how it started and why, by whom it was or-
ganized and the line of authority in the killing operations, what the technical
means were and that those technical means did not have some sort of more mun-
dane interpretation (e.g. crematories), who the technicians involved were, the
numbers of victims from the various lands and the timetables of their executions,
presenting the evidence on which these claims are based together with reasons
why one should be willing to accept the authenticity of all documents produced at
illegal trials. No historians have undertaken anything resembling such a project;
only non-historians have undertaken portions.

With these preliminary remarks, therefore, I invite your study of the hoax of
your century.

Evanston, Illinois
August 1975
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A Short Introduction
to the Study of Holocaust Revisionism

First published in the Daily Northwestern, May 13, 1991, correction May 14.

I see three principal reasons for the widespread but erroneous belief in the leg-
end of millions of Jews killed by the Germans during World War II: U.S. and
British troops found horrible piles of corpses in the west German camps they cap-
tured in 1945 (e.g. Dachau and Belsen), there are no longer large communities of
Jews in Poland, and historians generally support the legend.

During both world wars Germany was forced to fight typhus, carried by lice in
the constant traffic with the east. That is why all accounts of entry into the Ger-
man concentration camps speak of shaving of hair, showering, and other delous-
ing procedures, such as treatment of quarters with the pesticide Zyklon. That was
also the main reason for a high death rate in the camps and the crematories that
existed in all.

When Germany collapsed in chaos, then of course all such defenses ceased,
and typhus and other diseases became rampant in the camps, which quartered
mainly political prisoners, ordinary criminals, homosexuals, conscientious objec-
tors, and Jews conscripted for labor. Hence the horrible scenes, which however
had nothing to do with “extermination” or any deliberate policy. Moreover, the
west German camps involved were not the alleged “extermination camps”, which
were all in Poland (e.g. Auschwitz and Treblinka) and which were all evacuated
or shut down before capture by the Soviets, who found no such scenes.

The “Final Solution* spoken of in the German documents was a program of
evacuation, resettlement, and deportation of Jews with the ultimate objective of
expulsion from Europe. During the war, Jews of various nationalities were being
moved east, as one stage in this Final Solution. The legend claims that the move-
ments were mainly for extermination purposes.

The great majority of the millions allegedly exterminated were east European,
not German or west European, Jews. For that reason study of the problem via
population statistics has been difficult to impossible, but it is a fact that there are
no longer large communities of Jews in Poland. However, the Germans were only
one of several parties involved in moving Jews around. The Soviets deported vir-
tually all of the Jews of eastern Poland to their interior in 1940. After the war,
with Polish and other Jews pouring out of the east into occupied west Germany,
the Zionists moved large numbers to Palestine, and the U.S. and other countries
absorbed many Jews, in most cases under conditions making impossible a nu-
merical accounting. Moreover, the Polish borders were changed drastically at the
end of the war; the country was literally moved west.

Historians generally support the legend, but there are precedents for nearly in-
comprehensible blindness on the part of scholars. For example, throughout the
Middle Ages even the Pope’s political enemies conceded his false claim that the
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4th century Emperor Constantine had ceded rule of the west to the Pope, although
all knew very well that Constantine had been succeeded by more emperors. Near
unanimity among the academics is especially suspect when there exist great po-
litical pressures; in some countries Holocaust revisionists have been prosecuted.

It is easy to show that the extermination legend merits skepticism. Even the
casual reader of the Holocaust literature knows that during the war virtually no-
body acted as though it was happening. Thus, it is common to berate the Vatican,
the Red Cross, and the Allies (especially the intelligence agencies) for their igno-
rance and inaction, and to explain that the Jews generally did not resist deporta-
tion because they did not know what was in store for them. If you add all this up
you have the strange claim that for almost three years German trains, operating on
a continental scale in densely civilized regions of Europe, were regularly and sys-
tematically moving millions of Jews to their deaths, and nobody noticed except
for a few of our Jewish leaders who were making public “extermination” claims.

On closer examination, even those few Jewish leaders were not acting as
though it was happening. Ordinary communications between the occupied and
neutral countries were open, and they were in contact with the Jews whom the
Germans were deporting, who thus could not have been in ignorance of “extermi-
nation” if those claims had any validity.

This incredible ignorance must also be attributed to Hans Oster’s department
in German military intelligence, correctly labeled “the veritable general staff of
the opposition to Hitler” in a recent review.

What we are offered in evidence was gathered after the war, in trials. The evi-
dence is almost all oral testimony and “confessions.” Without the evidence of
these trials there would be no significant evidence of “extermination”. One must
pause and ponder this carefully. Were trials needed to determine that the Battle of
Waterloo happened? The bombings of Hamburg, Dresden, Hiroshima, and Na-
gasaki? The slaughter in Cambodia?

Yet this three year program, of continental scope, claiming millions of victims,
required trials to argue its reality. I am not arguing that the trials were illegal or
unfair; I am arguing that such historical logic as the legend rests on must not be
countenanced. Such events cannot happen without generating commensurate and
evidence for their reality, just as a great forest fire cannot take place without pro-
ducing smoke. One may as well believe that New York City was burned down, if
confessions to the deed can be produced.

Detailed consideration of the specific evidence put forward in support of the
legend has been a focus of the revisionist literature, but I shall mention one point
here. The claim of the legend is that there were no technical means provided for
the specific task of extermination, and that means originally provided for other
purposes did double duty in improvised arrangements. Thus, the Jews were alleg-
edly gassed with the pesticide Zyklon, and their corpses disappeared into the cre-
matories along with the deaths from “ordinary” causes (the ashes or other remains
of millions of victims never having been found).

Surely any thoughtful person must be skeptical.
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Chapter 1:
Trials, Jews and Nazis

Trials and Doubts

The “war crimes trials,” which the victors in World War II conducted, mainly
of Germans but also of many Japanese, were precedent-shattering in their scope
and in the explicitness of the victorious powers’ claims to some sort of legal juris-
diction in respect of laws or understandings, which did not exist at the time they
were allegedly broken by the Axis powers. Thus, in disregard of European honor
conventions, which had been respected for centuries, German civilian and military
prisoners, many of the highest rank, met violent deaths while in Allied captivity as
a supposed consequence of these extraordinary proceedings.

Nothing resembling the trials of 1945-1949, which were conducted by the war-
time enemies of Germany, has ever occurred before. The case of Joan of Arc
comes to mind, but that involved a solitary prisoner, not an entire state, and the
English who were, in the last analysis, responsible for the trial did everything to
make the issue appear to be one of heresy and witchcraft, already formally pro-
scribed, to be decided by an impartial and universal church according to pre-
existing rules of evidence and procedure.

In the United States, the real progenitor of the trials, opinion on the appropri-
ateness of having conducted such trials has always been divided, but the balance
has varied. In the immediate post-war period, opinion generally favored the trials
with, however, some significant voices in opposition. In the middle of the heated
election campaign of 1946, just before the major Nazis Goring, Ribbentrop et al.
were to be hanged, Senator Robert A. Taft delivered a speech attacking both the
legal basis for the trials and the sentences which had been imposed; his speech
seems to have hurt his Republican Party in those elections.

A decade later, views had evidently changed somewhat, since at that time the
then obvious presidential candidate John F. Kennedy published a book, Profiles in
Courage (a survey of various people whom Senator Kennedy thought coura-
geous), in which he commended Taft for taking this stand, adding that Taft’s
views “are shared [...] by a substantial number of American citizens today.”13

With the Eichmann abduction in 1960 and subsequent “trial” and with the as-
sociated later publicity, opinion seemed to move again, however slowly, toward
approval of the trials. Many reasons may be offered for this extraordinary rever-
sal, but it seems to me that what had happened was that in a peacetime, generally
non-hysterical atmosphere the world’s attention had been focused on one tale of a
peculiarly macabre sort: the killing, mainly in “gas chambers,” of several (usual

B Kennedy, 216-219; 236-239 in Memorial Edition.
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figure, six) million Jews of all ages and conditions by the Nazis during the war, as
part of a program of ridding Europe of Jewry. Gerald Reitlinger’s The Final Solu-
tion, 2nd edition (1968), is generally accepted as the most detailed and useful
presentation of this claim, and Raul Hilberg’s The Destruction of the European
Jews (1961) tells essentially the same story. Other writings are Nora Levin’s The
Holocaust (1968), several books by Léon Poliakov, and The War Against the
Jews, 1933-1945, by Lucy S. Dawidowicz (1975).

Returning to the problem of the appropriateness of the war crimes trials, eve-
rybody would agree as to the (at least) shaky legal foundations of the trials, but
apparently many people would go along with the claim that the trials were appro-
priate anyway because normal wartime excesses were not involved; the extraordi-
nary nature of the crime, the extermination of the European Jews, called for ex-
traordinary proceedings. Such cruelty must not only be punished but documented
as well, the argument goes.

I do not propose in this book to settle the question of what degree of cruelty
justifies what degree of legal irregularity. Rather, a rarely heard point, which is at
least relevant to the debate, is insisted upon here: It is a fact that without the evi-
dence generated at these trials, there would be no significant evidence that the
program of killing Jews ever existed at all. One has only to examine the sources
employed by Hilberg and by Reitlinger to see this. If the trials had not been held,
a person claiming the existence of the extermination program could not, if chal-
lenged, produce any evidence for this, save a few books (not including Hilberg or
Reitlinger) whose claims are just as unsupported as his original claim. Thus, the
problem that had been involved in deciding whether or not to hold trials on the
Jewish extermination aspect was not a simple question of whether or not to try
mass murder; unlike the usual murder case there was legitimate and very solid
doubt that the deed had been committed at all.

This may surprise the reader who regards the tale of Jewish extermination as a
near certainty; such is simply not the case. There are many considerations support-
ing this view, and some are so simple that they may surprise the reader even further.
The simplest valid reason for being skeptical about the extermination claim is also
the simplest conceivable reason: at the end of the war, they were still there.

This must be qualified only slightly. Consider a West European observer, who
had been familiar with the status of European Jewry prior to the war, making a
survey of West European Jewry in, say, late 1946 (East European Jewry was out
of bounds). He would have found Italian, French, Belgian, and Danish Jewry es-
sentially unscratched (these points will be discussed more fully in later chapters).
On the other hand, he would have found that large numbers of Jews, possibly ma-
jorities, were missing from Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Czechoslovakia
(then accessible from the West). German-Austrian Jewry was confused because,
although most had emigrated before the war, it was difficult to be precise about
what numbers had emigrated to where. In any case, large numbers, possibly ma-
jorities, of those who had remained were no longer resident in their former homes.

However, the absences were offset by the obvious fact that displaced persons’
camps in Germany were full of Jews (a figure of more than 250,000 has been
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given'®) and that many European Jews had emigrated to the U.S. or Palestine or
elsewhere since the beginning of the war. The facts available to the West Euro-
pean observer in late 1946 argued very strongly against the extermination claims,
which had received such wide publicity during the war and at the recent trial at
Nuremberg.

The passage of a quarter of a century has, despite superficial developments,
gradually strengthened this view of the extermination tale, although for many
years there was only one serious writer in the field, the late French geographer
Paul Rassinier. In 1948, he published a book, Passage de la Ligne, on his experi-
ences as a left wing political prisoner at Buchenwald, 1943-1945, “generally re-
ceived with sympathy, ?rovoking only muffled and inconclusive gnashings of
teeth on a certain side.”" Then in 1950, he published Le Mensonge d’Ulysse (The
Lie of Ulysses), a critical study of the concentration camp literature, in which he
challenged the certainty of the gas chambers: “It is yet too early to pronounce a
definitive judgment on the gas chambers.”'® This provoked a violent press cam-
paign, which led ultimately to legal actions, in which author, preface author, and
publisher were first acquitted, then found guilty with judgments involving fines,
damages, and suspended prison sentence, and finally acquitted again.

In 1955, the two books were combined as Le Mensonge d’Ulysse, 2™ edition,
in which material increasingly critical of the gas chamber claim had been added.
The most common (but not very common) edition today is the fifth (referenced
here), published in 1961, in which year Rassinier also published a short “comple-
mentary” volume, Ulysse Trahi par les Siens, consisting of three essays showing
that he had moved rather strongly in the direction of a negative judgment on the
gas chambers; the last essay is the text of a speech given in several German and
Austrian cities in the early spring of 1960 (just before the Eichmann affair). In
1962 followed Le Véritable Proces Eichmann (The Real Eichmann Trial), a study
of the entire range of alleged German crimes in their historical and political con-
texts; by this time, he had reached a definitive conclusion on the tale of extermi-
nation of the Jews: “a historic lie: the most tragic and the most macabre imposture
of all time.”"”

Rassinier employed two basic approaches to reach this conclusion: the mate-
rial and the demographic.

By the material approach we mean the analysis of the evidence that mass exe-
cutions of Jews by gassings or other specific means were in fact conducted by the
Germans during World War II. The material approach is nearly synonymous with
analysis of the war crimes trials evidence, or of the trials evidence as interpreted
by Hilberg and by Reitlinger, and as supplemented by them with similar evidence.
Rassinier only tentatively explored the demographic approach in Le Véritable
Proces Eichmann, but in his final general work on the Jewish extermination prob-
lem, Le Drame des Juifs Européens (The Drama of the European Jews), 1964, he

" Grayzel, 792.

'3 Rassinier (1961), 9.
' Ibid., 175.

17" Rassinier (1962), 112.
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presented a lengthy analysis of the question from a demographic point of view. In
1965, he published L’Opération “Vicaire,” a critique of Rolf Hochhuth’s play
The Deputy. One must comment that it is necessary to check up on Rassinier in
his interpretation of sources; some do not check out, and, in addition, he employs
some clearly unreliable sources at a few points. There are also some glaring but
relatively irrelevant errors of fact, such as characterizing Hanson Baldwin as the
New York Times® “expert in matters of Jewish population” (it is doubtful that the
Times ever had a staff member who could be characterized thus) and in asserting
that the majority of American Jews are anti-Zionist and support the outlook of the
anti-Zionist American Council for Judaism (which was never a politically signifi-
cant organization). However, Rassinier was a courageous pioneer in an ignored
area and, despite the various shortcomings of his work, no fair minded person
could read it without becoming at least skeptical about the “exterminations.”
Rassinier passed away in July 1967. His books had appeared in German, Spanish,
and Italian translations, but no English translation was published for some years.'®

Rassinier’s books were followed by three books, which Josef Ginsburg pub-
lished under the pseudonym J. G. Burg: Schuld und Schicksal (Guilt and Fate),
1962, Siindenbocke (Scapegoats), 1967, and NS-Verbrechen (National Socialist
Crimes), 1968. Ginsburg’s books are not particularly well researched, since his
views are based mainly on what he had read in the newspapers plus his personal
experiences as a Jew who, together with his family, was deported during the war
to occupied eastern territory by the Nazis and the Romanians. After the war,
Ginsburg took his family to Israel, but he eventually became very anti-Zionist and
moved back to Europe, eventually setting up a bookbindery in Munich. While he
believes that many Jews perished as a result of the combined effects of Nazi poli-
cies and wartime conditions, he denies that the German government ever contem-
plated the extermination of the Jews of Europe, and he is particularly scornful of
the six million figure. He is unsure of the existence of gas chambers, but he be-
lieves that many Jews perished on account of epidemics, pogroms, air raids, and
executions of partisans and offers an estimate of about three million as the maxi-
mum possible number of victims, although he believes the correct figure is much
lower. As a reward for his efforts to get at the truth, Ginsburg, a small man and
not young, was beaten up by Jewish thugs while visiting his wife’s grave in the Is-
raelite cemetery in Munich.

In 1969, a short book was published in the United States, The Myth of the Six
Million, attributed to an anonymous author. While some things can be said in fa-
vor of this book, e.g. I learned of Rassinier there, it also contains so many errors
of fact that it illustrates that it is not enough that a book’s thesis be correct, for
quite a few people who used it as a basis for prosecuting public controversy got
burned as a result.

The next development was the publication in Germany of a book by Emil
Aretz, Hexen-Einmal-Eins einer Liige (The Witches’ Multiplication Table of a
Lie), of which only the third edition, Munich, 1973, seems to have attained sig-

'8 Editor’s note: A collection of the most important texts by Rassinier was published in 1978: Paul

Rassinier, Debunking the Genocide Myth.
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nificant circulation. Aretz carries the case against the exterminations only slightly
beyond Rassinier. He depends heavily on Rassinier in this respect, although he
provides some new material. A major function of his book is the presentation of a
remarkably bold and forthright general defense of the German nation.

The unreasonable continuation of war crimes trials in West Germany and the
absence of any statute of limitations with respect to alleged war crimes by Ger-
mans have had a seldomly remarked implication: people who “were there” have
been afraid to come forward and report what, to their knowledge, actually hap-
pened. They would rather not call attention to the fact that they “were there.”
However, it was inevitable that a few courageous individuals would come forward
nevertheless. The most important of these, to date, has been Thies Christophersen,
author of the booklet Die Auschwitz Liige (The Auschwitz Lie). Christophersen
was at Auschwitz from January to December 1944. In 1973, he published his rec-
ollections and his firm view that no exterminations ever took place there. An Eng-
lish translation of Christophersen’s booklet, to which some colorful announce-
ments had been added, was published in 1974. Christophersen was followed by
Dr. Wilhelm Stéglich, a retired Hamburg judge, who had been assigned to an anti-
aircraft unit near Auschwitz during 1944 and had visited the camp on a few occa-
sions. For such honest reporting of his recollections, Stiglich was punished with a
five year, twenty percent reduction of his pension."

In late 1973, Austin J. App, a retired English professor in Maryland, published
a short booklet, The Six Million Swindle. Early in 1974, Wolf Dieter Rothe pub-
lished the first volume of his study, Die Endldsung der Judenfrage, and later in
1974, Richard Harwood published in England his book, Did Six Million Really
Die? Harwood’s booklet is quite good in convincing power, although it has some
weak points, and the reader is referred to Rassinier for a definitive treatment of
the subject. It was favorably reviewed by Colin Wilson in the November 1974 is-
sue of the influential British monthly Books and Bookmen, setting off a months-
long controversy in the pages of that journal.

In early 1975, Harry Elmer Barnes’ translation of one of Rassinier’s books,
The Drama of the European Jews, was issued by a small publisher in the United
States.

How Many Jews?

In this introductory chapter, we quickly review the principal problems that
arise when demographic questions are asked. We then indicate, how demographic
problems are resolved in this book, but indicate that the specific task of resolution
must be deferred until later in the book.

The problems inherent in a demographic study are formidable. First, all
sources of post-war primary data are private Jewish or Communist sources (exclu-

" Nation Europa, vol. 23 (Oct. 1973), 50; vol. 25 (Aug. 1975), 39. The Ginsburg beating incident is
well known and is mentioned by App, 20.
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sively the latter in the all important cases of Russia and Poland). Second, it ap-
pears that one can get whatever results desired by consulting the appropriately se-
lected pre-war and post-war sources. Consider world Jewish population. The 1939
study of Arthur Ruppin, Professor of Jewish Sociology at the Hebrew University
of Jerusalem, gave 16,717,000 Jews in the world in 1938.%° Because Ruppin (who
passed away in 1943) was considered the foremost expert on such matters, on ac-
count of many writings on the subject over a period of many years, the estimates
of other pre-war sources tend to agree with him. Thus, the American Jewish
Committee estimate for 1933, which appears in the 1940 World Almanac, was
15,315,359. The World Almanac figure for 1945 is 15,192,089 (page 367); no
source is given, but the figure is apparently based on some sort of religious cen-
sus. The 1946 World Almanac revised this to 15,753,638, a figure which was re-
tained in the editions of 1947 (page 748), 1948 (page 572), and 1949 (page 289).
The 1948 World Almanac (page 249) also gives the American Jewish Committee
estimate for 1938 (sic), 15,688,259 while the 1949 World Almanac (page 204) re-
ports new figures from the American Jewish Committee, which were developed in
1947-1948: 16,643,120 in 1939 and 11,266,600 in 1947.

However, New York Times military expert Hanson Baldwin, in an article writ-
ten in 1948 dealing with the then forthcoming Arab-Jewish war on the basis of in-
formation available at the UN and other places, gave a figure of 15 to 18 million
world Jewish population as well as figures for such things as Jews in Palestine,
Jews in the Middle East, Arabs in Palestine, total Arabs, total Moslems, ete.”!

Such a sketch illustrates some of the simpler uncertainties that exist in a de-
mography study. To carry the matter further, the 11-12 million postwar world
Jewish population figure, which it is necessary to claim in order to maintain the
extermination thesis, is very vulnerable on two points. The first is the set of statis-
tics offered for the U.S., and the second is the set offered for Eastern Europe.
Both, especially the latter, are subject to insuperable uncertainties. Let us first
consider the United States. Census figures for the total U.S. population are:*

Table 1: U.S. total population

YEAR POPULATION
1920 105,710,620
1930 122,775,046
1940 131,669,275
1950 150,697,361
1960 179,300,000

while U.S. Jewish population figures, as given by the Jewish Statistical Bureau
(subsidiary of either the American Jewish Conference or the Synagogue of Amer-
ica), H. S. Linfield, Director, are:>

2 Ruppin, 30-33.

2L New York Times (Feb. 22, 1948), 4.

2 World Almanac (1931), 192; (1942), 588; (1952), 394; (1962), 251.
B World Almanac (1931), 197; (1942), 593; (1952), 437; (1962), 258.
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Table 2: U.S. Jewish population

YEAR JEWISH POPULATION
1917 3,388,951
1927 4,228,029
1937 4,770,647
1949 5,000,000
1961 5,530,000

It is important to note that all of the U.S. Jewish population figures are given
by the same source (Linfield).

The indicated growth of U.S. Jewish population, 1917-1937, is 40.8%, while
the growth of total U.S. population, 1920-1940, is 24.6%. This contrast is gener-
ally reasonable, since in the period under consideration Jewish immigration was
fairly heavy. However, Jewish immigration into the U.S. raises some problems of
its own. The American Jewish yearbook gave a net Jewish immigration for the
years 1938-1943 and 1946-1949 (inclusive) of 232,191.>* Figures for 1944 and
1945 do not seem to be available. It was in those two years, incidentally, that an
indeterminate number of Jews were admitted to the U.S. “outside of the regular
immigration procedure.” It was claimed that there were only 1,000 such Jews
quartered at a camp near Oswego, New York, and that they were not eligible for
admission to the U.S. This was supposed to be a U.S. contribution to relieving the
problems of refugees, but the whole episode seems most strange and suspicious.25

Rather than attempt to settle the problem of the extent of Jewish immigration,
suppose one allows the Jewish population a growth rate in 1937-1957 at least
equal to that of the U.S. Jewish population of 1917-1937, as seems at least rea-
sonable in view of various facts, e.g., the reasons which sent 1.5 million Jews to
Palestine during the World War II and aftermath period appear to motivate immi-
gration to the U.S. just as well, and no national or racial immigration quotas were
applicable to Jews as such. In such a case, there should be at least 6,678,000 Jews
in the U.S. in 1957, not the 5,300,000 that arc indicated. There are about
1,400,000 Jews missing from the interpolated figures for 1957, and we consider
this a conservative figure for the reason given. The period 1937-1957 was one of
Jewish movement on an unprecedented scale.

On the other hand, we can adopt an equally conservative approach and assume
that the 4,770,647 Jews of 1937 grew in 1937-1957 at the same rate as the U.S.
population in 1940-1960. Under this assumption, these should have become
6,500,000 Jews in the U.S. in 1957. If one adds the reasonable figure of 300,000
more due to immigration, we have 6,800,000 in 1957. Thus, by either method of
extrapolation the figures offered for post-war U.S. Jewish population are at least
approximately 1.5 million short for 1957.

The specific major fault of the U.S. Jewish population figures is the inexplica-
bly small claimed growth from 1937 to 1949 despite record Jewish movement and

' World Almanac (1952), 438.
3 US-WRB (1945), 64-69; New York Times (June 10, 1944), 1; (June 13, 1944), 1; (Aug. 10, 1944),
5; (Oct. 24, 1944), 14; (Oct. 25, 1944), 13; Myer, 108-123.
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a very open U.S. immigration policy.

Eastern Europe, however, presents the core of the demographic problem. In
order to avoid very serious confusion, one must first recognize that there have
been extensive border changes in Eastern Europe in the course of the twentieth
century. A map of Europe on the eve of World War I (1914) is given as Fig. 1. A
map for January 1938 showing, essentially, Europe organized according to the
Treaty of Versailles, before Hitler began territorial acquisitions, is given in Fig. 2,
and Fig. 4 shows the post-war map of Europe. The principal border change at the
end of World War Il was the moving westward of the Soviet border, annexing the
three Baltic countries (Lithuania, Latvia, and Estonia) and parts of Romania,
Czechoslovakia, Poland, and East Prussia. Poland was compensated with the re-
mainder of East Prussia and what used to be considered eastern Germany; the ef-
fect was to move Poland bodily westward.

Pre-war (1938) Jewish population estimates for Eastern Europe were offered
by H. S. Linfield and the American Jewish Committee in the 1948 (sic) World
Almanac (page 249). Post-war (1948) figures are published in the 1949 World
Almanac (page 204).

Table 3: Eastern European Jewish population (est.)

COUNTRY 1938 1948

Bulgaria 48,398 46,500
Hungary 444,567 180,000
Poland 3,113,900 105,000
Romania 900,000 430,000
USSR 3,273,047 2,032,500
TOTALS 7,779,912 2,794,000

The claimed Jewish loss for Eastern Europe is thus 4,985,912. The figure for
the USSR includes, in both cases, the three Baltic countries and the Jews of Soviet
Asia. The pre-war figures are in all cases in close agreement with the figures that
Ruppin published shortly before the war. To the extent that the extermination leg-
end is based on population statistics, it is based precisely on these statistics or
their equivalents.

The trouble is that such figures are absolutely meaningless. There is no way a
Western observer can check the plausibility, let alone the accuracy, of such fig-
ures. He must either be willing to accept Jewish or Communist (mainly the latter)
claims on Jewish population for Eastern Europe, or he must reject any number of-
fered as lacking satisfactory authority.

It is possible to reinforce our objection on this all important point and simulta-
neously deal with a reservation that the reader may have; it would appear exces-
sively brazen to claim the virtual disappearance of Polish Jewry, if such had not
been essentially or approximately the case or if something like that had not hap-
pened. This seems a valid reservation, but one must recall that much of the terri-
tory that was considered Polish in 1939 was Soviet by 1945. It was possible for
Polish Jewry to virtually disappear, if, during the 1939-1941 Russian occupation
of Eastern Poland, the Soviets had dispersed large numbers of Polish Jews into the
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Soviet Union and if, during 1941-1944, the Germans had concentrated Polish
Jews eastwards, with the Soviet Union ultimately absorbing many of these Jews
into its territory, with those who did not wish to remain in the Soviet Union emi-
grating, mainly to Palestine and the U.S., but also to some extent to the new Po-
land and other lands. This, in fact, is what happened to the Jews who had resided
in Poland before the war.

Whatever may be said about Soviet Jewish policy after, say, 1950, it is clear
that the earlier policies had not been anti-Jewish and had encouraged the absorp-
tion of Jews into the Soviet Union. It is known that many Polish Jews were ab-
sorbed during and immediately after the war, but of course numbers are difficult
to arrive at. Reitlinger considers this problem and settles on a figure of 700,000,
without giving reasons why the correct figure might not be much higher. He then
notes that the evidence that he employs of extermination of Jews in Russia
(documents alleged to be German) indicates about the same number of Soviet
Jews exterminated, from which he correctly infers that, in the period 1939-1946,
the Soviet Jewish population may have actually increased.® This important con-
cession, coming from the author of The Final Solution, shows that our unwilling-
ness to accept the Communist figures need not be regarded as motivated merely
by the necessities of our thesis. The figures are inarguably untrustworthy. It is
claimed by the Soviets that their Jewish population declined by 38%, despite the
acquisition of territory containing many Jews. Since the USSR is one of the lands
where “Jew” is a legally recognized nationality, the Soviets do indeed possess ac-
curate figures on the number of Jews they have but have chosen (in Reitlinger’s
opinion, if you choose not to accept this author’s) to claim an utterly mythical
Jewish population loss of 38%.

Likewise with the value to be attached to the remainder of the figures offered.

The most relevant research by a demographer appears to be that of Leszek A.
Kosinski of the University of Alberta (Geographical Review, Vol. 59, 1969, pp.
308-402 and Canadian Slavonic Papers, Vol. 11, 1969, pp. 357-373), who has
studied the changes in the entire ethnic structure of East Central Europe (i.e. ex-
cluding Germany and Russia) over the period 1930-1960. He explains the extreme
difficulties with basic statistics:

“The criteria used in compilation differ from country to country and are
not always precise. In principle, two types are used. objective criteria, such as
language, cultural affiliation, and religious denomination, and subjective cri-
teria, based on the declaration of the persons themselves. Each type has vir-
tues and deficiencies. Objective criteria define nationality only indirectly and
are difficult to apply in marginal cases (for example, bilingual persons).

The same criticism applies even more to subjective criteria. External pres-
sure and opportunism can influence the results, especially where national con-
sciousness is not fully developed or where an honest answer can bring unde-
sirable consequences. Official data are not always reliable, then, even when
they are not forged, as has also occurred. However, criticism of the official

% Reitlinger, 534, 542-544.
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data cannot be applied in the same degree to all the countries, and reliability

is very much a function of national policy.”

Jews are of course one of the groups Kosinski is interested in, and he presents
various figures, generally comparable to those given above, for numbers of pre-
war Jews. However, his post-war data are so useless from this point of view that
he does not even attempt to offer specific post-war numbers for Jews, although he
offers post-war figures for other groups, e.g. gypsies, giving numbers less signifi-
cant, statistically, than the numbers of Jews who, according to the extermination
mythologists, survived in Eastern Europe. It is true that he accepts the extermina-
tion legend in a general way and presents a bar graph showing a catastrophic de-
crease in the Jewish populations of Poland, Hungary, Romania and Czechoslova-
kia. He also remarks that the combined war-caused population losses for Yugo-
slavs, Jews, Poles and east Germans was about 12.5-14 million, not breaking the
total down, and referring the reader to the statistical summary Population
Changes in Europe Since 1939 by Gregory (Grzegorz) Frumkin, whose figures
for Jews come from the American Jewish Congress, the Zionist Organization of
America, and the Centre de Documentation juive contemporaine (Center for Con-
temporary Jewish Documentation) in Paris.

However, the point is that Kosinski arrives at no figures for Jews, as he obvi-
ously should not, given the problems he has noted. The ethnic population figures
from Communist Hungary are based on language, and the figures from Commu-
nist Poland, Communist Czechoslovakia, and Communist Romania are based on
“nationality,” whatever that means in the various cases. Naturally, he apologizes
for his use of “official statistics, imperfect as these may be.” We will return to
demographic problems, especially those which involve the Polish Jews, in Chap-
ter 7.

We must also remember that the problem of counting Jews in Western coun-
tries contains enormous difficulties on account of the lack of any legal, racial, or
religious basis for defining a “Jew.” As an example, the statistics available to
Reitlinger indicate to him that early in World War II there were 300,000 Jews in
France, including refugee German Jews.”’

The Nazis, on the other hand, thought that there were 865,000, and I see no
motivation for deliberate inflation of this figure; other figures used by the Nazis
were not wildly inflated compared to the figures of other sources.” I should add
that I really have no idea how many Jews there are in the U.S. I can consult the
World Almanac, which will tell me that there are about 6,000,000, but I cannot
see how that figure was arrived at and have little confidence in it. As far as |
know, the correct figure could as easily be 9,000,000. There must be at least
4,000,000 in the New York area alone.

To summarize what has been said with respect to Jewish population statistics:
the problem of compiling such statistics is formidable even without political inter-
ference or pressure. Moreover, in the demographic argument for a five or six mil-
lion drop in world Jewish population, the sources and authorities for the figures

27 Reitlinger, 327.

2 NG-2586-G in NMT, vol. 13, 212.
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used are Communist and Jewish and thus, by the nature of the problem we are ex-
amining, must be considered essentially useless. In addition, the post-war figures
for the United States are demonstrably too low by a significant amount.

One should not form the impression that it is essential to my argument that any
demographic conclusions seemed to be reached above be accepted by the reader.
It has only been shown what sorts of problems arise if one attempts a too direct
demographic approach; it is not possible to settle anything in such a manner. In
the final analysis, the difficulty is that the figures available amount to nothing
more than statements, from Jewish and Communist sources, that millions of Jews
were killed. Such claims are to be expected, but they must certainly not deter us
from looking deeper. We will take up the demographic problem later in the book,
however, because the nature of the situation is such that reasonably useful demo-
graphic conclusions are possible once it is understood what, in general, happened
to the Jews.

Rassinier’s demographic study, in fact, does not really even attempt to settle
the problem, strictly speaking. His basic approach is to analyze the inferences that
have been drawn from two different sets of data, that of the Centre de Documen-
tation juive contemporaine and that of Hilberg, both of whom infer from their
data five to six million Jewish victims of the Nazis. Rassinier’s conclusion is that
the former can only claim 1,485,292 victims form its data and the latter 896,892.29
Rassinier accepts the reality of about a million Jewish victims of Nazi policies,
while rejecting the claims of extermination. For example, it is known that some
East European peoples took advantage of general political-military conditions to
persecute Jews. Also, many Jews who were deported from their homes no doubt
perished as a result of generally chaotic conditions, which accompanied the latter
part of the war.

Believing that the task is not possible, I will offer here no definite estimate of
Jewisg losses. However, I have no strong reason to quarrel with Rassinier’s esti-
mate.

Our Method, Argument, and Conclusion

As stated, the “material” approach will be extended here and, in addition, a
“historical-political” approach will be “introduced.” This is just a fancy way of
saying that we will grasp that there are two political powers involved in the prob-
lem, not just one. That is to say, we have a tale of extermination, and we should
inquire into the circumstance of its generation. Clearly, there are two states in-
volved in the problem. Germany had an anti-Jewish policy involving, in many
cases, deportations of Jews from their homes and countries of citizenship. That is

¥ Rassinier (1964), 220.

3 Editor’s note: compare in this regard Walter N. Sanning, The Dissolution of the Eastern Euro-
pean Jewry, and Germar Rudolf, “Holocaust victims: A Statistical Analysis”, in Rudolf (ed.),
Dissecting the Holocaust, pp. 181-213.
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certain. The wartime policy of Washington was to claim extermination, and the
post-war policy was to hold trials, at which there was generated the only evidence
that we have today that these wartime claims had any foundation. That is also cer-
tain. The policies of both states are necessarily of interest, and if there is any re-
spect, in which this book may be breaking fundamentally new ground on the
problem, it is in its insistence in seeing Washington as an active agent in the gen-
eration of the story. Thus, we are interested not only in what Hitler, Himmler,
Goring, Goebbels, and Heydrich were doing during the war in regard to these
matters, but also what Roosevelt, Hull, Morgenthau, and the New York Times and
associated media were doing during the war, and what the various tribunals con-
trolled or dominated by Washington did after the war. This is not only a fair but,
more importantly, an illuminating historical approach.

The conclusion is that Washington constructed a frame-up on the Jewish ex-
termination charge. Once this is recognized, the true nature of German Jewish
policy will be seen.

The War Crimes Trials

Before we review the details of the story, it should be pointed out that there are
excellent a priori grounds for expecting a frame-up. There is of course the very
general argument that political enmity of a magnitude to bring on armed conflict
between two states necessarily excludes the impartiality on the part of one of
them, which is a necessity for a fair trial and for which there exists no substitute.
The judges had pursued political careers in the contexts of the internal politics of
the Allied powers hostile to Germany and after the trials would, assuming they
had not done anything highly improbable at the war crimes trials, return to these
careers. They had, in addition, for several years heard only the anti-German view-
point. In sitting on the military tribunals, they were ad hoc political appointees.
Such considerations exclude approximate impartiality.

There are, however, much more specific reasons for expecting a frame-up. In
order to see this, it is only necessary to consider the easily obtainable facts con-
cerning the various tribunals involved.

First, there was the “big trial” conducted by the “International Military Tribu-
nal” (IMT) at Nuremberg immediately after the war. This was the trial of the top
Nazis Goring, Hess, Ribbentrop, et al., which ran from November 1945 to Octo-
ber 1946. The judges and prosecutors were American, British, French, and Rus-
sian. As with all “military” tribunals, there was no jury. There were three acquit-
tals, seven prison sentences, and eleven death sentences. The latter were carried
out almost immediately after the trial, except that Goring escaped the noose by
swallowing a potassium cyanide capsule just before the hangings. It was never de-
termined where Goring had obtained the poison or how he had managed to hide it
for any length of time. A unique sequel to this episode was that the first Nurem-
berg prison psychiatrist, Dr. Douglas M. Kelley, a leader in the treatment of psy-

34



Chapter 1: Trials, Jews and Nazis

Table 4: NMT Trials

CASENoO. |U.S.vs. DESCRIPTION NMT VOLS.

1 Brandt Medical Case 1,2

2 Milch Milch Case 2

3 Alstotter Justice Case 3

4 Pohl Concentration Camps Case 5,6
5 Flick Business Men Case 6

6 Krauch I. G. Farben Case 7,8
7 List Hostages Case 9

8 Greifelt RuSHA Case 4,5
9 Ohlendorf Einsatzgruppen Case 4
10 Krupp Krupp Case 9
11 Weizsiacker | Wilhelmstrasse, or Ministries, Case 12, 14
12 von Leeb High Command Case 10, 11

chiatric disorders with drugs, shortly later published a book on his exgeriences at
Nuremberg, giving Goring and Goring’s last act a laudatory treatment:”'
“He stoically endured his long imprisonment that he might force down the

Allied Tribunal and browbeat the prosecuting lawyers on their own terms. [ ...]

His suicide [...] was a skillful, even brilliant, finishing touch, completing the

edifice for Germans to admire in time to come. [...] History may well show

that Goring won out at the end, even though condemned by the high court of
the Allied powers.”
A decade later, Dr. Kelley followed Goring by taking one of several potassium
cyanide capsules which he possessed, said to be ‘souvenirs’ taken off Goring’s
body.

The IMT trial was the only one that received very great attention. It was im-
portant in the sense that the Allied powers committed themselves to a specific
version of the extermination claim, but there was little evidence presented of any
substantial nature relative to Jewish extermination; it was almost entirely testi-
mony and affidavits, not at all difficult for the victorious powers to produce under
the circumstance. The only relative merit of the IMT trial, for our purposes, is that
the complete transcript and a reasonably complete selection of the documents put
into evidence are readily available in numerous libraries as a 42 volume set with a
very complete subject and name index (see References).

From 1946 to 1949 a series of twelve superficially less important trials were
held by the Americans before what is here called the Nuremberg Military Tribu-
nal (NMT). They are referred to variously according to the “case number,” the
major defendant, or a more descriptive title, see Table 4.

Several death sentences resulted from these trials, but the great majority re-
ceived prison sentences, in many cases rather lengthy ones. However, almost all
were free by the early Fifties.

The only cases among these that will concern us here in any way are Case 1, a
trial of medical personnel involved in euthanasia and medical experiments, Case

31 Kelley, 76-77; New York Times (Jan. 2, 1958), 18; Robertson, 266.
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4, a trial of concentration camp administration, Cases 6 and 10, self explanatory,
Case 8, dealing with German resettlement policies, Case 9 (the Einsatzgruppen
were used for rear security in the east) and Case 11, a trial of officials of various
ministries. The U.S. Government published a fifteen volume set of books, referred
to here as the “NMT set,” in which may be found “summaries” of the cases, along
with very limited “selections” of the documents put into evidence. The volume
numbers corresponding to the various cases are listed in the above table.

On this point, the student encounters a significant difficulty because, as can be
seen by consulting Hilberg and Reitlinger, almost all the evidence for the exter-
mination claim was developed at the NMT, not the IMT. That is to say the impor-
tant documents, those which, for better or for worse, constitute major source ma-
terial for writing any history of Nazi Germany, are those of the NG, NI and NO
series, and these documents were put into evidence at the NMT trials. Documen-
tary evidence is, especially in view of the irregular legal and political circum-
stances which prevailed, immeasurably more weighty than testimony, as has been
suggested. The relevant documentary evidence generated at the NMT consists of
certain kinds of material allegedly supporting the extermination charges: docu-
ments dealing with concentration camp administration, with crematory construc-
tion, with deportations, with certain Farben and Krupp operations which em-
ployed prisoner labor, with general Jewish policies of the German Government,
etc. There is of course no direct documentary evidence for an extermination pro-
gram. As Dr. Kubovy of the Center for Jewish Documentation in Tel-Aviv admit-
ted in 1960:*

“there exists no document signed by Hitler, Himmler, or Heydrich speak-
ing of exterminating the Jews and [...] the word ‘extermination’ does not ap-
pear in the letter from Goring to Heydrich concerning the final solution of the
Jewish question.”

The difficulty for the normally circumstanced person is that only small frac-
tions of the NMT testimonies and documents are widely accessible in English
translations (in the fifteen volume NMT set). Additionally, these translations can-
not always be trusted, as will be seen. Also, the extracts which are published have
been selected by unknown criteria.

Finally, the fifteen volume NMT set is likely to be found only in cities of
moderately large size.

The situation is better if one lives in a very large city, since reasonably com-
plete collections of documents together with the mimeographed trial transcripts
(almost always in German) exist in certain library centers. However, the normally
circumstanced person may encounter trouble in arranging to examine specific
pieces, which he may call for, and in some cases general browsing even by uni-
versity faculty is not welcome. In addition, no subject or name indexes exist for
the NMT trials (indexes of testimonies of witnesses, with many errors, appear in
the NMT volumes).

The IMT and NMT trials are almost the only ones of significance here. Of

32 Rassinier (1962), 83. See also Dawidowicz, 121.
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general significance are a series held by the British; of these, only the Belsen case
and the Zyklon B case interests us to any extent. The Poles, Russians, French,
Dutch, and Italians have all held trials of no significance except to the victims.
The Bonn Government has held some trials of slight interest, for example the
“Auschwitz trial” of 1963-1965, reported on by Langbein, by Laternser, and by
Naumann.

The manner, in which the IMT and the NMT were constituted, can be set forth
with sufficient completeness for our purposes. Since the autumn of 1943, there
had been in existence a United Nations War Crimes Commission, headquartered
in London. However, the Commission never really did anything except realize, at
one point, that if anything was to be done, it would be done by the individual Al-
lied governments.

The first serious moves started in the United States. In August 1944, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff considered a proposed program for dealing with war crimes. The
proposal had been approved by the Judge Advocate General of the U.S. Army. On
October 1, 1944, the Joint Chiefs approved this proposal and, at about the same
time and in accordance with directives of the Secretary of War, a “War Crimes
Branch” was established in the Department of the Judge Advocate General. The
War Crimes Branch, headed by Brigadier General John M. Weir with Colonel
Melvin Purvis as his assistant, was responsible for handling all war crimes matters
for the State, War, and Navy Departments.

The proposal that had been approved by the Joint Chiefs did not survive for
very long, for its character had been rather traditional, in that it contemplated, ba-
sically, the trial of persons who had broken the accepted laws of war in the field.
Thus, offenses committed before the war or acts by enemy authorities against
their own nationals were not considered to be under Allied jurisdiction. Thus, for
example, all measures against German Jews were considered outside the jurisdic-
tion of the planned war crimes trials. The concept of war crimes was, at this point,
strongly under the influence of the principle, never questioned, that a belligerent
may try enemy soldiers for the same sorts of offenses for which he may try his
own soldiers.

The Secretary of War, Stimson, had a conference with President Roosevelt on
November 21, 1944, at which Roosevelt made it clear that he had in mind a much
broader idea of war crimes and that the proposals approved by the Joint Chiefs
were completely unsatisfactory.

Accordingly, in January 1945, Roosevelt designated Judge Samuel Rosenman
as his personal representative in discussions on war crimes problems. A meeting
of January 18, among Stimson, Rosenman, Attorney General Francis Biddle, and
others resulted in %eneral agreement on very much expanded conceptions of war
crimes to be tried.”

Biddle was later to sit as a judge at the IMT, although, for Roosevelt’s use at
the Yalta conference, he had written in January 1945 that “the chief German lead-
ers are well known and the proof of their guilt will not offer great difficulties.”

3 Taylor (Aug. 15, 1949), 1-3; New York Times (Feb. 1, 1945), 4.
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The Russian IMT “Justice” Nikitchenko was slightly more direct in declaring be-
fore the trial that “we are dealing here with the chief war criminals who have al-
ready been convicted.”*

In early May 1945, President Truman approved the revised proposals and ap-
pointed Robert H. Jackson, an Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, to act as
Chief of Counsel for the U.S. in the forthcoming trial and also to represent the
U.S. in negotiations with foreign governments relative to constituting the trial. On
June 6, 1945, Jackson made an interim report to the President, and later in June,
Jackson and his staff set up headquarters in London, where much of the prelimi-
nary work for the IMT was done.

A key member of Jackson’s London staff was Colonel Murray C. Bernays,
who was one of the first people who had been involved in war crimes problems.
Graduated from Harvard in 1915, he established a law practice in New York. He
was given a commission in the Army in 1942, and in October 1943, he was made
chief of the Special Projects Branch, Personnel Division, Army General Staff. His
major project in this position was the preparation of plans for trials of German
“war criminals.” After each stage of negotiations with the White House and oth-
ers, he made the appropriate revisions in the plans being considered, although he
was the author of the plan that was eventually settled on, if one is to credit his ac-
count. In any case, shortly after the appointment of Jackson, Bernays was awarded
the Legion of Merit, the citation reading in part:

“Early recognizing the need for a sound basis in dealing with the problem

of war criminals and war crimes, he formulated the basic concept of such a

policy and initiated timely and appropriate action which assured its adoption

as the foundation of national policy.”

Bernays returned to the U.S. in November 1945 and immediately resigned
from the Army. Because, as we have seen, there was considerable dialogue at
higher levels relating to plans for war crimes trials, it is doubtful that one can take
Bernays’s claims at full value, but he no doubt had a great deal to do with the
drafting of the plans for the trials. Moreover, he had certainly been an appropriate
choice for something as novel as the formulation of the “legal” structure for the
war crimes trials, since his views of justice were equally novel. After his return to
the U.S., he had a chat with some editors (who characterized him as “the man be-
hind the gavel”), and in answer to their queries as to “how the small fry are going
to be hooked,” he replied:*

“There are a good many Nazi criminals who will get off if the roundups

aren’t conducted efficiently. But if we establish that the SS, for example, was a

criminal organization, and that membership in it is evidence per se of crimi-

nality, the Allies are going to get hold of a great many more criminals in one
swoop. You know, a lot of people here at home don’t realize that we are now
the government of Germany in our zone and that no judicial system can exist
other than one we approve. We are the law. If we wanted to, for instance, we

* Davidson, 6, 18, 21n.
35 New York Times (June 21, 1945), 6; (Dec. 16, 1945), sec. 4, 8; New Yorker (Nov. 17, 1945), 24;
Survey Graphic (Jan. 1946), 4-9; Reader s Digest (Feb. 1946), 56-64.
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could try Germans for crimes twenty, thirty, forty years old.

We’ll be too busy with the current crop of war criminals, though, to have
much time to look into ancient wrongdoings.”

In London, Jackson negotiated with the Allies on the trials, and his interim re-
port of June 6 became the basis for the “London Agreement” of August 8, signed
by the U.S., Britain, Russia, and France. An “indictment” was filed against twenty
four individuals and six organizations (the SS, the General Staff, etc.) on October
18, and the trial opened at Nuremberg on November 20, 1945. Three of the listed
defendants did not stand trial. Martin Bormann was never found, Robert Ley
committed suicide before the trial, and Gustav Krupp was too ill and too old to
stand trial. An attempt was made by the prosecution to substitute Krupp’s son as
defendant, but this was too much even for that court, so the trial of Alfred Krupp
had to wait until the NMT.

In passing we should note that Justice Jackson, in addition to being the Ameri-
can chief prosecutor at the trial, was also in a formal sense the leading personality
in the London negotiations relative to the formulation of the legal system, under
which he was to operate at the trial. A rare opportunity for a prosecutor, and
probably an utterly unprecedented one in respect to proceedings that civilized
people have seriously considered to be trials.

Equally unique features of the final charter of the IMT were that its jurisdic-
tion was not restricted to acts taken in connection with the war but extended over
the entire life of the Nazi Party, that the defense of superior orders was inapplica-
ble, and that defendants could be compelled by the prosecution to testify.

The War Crimes Branch that had been set up in 1944 did not cease to operate,
because in connection with the IMT trial Jackson had “enlisted the cooperation
and participation of the War Crimes Branch of the Judge Advocate General’s De-
partment.” Moreover, in the early months of the IMT trial (and perhaps also later),
the ordinary prosecution staff, exclusive of Jackson, was “on the payroll of the
Judge Advocate General ™

A significant role for the Judge Advocate General’s department (JAG) was
most natural under the circumstances because the JAG was the legal agency of the
Army, and the basic American administrative machinery in Germany immediately
after the war was that of the U.S. Army. The traditional role of the JAG had been
the administration of military justice: courts-martial and related matters. However,
during World War II the operations of the JAG had spread to all phases of mili-
tary activity where legal matters arose; it even got involved in litigations relative
to war production contracts. The Judge Advocate General, Major General Myron
C. Cramer, had given a speech in May 1945, in which he declared that the pursuit
and arraignment of Nazis was to tax to the utmost the capacity of the War Crimes
Branch and become a major activity of the JAG, whose resources he pledged to
Jackson. While it is not specified exactly what the War Crimes Branch did in con-
nection with the IMT, it is most likely that it effectively supervised the American
(hence major) role in the screening and selection of prosecution and defense law-

% Taylor (Apr. 1949), 248-255; Select Committee, 1536.
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yers and staff, in the selection of other staff such as translators, and in interroga-
tions. Of course, Jackson formally held much of this authority, but it is reasonably
sure that such responsibilities were, in fact, exercised by the War Crimes
Branch.’’

The involvement of the War Crimes Branch in trials was, however, much
deeper.

While the IMT and NMT trials were being conducted, several lesser trials
were taking place. Among these were the trials held at the Dachau camp (outside
Munich and thus not far from Nuremberg) of the staffs of some concentration
camps (Buchenwald, Flossenbiirg, Dachau) that had been captured by the Ameri-
cans and of those accused of killing 83 American prisoners at Malmédy during the
Battle of the Bulge. These trials were supervised by the War Crimes Branch.*®
They were perhaps the most shameful episodes in U.S. history.

The entire repertoire of third degree methods was enacted at Dachau: beatings
and brutal kicking, to the point of ruining testicles in 137 cases, knocking out
teeth, starvation, solitary confinement, torture with burning splinters, and imper-
sonation of priests in order to encourage prisoners to “confess.” Low rank prison-
ers were assured that convictions were being sought only against higher ranking
officers and that they had absolutely nothing to lose by cooperating and making
the desired statements. Such “evidence” was then used against them when they
joined their superiors in the dock. The latter, on the other hand, had been told that
by “confessing” they had taken all responsibility onto themselves, thereby shield-
ing their men from trial. A favorite stratagem, when a prisoner refused to cooper-
ate, was to arrange a mock trial. The prisoner was led into a room in which civil-
ian investigators, dressed in U.S. Army uniforms, were seated around a black ta-
ble with a crucifix in the center, with two candles providing the only light. This
“court” then proceeded to hold a sham trial, at the conclusion of which a sham
death sentence was passed. The “condemned” prisoner was later promised that, if
he cooperated with the prosecutors in giving evidence, he would be reprieved.
Sometimes interrogators threatened to turn prisoners over to the Russians. In
many cases the prisoner’s family was threatened with loss of ration cards or other
hardships if cooperation was not obtained.

As distinct from the mock trials, the official trials were also an apparently de-
liberate mockery of any conception of due process. The mockery started with the
“indictment,” which made only general reference to very broad categories of
crimes allegedly committed in the years from 1942 to 1945 (in the cases of con-
centration camp personnel), and then proceeded to present a long list of defen-
dants accused of being criminal in the extremely general sense stated. Specific
crimes by specific people on specific dates were not part of the indictments (e.g.
document 3590-PS).

In some cases, the “defense counsel” was an American with no legal training
who could not speak German. Competent interpreters were not provided at the
trial. The “prosecution” also lacked legal training, as did the “court,” which con-

37" New York Times (Oct. 17, 1943), sec. 6, 10; (May 20, 1943), 15.
¥ Kolander; Taylor (Aug. 15, 1949), 4, 10, 13, 14.
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sisted of ten U.S. Army officers. There was one person with legal training present,
all of whose rulings on the admissibility of evidence were final. There were 1,416
convictions out of 1,672 tried, with 420 death sentences.

While the prosecution could hunt all over Europe for witnesses and, if neces-
sary, torture or otherwise coerce Germans in order to get “evidence,” the accused,
cut off from the outside world and without funds, were rarely able to summon
anybody to their defense.

In addition, the “Association of Persons Persecuted by the Nazis,” by a propa-
ganda campaign, forbade former concentration camp inmates to testify for the de-
fense.

The American lawyer George A. McDonough, who had had the rather peculiar
experience of having served as both a prosecutor and defense counsel in the war
crimes program and later on as a member of a reviewing board and an arbiter on
clemency petitions, wrote to the New York Times in 1948 complaining about the
lack of legal basis for the trials and remarking that “in nine problems out of ten
the authorities and the textbooks had no answer” to the legal questions that regu-
larly and consistently came up for anybody seriously concerned with matters of
legality. For McDonough, the major problem was whether or not a defense of su-
perior orders should be accepted in war crimes trials. He wrote:

“At the Dachau trials, the claim of the accused that he would have been
shot himself if he had not obeyed his superior’s order to commit an act which
he, in ignorance, may have believed to be a legal order, or knew to be illegal,
seemed to be handled by the courts as an issue of fact. The availability of this
defense seemed to depend upon the age and the rank of the accused, and the
state of battle existing at the time of the offense. Again it would seem high-
handed procedure to hold an enlisted man to the knowledge of the illegality of
a particular act when the international authorities themselves are in dis-
agreement as to its illegality or have never defined the act at all.

[...] Hearsay evidence was admitted indiscriminately and sworn statements
of the witnesses were admissible regardless of whether anybody knew the per-
son who made the statement or the individual who took the statement. If a
prosecutor considered a statement of a witness to be more damaging than the
witness’ oral testimony in court he would advise the witness to go back to his
home, submit the statement as evidence, and any objection by defense counsel
would be promptly overruled.”

One notable incident occurred when investigator Joseph Kirschbaum brought a
certain Einstein into court to testify that the accused Menzel had murdered Ein-
stein’s brother. When the accused was able to point out that the brother was alive
and well and, in fact, sitting in court, Kirschbaum was deeply embarrassed and
scolded poor Einstein:

“How can we bring this pig to the gallows, if you are so stupid to bring
your brother into court?”

The U.S. Army authorities in charge admitted some of these things. When the
chief of the Dachau War Crimes Branch, Colonel A. H. Rosenfeld, quit his post in
1948, he was asked by newspapermen if there was any truth to the stories about
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the mock trials, at which sham death sentences had been passed. He replied:*
“Yes, of course. We couldn’t have made those birds talk otherwise. [...] It
was a trick, and it worked like a charm.”

The Malmédy defendants had had a competent defense attorney, Licutenant
Colonel Willis M. Everett, Jr. It was Everett’s repeated appeals to, among others,
the U.S. Supreme Court, plus a chorus of protests from German clergymen and
others, plus such details regarding what was going on that managed to get into the
press by various routes, that persuaded the American military governor, General
Lucius D. Clay, to request an investigation of the trials at Dachau. On July 29,
1948, the Secretary of the Army appointed a commission consisting of two
American judges, Gordon Simpson of Texas and Edward Van Roden of Pennsyl-
vania, both JAG reserve colonels. They were assisted by JAG Lieutenant Colonel
Charles Lawrence, Jr. The commission submitted its report to the Secretary of the
Army in October 1948, and selected portions were made public in January 1949.

Subsequent public remarks by Van Roden and also, to some extent, by Simp-
son, plus an independent investigation by a review board appointed by Clay, deci-
sively exposed the whole affair to the point where the defenders of the trials could
only haggle about the numbers of German prisoners subjected to brutalities. The
review board confirmed all that Van Roden claimed, taking exception only in re-
spect to the frequencies of the brutalities.*” Oddly, in his book, Decision in Ger-
many, Clay denies the brutalities, but he is contradicted by his own review board.

The cases, especially the Malmédy case, attracted a good deal of attention
through 1949, and a subcommittee headed by Senator Baldwin conducted an in-
vestigation. One witness, formerly a court reporter at the Dachau trials, testified
that he was so repelled by what had gone on there that he quit the job. He said that
the “most brutal” had been Lieutenant Perl, Frank Steiner, and Harry W. Thon. He
explained that both Perl and his wife had been in Nazi concentration camps and
that the Nazis had killed Steiner’s mother.

Judge Gordon Simpson (unlike Van Roden, trying to put the best interpreta-
tion, even if very strained, on the sorry facts that had come out) conceded that this
was probably “a poor team,” and explained that the shortage of German-speaking
American lawyers and interpreters had forced the Army to “draw on some of the
German refugees.” Steiner, Kirschbaum, and Thon (later chief of the evaluation
section of the civil administration division of the U.S. military government) ap-
peared later and denied all, but they were shaken by the testimony of investigator
Bruno Jacob, who admitted a few things. Speaking for the press, investigators
Dwight Fanton and Morris Elowitz also denied all. Colonel Rosenfeld denied al-
most all. He charged that Lieutenant Colonel Harold D. McGown, commander of
the American soldiers massacred at Malmédy, had fraternized with SS Colonel
Joachim Peiper, the German commander, and this explained why McGown had
appeared at Dachau as a defense witness for Peiper and had testified that Peiper

¥ New York Times (Apr. 31, 1946), Utley, 185-200; Chicago Tribune (Apr. 30, 1948),12; (Feb. 13,
1949), 3; (Feb. 14, 1949), 3; (Feb. 17, 1949), 8; New York Times (Oct. 31, 1948), sec. 4, 8.
New York Times (Jul. 30, 1948), 5; (Oct. 7, 1948), 15; (Jan. 7, 1949), 1, 9; (Mar. 2,1949), 1, 14;
(Mar. 5, 1949), 1, 4; (May 5, 1949), 8.
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had held talks with him and had been responsible for saving a number of Ameri-
cans. As evidence for the fraternization, Rosenfeld claimed that McGown and
Peiper had been “entirely too friendly during those nights they spent talking to-
gether” and that, when Peiper and his men were later able to escape a U.S. Army
trap, “McGown was with them.” Of course, McGown was Peiper’s prisoner.*'

It will, of course, be argued that these nightmarish Dachau “trials” have little
to do with our subject because the standard maintained in the trials at Nuremberg
were not comparable and because the bearers of the extermination legend do not
cite any of the “evidence” produced at these trials. There is partial truth to these
contentions; brutality and coercion were not nearly as extensive at the prominent
Nuremberg trials as they were at the Dachau trials, and mass exterminations were
not emphasized in the Dachau trials (although gas chambers made occasional ap-
pearances in testimony). However, the Dachau trials cannot be waved aside so
easily because the administering agency, the War Crimes Branch, was also deeply
involved in the Nuremberg trials, as we have noted, and as we are to reconfirm
shortly in a particularly striking respect. In addition, coercion was, in fact, em-
ployed in order to get evidence at the Nuremberg trials, but that subject is dis-
cussed in Chapters 5 and 6.

None of the four powers was happy with the IMT arrangement, and after the
“big trial” they split up and held the kinds of trials they were interested in. The
British trials reflected a general interest, but on points of relatively minor signifi-
cance here. The only major French trial was of Saar industrial magnate Hermann
Rochling, whom the French had also tried, in absentia, after World War 1. Plan-
ning for the American NMT trials had actually started in 1945, and in March
1946, a division of Jackson’s office, headed by Telford Taylor, had been created
for this purpose.

It is worth noting that in all of these trials of Nazis, from the IMT through the
Eichmann “trial” of 1961 (in which defense witnesses were not permitted) to the
“Auschwitz trial” of 1963-1965 (which the Bonn Government would not allow
Rassinier to attend as observer), the defense lawyers had no staff of trained re-
search assistants to go through the documents and, in addition, almost all of the
documents, which were available to them were controlled by the prosecuting
powers.* Whatever the legalistic evaluation of such a situation, it can produce a
very distorted historical picture if not approached skeptically.

Under the legalistic schema of the occupation, there was an important con-
straint on the NMT and other single-nation tribunals:

“The determination of the International Military Tribunal in the judgments

[...] that invasions, aggressive acts, aggressive wars, crimes, atrocities or in-

humane acts were planned or occurred, shall be binding on the tribunals es-

tablished hereunder and shall not be questioned except insofar as the partici-
pation therein or knowledge thereof by any particular person may be con-
cerned. Statements of the International Military Tribunal in the judgment |...]

1 New York Times (Mar. 5, 1949), 4; (Apr. 30, 1949), 2; (Sep. 6, 1949), 9; (Sep. 7, 1949), 9; (Sep. 8,
1949), 9.
“ Arendt, 201, 251, (221, 274 in 1964 edition); Aretz, 28-29.
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constitute proof of the facts stated, in the absence of substantial new evidence

to the contrary.”

Two administratively distinct organizations functioned at the NMT. One was
the collection of “Military Tribunals,” the judges, functioning administratively
through a Secretariat, headed by a Secretary General. The judges were recruited in
the U.S. “by the Department of the Army.” There were three or more judges at
any one trial.

The second organization was the Office, Chief of Counsel for War Crimes
(Telford Taylor), which had come into existence on October 24, 1946, immedi-
ately after Ribbentrop ef al. had been killed. It filed its first indictment the next
day. Although there was a trivial difference in their titles, Taylor, who had been
an associate trial counsel at the IMT, was really the successor to Jackson in the
trials being staged in the Nuremberg courthouse.”’

We will have much to say of the NMT trials in this volume. However, the
reader can grasp much of the spirit of these proceedings even from remarks made
by some of the American judges who had been recruited by the U.S. Army to
serve at Nuremberg. Understandably, these people were normally very reluctant
to speak out publicly against what they observed. Thus, the remark of one of the
judges in the Farben trial, that there were “too many Jews on the prosecution,”
was a privately expressed hint to the prosecution, certainly not intended for publi-
cation. However, the presiding judge in Case 7 (trial of German generals for al-
leged wholesale murder of hostages), Charles F. Wennerstrum, spoke out publicly
and forcefully immediately after sentences had been pronounced:**

“If I had known seven months ago what I know today, I would never have
come here.

Obviously, the victor in any war is not the best judge of the war crime guilt.
Try as you will, it is impossible to convey to the defense, their counsel, and
their people that the court is trying to represent all mankind rather than the
country which appointed its members.

What I have said of the nationalist character of the tribunals applies to the
prosecution. The high ideal announced as the motives for creating these tribu-
nals has not been evident.

The prosecution has failed to maintain objectivity aloof from vindictive-
ness, aloof from personal ambitions for convictions. It has failed to strive to
lay down precedents which might help the world to avoid future wars.

The entire atmosphere here is unwholesome. Linguists were needed.

The Americans are notably poor linguists. Lawyers, clerks, interpreters
and researchers were employed who became Americans only in recent years,
whose backgrounds were imbedded in Europe’s hatreds and prejudices.

The trials were to have convinced the Germans of the guilt of their leaders.

They convinced the Germans merely that their leaders lost the war to tough

“ Taylor (Apr. 1949), 272-276.
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conquerors.

Most of the evidence in the trials was documentary, selected from the large
tonnage of captured records. The selection was made by the prosecution.

The defense had access only to those documents which the prosecution
considered material to the case.

Our tribunal introduced a rule of procedure that when the prosecution in-
troduced an excerpt from a document, the entire document should be made
available to the defense for presentation as evidence. The prosecution pro-
tested vigorously. General Taylor tried out of court to call a meeting of the
presiding judges to rescind this order. It was not the attitude of any conscien-
tious officer of the court seeking full justice.

Also abhorrent to the American sense of justice is the prosecution’s reli-
ance upon self-incriminating statements made by the defendants while prison-
ers for more than two and a half years, and repeated interrogation without
presence of counsel. Two and one-half years of confinement is a form of du-
ress in itself.

The lack of appeal leaves me with a feeling that justice has been denied.

[...] You should go to Nuremberg. You would see there a palace of justice
where 90 per cent of the people are interested in prosecution.

[...] The German people should receive more information about the trials
and the German defendants should receive the right to appeal to the United
Nations.”

Ironically, the validity of Wennerstrum’s attack on the low or non-existent
standard of integrity maintained by the Nuremberg prosecution was confirmed
even by the nature of Telford Taylor’s reaction to Wennerstrum’s statements,
which were made in supposed privacy in Nuremberg for publication in the Chi-
cago Tribune. Tribune reporter Hal Foust sent the message to Berlin for transmis-
sion to the U.S. on a wireless channel, which was supposedly secure from prying.
However, the prosecution, apparently by employment of a ruse, managed to ob-
tain a copy of the message. Ernest C. Deane, Taylor’s press officer, immediately
phoned Foust in order to attempt “to talk him out of sending the story.” However,
the story had already been sent, and Foust replied that “Taylor could not properly
have knowledge of the article until its publication.” Taylor thereupon prepared a
reply to Wennerstrum’s remarks, and the reply was actually made public before
the Tribune published the Foust story containing Wennerstrum’s attack. Taylor
accused the judge, among other things, of making remarks “subversive to the in-
terests and policies of the United States.” Wennerstrum, on arrival in the U.S.
shortly after the publication of Taylor’s “reply” and of the Tribune story, stood
firm on his remarks and again criticized Taylor.

This incident was one of the notable “government spying” incidents of the
year 1948. The Army issued an order against such spying, and there was much
speculation that Taylor might be court-martialed. When reporters asked Taylor for
his opinion on the legality of his action, the following exchange occurred:

“I don’t know whether it was legal or not,” he replied.

“Weren’t you general counsel of the Federal Communications Commission
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for two years before being commissioned in the army?
Yes, but what does that have to do with it?”
Taylor steadfastly refused to express an opinion of the legality of his action but
“off the record indicated he was as pleased with himself as a field officer
[...] which he never was [...] who had just scored against the enemy by a trick
outside the rules of warfare as prescribed by the 1907 Geneva convention.”
The quote is from Hal Foust’s story about the Taylor press conference. Foust
claimed that this was the second instance of Army interference with his messages
to his newspaper, and that in the first instance he had been picked up by Army
agents for interrogation after his story had been sent.

Who was in Charge?

In our examination of the Nuremberg trials, we are naturally interested in who
supervised the NMT proceedings. Pro forma, Taylor supervised almost every-
thing except the appointments of the judges, since the Chief of Counsel’s formal
responsibilities were not confined to the mere prosecution of cases. His Office
was also charged with determining who should and who should not be tried (there
was no separate proceeding for formulating indictments, such as a grand jury),
what the former were to be charged with, and how the latter were to be disposed
of. The Office also took over the functions of the Nuremberg staff and hence one
may assume that the Office took over, at least formally, the (expanded) Nurem-
berg staff itself. Thus, the Office was responsible for interrogations, field work
examination of documents, court reporting, and translating and interpreting.45

We have given reasons why one should expect that this Nuremberg staff had
been under the effective supervision of the War Crimes Branch, and it will shortly
be seen that, whatever Taylor’s formal powers, his actual functions do not suggest
that he ever took over the Nuremberg staff in any effective sense. The War
Crimes Branch, although quartered in far-off Washington, continues to be in-
volved in our consideration of the Nuremberg trials.

On June 12, 1948, the American press carried a story which reported that an
officer of the U.S. Army, Colonel David “Mickey” Marcus, a West Point graduate
operating under the alias “Mickey Stone,” had been killed in action while serving
as supreme commander of the Jewish forces in the Jerusalem sector in the Arab-
Jewish war for the control of Palestine (actually, Marcus had been erroneously
shot by one of his own sentries). The New York Times summarized his career. He
had been Commissioner of Corrections in New York before the war and, as an
Army officer, had helped draft the German and Italian surrender terms. He was a
legal aid at the Potsdam conference (summer of 1945), after which point, if one
judges for the adulatory New York Times article only, his career ended, since we
are told of no other activity of Marcus’ until he turns up with the Haganah in Pal-
estine in January 1948, visits the U.S. in April, receiving a medal at a ceremony in
the British Embassy in Washington (probably a cover for negotiations on the de-
tails of the final British capitulation), and then returns to Palestine after three

# Taylor (Apr. 1949), 272-276.
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weeks to take over in Jerusalem. The only hint we get of any activity in the period
August 1945 to January 1948 is a story on June 24, p. 15, reporting that the Lon-
don Daily Telegraph of the same date said that:

“He was at the time of his death a full colonel in the Judge Advocate Gen-
eral’s office of the organized reserve of officers. [...] Although not subject to
military discipline, he had agreed to remain subject to recall.”

Marcus had, in fact, been Weir’s successor as head of the War Crimes Branch.
Immediately after the war, he had been “number three man in making American
policy” in occupied Germany, but was taken out of this position early in 1946 in
order to take the war crimes job. His appointment was effective as of February 18,
1946, but he spent a few months in Japan after leaving Germany and then moved
into the Washington office of the War Crimes Branch until April 1947, when he
retired from the Army and went into private law practice.*®

Our previous observations obviously suggest that it was in reality the War
Crimes Branch that exercised the crucial functions in respect to the NMT. This is
the case, as is made clear by a careful reading of Taylor’s official final report on
the NMT trials, although the fact is not emphasized there.*’ The fact is confirmed
by the remarkable book by Josiah E. DuBois, who headed the I. G. Farben NMT
prosecution, and Berkman’s book about Marcus provides some sketchy informa-
tion on this aspect of Marcus’ career.*®

Marcus was made head of the War Crimes Branch primarily in order “to take
over the mammoth task of selecting hundreds of judges, prosecutors and lawyers”
for the NMT and Far East (Tokyo) trials. In December 1946, DuBois had been
summoned to Marcus’ office in Washington to discuss the possibility of DuBois’
taking over the prosecution of leading officials of the great German chemicals
firm, I. G. Farben. DuBois had been undecided, so he conferred at length with
Marcus on the problems involved; one of the problems being whether or not there
was sufficient evidence to charge Farben with an “aggressive war” plot and, if so
charged, the possible political repercussions that might ensue. They discussed the
general advantages of bringing the Farben men to trial. One point Marcus made
was that a trial might show how Farben managed to develop certain weapons in
total secrecy. Then too, if they went free, they might start working for the Rus-
sians. Marcus displayed great knowledge of Farben. He pointed out that there was
a “warehouse full” of Farben records in nearby Alexandria, Virginia, a fact that
DuBois forgot, until later events forced him to recall and act on it during the pre-
trial investigation.

They got around to the required length of the pre-trial investigation. Marcus
said: “As far as I’'m concerned, you could go over there for as long or as short a
time as you liked.” DuBois suggested that he would need about four months, and
Marcus replied: “I have no objection to that. Within a few days after you get
home, you should get a wire from Telford Taylor agreeing to it.”

46 Marcus; Encyclopedia Judaica, vol. 11, 1945; Berkman, 44-45; Saturday Evening Post (Dec. 4,
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Taylor, of course, was in Europe in his capacity of Chief of Counsel. DuBois
records Taylor’s activities relative to the Farben trial. He responded favorably to a
staff member’s suggestion that DuBois (under whom the staff member had
worked in the Treasury Department during the war) be appointed to prosecute
Farben. He passed the recommendation on to Washington. After DuBois had
taken the job, he had plans to see Taylor to get his okay for adding another man,
specified by DuBois, to the prosecution staff. The okay was granted. Taylor went
to Paris to plead before the French cabinet for the extradition of a key Farben
man. Taylor gave the opening speech at the Farben trial and then disappeared
from the proceedings. Taylor was not involved in the pre-trial investigation or in
the formulation of the specific charges made by the prosecution.

All of this suggests rather strongly that Taylor’s role was in public relations
and that he was not deeply involved in the details of the running of the trials,
which were his formal responsibility. Such situations are not unusual in large
scale operations.

The facts show that the real organizers of the NMT trials were not as much in
the public eye as Taylor was; in effect and possibly in intention Taylor was a front
man. Marcus, as head of the War Crimes Branch, no doubt exercised effective
control of much of the Nuremberg staff, and he selected the judges and lawyers
for the trials (with only a handful of exceptions). The book by DuBois shows that
Taylor was not involved with the trials on the working level, so the inescapable
conclusion is that the substantial powers of Taylor’s office were actually exer-
cised either by the War Crimes Branch or by persons subordinate to Taylor. In ex-
amining the prominent persons in the latter group, one encounters Robert M. W.
Kempner, who is discussed in Chapter 5.

Marcus seems to have had a real importance quite incommensurate with his
relatively common rank of colonel, because we are told that during the war he had
made a “favorable impression on FDR [...] he was one of the anonymous handful
who charted American policy behind the scenes.” A man whose career was re-
markably intertwined with that of Marcus was General J. H. Hilldring, who
headed the Army Civil Affairs Division, to which Marcus was assigned in 1943.
The CAD had been created in 1943 within the Army General Staff in anticipation
of a need for a group to concern itself with policies to be followed in occupied ter-
ritories. It had been thought that Fiorello LaGuardia was to head the CAD, but the
job went to Hilldring. Marcus became a member and later the chief of the Plan-
ning Branch of the CAD. It was as a consequence of Marcus’ activities in the
CAD that he made his mark; his assignment to the military government of Ger-
many was a direct result of his CAD responsibilities. It was Hilldring who, several
months later, pulled him out of his military government position and assigned him
to head the War Crimes Branch (which was transferred from the JAG to the CAD
on March 4, 1946). Then Hilldring immediately moved over to the State Depart-
ment as an Assistant Secretary of State in charge of occupied areas problems; in
this capacity he headed a secretariat, which coordinated Army, Navy, and State
Department policies in Germany. In September 1947, he left the State Department
and became an Adviser to the U.S. delegation at the United Nations, where the
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diplomatic battle between the Zionists and the Arabs was being waged. Hilldring
“was a tower of strength from the outset [...] as information link with the Jewish
representatives, he frequently conversed with Zionist strategists.” Then, at about
the time Marcus was made supreme commander of the Jewish forces in Jerusa-
lem, Hilldring was appointed back to the State Department as Assistant Secretary
of State for Palestine. Zionist sources have subsequently boasted that both the UN
and second State Department appointments were direct result of Zionist lobby-
ing.* Quite a pair, Marcus and Hilldring.

The filling of the War Crimes Branch position with a fanatical Zionist, the
“first soldier since Biblical times to hold the rank of General in the Army of Is-
rael,” is not only significant in terms of what the Zionist might do in the position,
but also significant in revealing, in a simple way, the nature of the overall political
forces operating at the trials. This is the important point. It is simply not possible
to imagine an appointment that would make these trials more suspect.

Under these political conditions it is simply silly to expect anything but a
frame-up at the “trials.” The associated “extermination” hoax will be exposed
with complete clarity in these pages.

The Nazis

This book is written for people who are already informed on the European side
of World War II and the immediately preceding years. We have no intention of
reviewing the nature of the Nazi state, the roles of Goring, Himmler, Goebbels,
etc., or the anti-Jewish measures that were taken prior to the war, except that these
matters will be touched upon here and there as a matter of course. The major
events and approximate dates associated with the war are assumed known by the
reader.

When Europe was dominated by the Germans, it was not organized according
to the plan of the Treaty of Versailles; Figure 3 presents a map of Europe as it was
organized in the autumn of 1942, at the apex of Hitler’s power. Germany had an-
nexed Austria, Alsace-Lorraine, part of Czechoslovakia, and a great deal of Po-
land (more than just the part that had been taken from Germany after World War
I). The part of Poland that remained was called the “General Government” and
had the status of a subject province governed by the Germans, as did the three
Baltic states of Lithuania, Latvia, and Estonia. In the same subject status were
White Russia, the Ukraine, Bohemia-Moravia (formerly western Czechoslovakia),
and Banat (long a part of Hungary dominated by ethnic Germans). The eastern
part of Czechoslovakia had become the independent state of Slovakia, and Yugo-
slavia had been reorganized as Croatia and Serbia, corresponding to the two
dominant of the five nationalities that had constituted Yugoslavia. Italy also had
an interest in this area of Europe, controlled Albania, and shared influence in ad-
joining countries with her German ally. Finland, Hungary, Romania, and Bulgaria

4 Marcus; Berkman, 191-193, 199; John & Hadawi, vol. 2, 209n, 367; Zink, 209, 210; New York
Times (Apr. 8, 1943), 12; (Apr. 16, 1943), 10; (Mar. 17, 1946), 15; (Sep. 16, 1947), 10; (Apr. 29,
1948), 16; Blum, 383.
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were also allied with Germany, and the Waffen-SS (regular military units within
the SS) recruited troops all over Europe, particularly in the Baltic states, in the
Ukraine, in Scandinavia, and in the Netherlands and Belgium.

Norway, Denmark, the Netherlands, Belgium, and much (later all) of France
were occupied by the Germans. Sweden, Switzerland, Spain, and Portugal re-
mained neutral throughout the war.

It is convenient to review, at this point, some matters pertaining to the SS, a
strange bureaucracy, which had responsibility for certain improbable combina-
tions of functions.

Only three of these functions — security, concentration camp administration,
and resettlement policies — are of interest in our study.

The best known agency of the SS was the RSHA, Reich Security Main Office,
which embraced the Gestapo (Secret State Police, headed by SS Lieutenant Gen-
eral Heinrich Miiller), the SD (Security Service, headed by SS Lieutenant General
Schellenberg), the Kripo (Criminal Police, headed by SS Lieutenant Generals
Nebe and, later, Panzinger) and related functions. The first head of the RSHA had
been SS General Reinhard Heydrich, an ambitious and ruthless young man whose
methods generated many enemies for him.

Ever since the R6hm purge of 1934, the substantial ambitions of the SS in re-
spect to military matters had resulted in growing conflict between the SS and the
regular military establishment, the Wehrmacht, and Heydrich was not in the least
bit delicate in the methods he employed to prosecute the conflict. In 1938, he had
forced the resignation of the Minister of War, General Blomberg, by showing that
Blomberg’s new wife had been a prostitute. Blomberg’s obvious successor was
General von Fritsch, so Heydrich constructed a frame-up of von Fritsch, based on
perjured allegations of homosexuality. Although von Fritsch was eventually ex-
onerated, his career had been ruined, and the bitterness toward Heydrich swelled.

The SS had a second basis for rivalry with the military establishment. The
German intelligence services were the Abwehr, German military intelligence, re-
sponsible to the military high command and headed, since 1935, by Admiral
Wilhelm Canaris, and the SD, the political intelligence arm, responsible to Hey-
drich and Himmler. Since the two types of intelligence activity cannot be strictly
separated, Canaris and Himmler inevitably became rivals. Heydrich appears to
have attempted to be cooperative with Canaris, at least at first; this may have been
due to Heydrich’s own background as a naval intelligence officer who, during the
twenties, had served and trained under Canaris and had even been a frequent visi-
tor to his home.

More significantly, the Admiral was a traitor; he is one of the awesome mys-
teries of World War II. During and even before the war (he was in contact with
Churchill in 1938), Canaris betrayed Germany at every opportunity. A British of-
ficial has expressed the role of Canaris most succinctly: “We had Admiral Ca-
naris.” The man’s motivations remain as mysterious as his personality and his an-
tecedents. lan Colvin, one of the authorities on World War 11 intelligence opera-
tions, wrote a whole book about Canaris and, yet, never deciphered him:

“The readers will have to judge for themselves whether Admiral Wilhelm
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Canaris was a German patriot or a British spy, a European statesman or a
cosmopolitan intriguer, a double agent, an opportunist, or a seer. It will not be
easy for them to make up their minds.”

It may be of some relevance that the man whom Colvin, in his 1951 book,
characterized as one of Canaris’ “close personal friends,” Otto John, the Abwehr
man in the all important neutral capital of Lisbon during World War II, later be-
came Chief of State Security for the Bonn Government and was subsequently ex-
posed (in 1956) as a Soviet agent.>

The Canaris case is sometimes confused by grouping Canaris with the men
behind the abortive coup d’état of July 20, 1944. This is utterly erroneous since
Canaris used all his powers to betray Germany, whereas the men of July 20,
merely betrayed Hitler and would never have betrayed Germany. No Englishman,
after the war, could have truthfully said: “we had Erwin Rommel.” The most one
can say about Canaris’ involvement is that he was no doubt aware of the conspir-
acy in its early states and naturally gave its members the impression that he was
with them. Canaris was a grand master at giving such impressions.

To return to Heydrich, great ambition had gotten the young SS General ap-
pointed Deputy Protector of Bohemia-Moravia in late 1941; he was thus starting
to look bigger than his superior, Reichsfiihrer-SS Heinrich Himmler. It might also
be interesting to speculate that, at about this time, Heydrich may have started to
grasp Canaris’ game; as chief of the RSHA and as a former associate of Canaris,
no man was better situated and motivated to penetrate Canaris’ secret than Hey-
drich was. When one considers the long burning antagonism of the Army, it ap-
pears that Heydrich, by early 1942, had accumulated a very long list of powerful
enemies in Germany. It was thus remarkable that at this point in Heydrich’s career
the English, it is said, fortuitously removed him in May 1942 by dropping two as-
sassins from the sky. In accord with the all-too-common scenario for political as-
sassinations (e.g. the Abraham Lincoln and John F. Kennedy assassinations), the
alleged assassins were said to have been killed before they got an opportunity to
talk.

In an appointment that caused general astonishment, Heydrich was succeeded
in early 1943 by the relatively obscure and much less ambitious Dr. Ernst Kalten-
brunner. Evidently desirous of avoiding repetition of the situation that had devel-
oped with Heydrich, Himmler retained a rather more direct control of the Gestapo
and the SD than he had held previously. However, both agencies continued to be
formally responsible to the head of the RSHA, now Kaltenbrunner. Himmler also
charged Kaltenbrunner with a special task: to build up the intelligence service of
the SD. This was a particularly timely decision on the part of Himmler, since Ca-
naris fell from power (without being fully exposed) in February 1944 and, by a
special Hitler decree, all military and political intelligence functions were taken
over by the RSHA, thus uniting all intelligence activity under SD chief Schellen-
berg.

Canaris was arrested after the July 20 coup and he was executed shortly before

0" Colvin, vii, 1-6; New York Times (Dec. 23, 1956), 1; (Jul. 6, 1969), 11. See Sturdza, 161-162, for
an episodic illustration of Canaris at work.
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the end of the war.

Concentration camp administration was under the WVHA, Economic-
Administrative Main Office, headed by SS General Oswald Pohl. As its name
suggests, the WVHA was concerned with the economic role of the SS which had
arisen, for the most part, on account of the availability of the labor of concentra-
tion camp inmates. The commandants of the concentration camps reported to the
Inspectorate of Concentration Camps, headed by SS Brigadier General Gliicks,
who reported to Pohl. Pohl reported to Himmler, and was formally equal in rank
to Kaltenbrunner and Heydrich.

It is convenient to state at this point, in very general terms, what was going on
with respect to the Jews of Europe during the life of the Nazi regime. Before the
war, the German Government had used all means to encourage the emigration of
Jews from Germany, and most German Jews had left Germany before the out-
break of the war. The persistent problems in connection with this emigration pro-
gram were, first, the dislocations of the economy which were entailed in moving
the Jews out and, second, the difficulty in arranging for other countries to take the
Jews. By the summer of 1941, Germany was at war with Russia, and huge numbers
of Jews, i.e., the greater part of all the Jews of Europe, were in the German sphere
of influence. However, the war had also opened up, temporarily, vast new territories
for the Germans, and consequently, a program of Jewish resettlement got under way
in the autumn of 1941. Through the course of the war, as long as Germany con-
trolled any significant amount of eastern territory, European Jews were being reset-
tled in the East. There were also a certain number of young, adult Jews conscripted
for labor.

On account of certain political problems and the priority of war requirements,
the resettlement program was only partially carried out and, of course, nowhere
near six million Jews were involved. Excluding Polish and Romanian Jews, per-
haps 750,000 Jews were resettled, primarily in the Ukraine, White Russia, and
Latvia. Not all Polish Jews fell under German domination. Apart from those who
managed to flee before or after the German occupation, several hundred thousand
or perhaps a million Jews had been deported from Poland by the Russians in 1940
and had been dispersed in the Soviet Union. For the most part, the Polish Jews
who came into German hands were crowded into ghettoes in eastern Poland (1939
boundaries).

What happened to all of these people can be established only in a very general
way, because all of the territory that the Jews had been resettled onto became So-
viet territory after the war, and because the victorious powers engaged in consid-
erable suppression of the data. However, there is sufficient evidence to permit us
to see approximately what happened. Although it is very likely that a fair number
perished in the disorderly and chaotic conditions that accompanied the German re-
treats, it is established that a large number of Jews, predominantly of pre-war Pol-
ish nationality, were absorbed into the Soviet Union, and the remainder of the
Jews who had been uprooted ultimately resettled in Palestine, the U.S., Europe,
and elsewhere.

These general remarks are supplied here to serve as a background to assist the

52



Chapter 1: Trials, Jews and Nazis

reader in interpreting the analysis of the “extermination” claims, which is the task
of the next few chapters. However, the major evidence for these remarks concern-
ing what actually happened to the Jews will not be presented until Chapter 7.

The RSHA was responsible for carrying out most aspects of this Jewish policy.
Within the Gestapo there was an office, “B4,” which designated the “religions and
cults division — Jewish religion subdivision,” headed by one Karl Adolf Eich-
mann, whose highest attained rank had been licutenant colonel or colonel.” Eich-
mann did the routine chores associated with the Jewish emigration and resettle-
ment policies of the German Government; most of his time was spent arranging
with the various Jewish Councils to draw up transport lists of Jews, and arranging
for transportation for the deportees. There is no evidence that Eichmann ever par-
ticipated in formulating policy, and since he was not involved in concentration
camp administration, he could not have been directly involved in whatever it was
that happened in those camps.

It is, therefore, quite ridiculous that it was possible to get so many people ex-
cited about the case of a person such as Eichmann, who had performed com-
pletely routine functions in Nazi Germany. Those functions were carried out in
accordance with specific orders transmitted by his superiors. His Jerusalem testi-
mony was given “after consulting Reitlinger and Poliakov, (producing) seventeen
multicolored charts, which contributed little to a better understanding of the bu-
reaucratic machinery of the Third Reich.”** I see no point in viewing the Eich-
mann affair as anything but a publicity stunt on the part of a state accustomed to
disregarding the constraints that other states feel bound to respect. A short discus-
sion of the Eichmann case and of Eichmann’s Jerusalem testimony, is provided in
Chapter 6 (pages 226ff.).

Other departments of the SS, which were involved in resettlement activities
were the RKFDV (Reich Commission for the Strengthening of Germandom,
headed by SS General Ulrich Greifelt), the RuSHA (Race and Settlement Main
Office, headed by SS Generals Otto Hofmann and, later, Richard Hildebrandt)
and the VoMi (Liaison Office for Ethnic Germans, headed by SS General Werner
Lorenz). The most important responsibility of these departments was the resettle-
ment of ethnic Germans on conquered territories, and Greifelt was the main per-
sonality in this program. However, they inevitably got involved in the program of
Jewish resettlement to some degree.

31 Reitlinger, 28; Red Cross (1947), 99; Eichmann, session 75, V1, W1.
2 Arendt, 136 (152 in 1964 edition).
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Horror Scenes and ‘Extermination’ Camps

When Germany collapsed in the spring of 1945, it was after a long allied
propaganda campaign that had repeatedly claimed that people, mainly Jews, were
being systematically killed in German “camps.” When the British captured the
camp at Bergen-Belsen in northern Germany, they found a large number of unbur-
ied bodies lying around the camp.

Photographs, such as Fig. 10, and pictures of guards with unfortunate facial
expressions, such as Fig. 12, were accordingly reproduced all over the world.

It is, I believe, Belsen, which has always constituted the effective, mass propa-
ganda “proof” of exterminations, and even today you will find such scenes occa-
sionally waved around as “proof.” In fact these scenes, repeated in varying de-
grees at other German camps, e.g. Dachau and Buchenwald, were much less re-
lated to “extermination” than the scenes at Dresden after the British-American
raids of February 1945, when many, many times as many bodies were found lying
around.” The deaths at Belsen were the result of a total loss of control, not a de-
liberate policy. Equivalent scenes could easily have existed in any country in-
vaded on all sides by enemy armies, crippled by powerful “strategic”” bombings,
which had caused all sorts of shortages and chaotic conditions.

The major cause of the deaths at Belsen was a typhus epidemic. Everybody
agrees that typhus was a constant menace in all German camps and eastern mili-
tary operations; for this reason there was a real fear of typhus spreading through-
out Germany and vigorous countermeasures were applied.” The typhus problem
will play a most significant role in our story, because it was not merely at the end
of the war that it manifested itself; the scenes at the end of the war were due to the
total collapse of all measures against a disease that had plagued the German con-
centration camps since early in the war. The typhus was of the sort carried by the
body louse, and consequently, defensive measures consisted in killing the lice,
whose spread was due mainly to the constant rail traffic with the East.

Thus, all “survivor literature,” sincere or inventive and regardless of the type
of camp involved, report the same basic procedures involved in entering a Ger-
man camp: disrobe, shave hair, shower, dress in new clothes or in disinfested old
clothing.55

At Belsen, the trouble had started in October 1944 with a breakdown of these
measures. In the account of a political prisoner there:™

3 Veale, 133-136; Martin, 121.

3 Reitlinger, 122, 402; Hilberg, 570-571; DuBois, 127.
> Burney, 9; Buber, 188; Lenz, 31; Cohen, 120-122.

% Sington, 117-118.
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“Towards the end of February 1945 my own situation changed completely.

By that time typhus had become a serious danger for the whole camp. It
was the species of typhus which is transmitted by lice. At one time all the
transports which arrived at Belsen had had to pass through a ‘human laundry’
and this disinfection seems to have been effective enough to keep the camp free
from lice until the autumn of 1944.

At the end of October a big transport had, for the first time, been admitted
to the camp without being disinfected, because there had been some damage to
the machinery of the shower-baths. Unfortunately the people of this transport
were louse carriers, and from that day the lice gradually spread over the
whole camp. [...] Typhus broke out in Camp I about the end of January. At
first there were only a few cases, but a month later a dozen had appeared, and
it became impossible to check the disease [...].”

Another serious complication was that, in the final months, Belsen was con-
sidered a Krankenlager, a sick camp, so that many people entering were sick to
begin with.”” The British could not check things at once, and over a quarter of
those alive when they took over the camp were to perish in the first four weeks.”

Despite the very effective propaganda role of the Belsen scenes, nobody ac-
quainted with the most easily obtainable facts claims exterminations at Belsen,
and the British military court which tried the commandant, SS Captain Kramer,
never accused him of supervising an extermination camp at Belsen.” Today, in
fact, exterminations at any of the concentration camps in Germany are not
claimed by anybody trying to be serious; Belsen, Buchenwald, Dachau, etc. were
not extermination camps. The extermination camps are all supposed to have been
in occupied Poland, namely the camps referred to as Auschwitz, Belzec, Kulmhof
(Chelmno), Lublin (Majdanek), Sobibor, and Treblinka.*

Also, exterminations of Jews were supposed to have been conducted in Russia
by the FEinsatzgruppen, employing either mass shooting or “gasmobiles.” The
camps in Poland are also claimed to have employed “gas chambers” but, except
for the case of Chelmno, stationary rather than mobile ones.

Thus, the exterminations are supposed to have taken place only at locations
which had been abandoned before being captured by the Russians, not at camps
which were still functioning, however disastrously, when captured by Western
troops.

Although six extermination camps are claimed, one of them, Auschwitz, is the
key to the whole story. It is for Auschwitz that quantities of documentary evi-
dence are offered; there is little of any sort offered for the others. It was Ausch-
witz, as will be seen, that got the very special attention of Washington long before
the end of the war. Thus, much of this work is necessarily concerned with the
claim that at Auschwitz Jews were being exterminated during World War I1.

7 Fyfe, 152.

% Sington, 48.
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The Camps and Their End

The subject of this book is the question of whether or not the Germans at-
tempted to exterminate the European Jews. We are not concerned with consider-
ing in any detail the general question of alleged Nazi brutalities of all sorts or with
presenting a complete picture of the functioning of German camps. However, it
has been found that many people have such distorted views of these camps that,
because at Auschwitz there were camps, it is difficult to separate Auschwitz at the
outset and consider it in isolation from other camps. Thus, a few general words
about the camps are in order. Fig. 23 presents a map (January 1938 boundaries)
that shows the locations of a few of the most frequently referred to camps together
with the locations of a few large cities.

There were many types of German camps, and only a fraction of them were
called “concentration camps.” There were thirteen German concentration camps,
each of them actually being a collection of neighboring camps. Only two of the
six alleged “extermination camps,” Auschwitz and Lublin, were “concentration
camps.” A table of many types of German camps, which includes many ordinary
prisons, is given by Aronéanu, pp. 203-251, who lists about 1,400 “camps,” to-
gether with their locations and “characters.” While this table gives some idea of
the scope and diversity of the German prison and camp systems, it has obvious
major errors, such as giving the “character” of Birkenau as “medical experi-
ments.” The major significance of Oranienburg, near Berlin, was that it quartered
the Inspectorate of Concentration Camps, and was thus in direct communication
with all concentration camps.

The typical inmate of a German concentration camp was a person being de-
tained for punitive or security reasons. There were five major categories, and they
were (éilstinguished by colored insignia, which were associated with their uni-
forms:

Table 5: Concentration camp inmate insignia
COLOR |CATEGORY

Green |Criminals

Red Political prisoners (mainly communists)

Pink  |Homosexuals

Black |Asocials (vagrants, drunkards, etc.)

Purple |Considered disloyal on account of

religious views (mainly Jehovah’s Witnesses)

At Auschwitz and some other camps, a triangle of the appropriate color was
attached to the uniform. If the prisoner was Jewish, a yellow triangle was super-
imposed on the first triangle, forming a star of David. This is referred to as the
Auschwitz “star system.”

Economic conditions being what they were, the German government made
every effort to use concentration camp inmates for labor. Prisoners of war

1 Cohen, 26-28.
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(POWSs) were also used to the extent that such use did not conflict with the rele-
vant conventions, as the Germans interpreted their obligations under them. Thus,
Russian POWs were used freely, because Russia did not respect the conventions.
Employment of western POWs was restricted to cases where certain legalistic
“transformations” into civilian workers were possible, as with many French
POWSs,* or some cases where the work was not considered to be ruled out by the
conventions, as with some British POWs employed under conditions to be dis-
cussed.

The number of inmates in the entire German concentration camp system was
about 224,000 in August 1943 and 524,000 a year later.”’ These figures include
only camps referred to by the Germans as concentration camps and do not include
any transit camps or camps referred to in other terms, such as the Theresienstadt
ghetto or any other establishments intended for quartering families.

It is generally accurate to say that there was no such thing as a “concentration
camp” for Jews as such, but this remark must be clarified; there are three distinct
categories of Jews, which must be considered in this connection.

First, a fraction of those interned for punitive and security reasons were Jews,
and under the national socialist system it was natural, in the camps, to segregate
them from the “Aryan” inmates. Thus, sections of the camps could, in this sense,
be considered “for Jews.” Second, specific legislation existed for the labor con-
scription of Jews, and many selected specifically for labor found their ways into
concentration camps on this basis.

The third category was Jewish families, but the closest they got to “concentra-
tion camps” was in certain Durchgangslager, transit camps, which in some cases
were independent camps such as Westerbork in the Netherlands® and others (to
be mentioned) and in some cases were separate compounds, which existed at
some concentration camps, e.g. Belsen, possibly Dachau,® and others (to be men-
tioned). The transit camp, as its name suggests, was intended only for temporary
quartering pending transport to some other destination.

In addition to the transit camps, there were “camps” for some Jewish families,
such as Theresienstadt in Bohemia-Moravia and others far to the East, but the
most pejorative term applicable in these cases would be “ghetto,” not “concentra-
tion camp.” In addition, as we shall see, toward the end of the war, as the Rus-
sians were approaching on the eastern front, the Germans put many formerly free
Jews into ghettos for security reasons.

The full story regarding the position of Jews relative to German-controlled
camps of all types is rather complicated. Rather than attempt to say here exactly
what that position was, the subject will be touched on at many points in the book,
and the reader will be able to form a reasonably complete picture.

There is no point in attempting to discuss the entire German camp system here.
For our purposes it will suffice to discuss the three that are referred to most fre-

2 Red Cross (1948), vol. 1, 546-547.
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quently (excluding Auschwitz): Belsen, Buchenwald, and Dachau (inmate popula-
tions in August 1943: 3,000, 17,600, and 17,300 respectively“). Then we will
pass on to preliminary discussion of the alleged “extermination camp” Auschwitz
in Poland.

Belsen

Belsen had only a very brief history. It had originally been a Wehrmacht camp
for wounded POWs. In mid-1943, the SS took over half the camp for the purpose,
among others, of turning it into an “exchange camp,” a transit camp for foreign
nationals and Jews whom the Germans contemplated exchanging for Germans
held abroad. Some new grounds and buildings were also added to the camp. Jews
from Salonika, Greece, who possessed Spanish passports were the first Jewish ar-
rivals (it was hoped to send them to Spain), but eventually the Dutch Jews pre-
dominated (about 5,000). A fraction of the Dutch Jews were there on a semi-
permanent basis, because they numbered many of the skilled craftsmen of the es-
sential Amsterdam diamond cutting industry, and thus, their diamond cutting op-
erations had merely been moved to Belsen. The quarters for Jews at Belsen
formed what was called the “Star Camp,” which was strictly separated from the
rest of the camp and was essentially untouched by the typhus epidemic of the last
months.”’

The Dutch Jews were particularly heavily hit by deportations; reasons for this
will be given later. It was at Belsen in March 1945 that Anne Frank is said to have
perished from typhus, although the Jewish families were mostly isolated from the
typhus epidemic.68 The question of the authenticity of the diary is not considered
important enough to examine here; I will only remark that I have looked it over
and don’t believe it. For example, as early as page 2 one is reading an essay on
why a 13-year-old girl would start a diary, and then page 3 gives a short history of
the Frank family and then quickly reviews the specific anti-Jewish measures that
followed the German occupation in 1940. The rest of the book is in the same his-
torical spirit.

The remainder of the Belsen concentration camp contained the usual assort-
ment of inmates, and the fate of the camp has been seen. Bergen-Belsen never had
a significant economic-industrial aspect, except for the diamond cutting.

Buchenwald

The major significance of Buchenwald was industrial; its satellite camps at
Beuchow, Dora, Ellrich, Elsing, Gandersheim, and Halberstadt existed primarily
for the sake of an underground aircraft factory, which employed the usual concen-
tration camp and foreign labor in addition to regular German labor.” There were,
however, two other aspects, the medical experiments conducted at the main camp

% 1469-PS in NMT, vol. 5, 382.

7 Reitlinger, 364-365, 406; Hilberg, 377-379, 632-633.
% " A. Frank, 285.

% Aronéanu, 207, 213, 214, 217, 220.
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Buchenwald and the activities of commandant Koch; these offer quite perfect il-
lustrations on how the meanings of facts have been distorted in speaking of these
camps. We are fortunate in having a book by Christopher Burney, a former in-
mate; this book not only indulges in some of this distortion but also offers us
some facts or hints which enable us to see through the distortion. Burney’s book
should illustrate to any reader the necessity, when reading “personal experience”
literature of this sort, of sharply and rigorously distinguishing between the scenes
the author actually claims to have witnessed or the claims he had read or heard, on
the one hand, and the inferences he has drawn or pretended to draw on the other.
The differences are often most stark. Describing commandant Koch:™

“No cruelty was foreign to him, no single cell of his brain had not at some
time or other contributed to the planning of new refinements of anguish and
death for the rats in his trap.”

Burney goes on to explain that, because Koch was a homosexual, Frau Ilse
Koch used to make out with the prisoners, “who were then sent to the cremato-
rium,” except that highly valued tattooed skin was saved for lampshades. At this
point in Burney’s book things obviously look bad for him, especially if he has tat-
toos and Frau Koch finds him but, happily, all of that had happened before he ar-
rived there in early 1944. Koch had been arrested in 1943 for embezzlement and
was succeeded by Pister who was “one of the mildest concentration camp com-
manders in history” so that:

“in the last year of its existence a casual observer who came to the camp
and looked generally at it without probing its corners, would have seen little
or no beatings, a large number of men doing no work, a much larger number
working with a lethargy taught them by the Russians [...], living blocks which
were clean, kitchens with huge, horrifyingly modern soup-cookers and a hos-
pital which would just pass muster at first glance.”

The Koch arrest had, in fact, been part of the breaking of a ring of corruption
which had spread through the German concentration camp system and had in-
volved the murder of some prisoners who knew too much. It was exposed through
the efforts of SS Judge Konrad Morgen. Koch was executed by the SS.”*

The tattooed skin was undoubtedly due to the medical experiment role of
Buchenwald. As remarked by Burney, when a Buchenwald inmate died, the camp
doctors looked his body over and if they found something interesting they saved
it.” 1t is fairly certain that the collection of medical specimens thus gathered was
the source of the tattooed skin and the human head that turned up at the IMT as
“exhibits” relating to people “murdered” at Buchenwald. What is probably the
greater part of the collection is pictured in Figure 32. The head is normally pic-
tured, without any explanation, in the company of some soap (Fig. 24), allegedly
made from human bodies, which was submitted as evidence by the Russians who,
when they learned there was to be a trial, evidently read up on what the Germans

" Burney, 10-14.
"' Hoehne, 383-387 (434-436 in paperback).
Burney, 10.
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had been charged with in World War L.” By the time the IMT was done “develop-
ing” the fact about the tattooed skin found at Buchenwald, we had an official
deposition:™

“In 1939 all prisoners with tattooing on them were ordered to report to the
dispensary. No one knew what the purpose was, but after the tattooed prison-
ers had been examined, the ones with the best and most artistic specimens
were kept in the dispensary and then killed by injections. [...] the desired
pieces of tattooed skin were detached from the bodies and treated. The finished
products were turned over to Koch’s wife, who had them fashioned into lamp-
shades and other ornamental housechold articles. I myself saw such tattooed
skins with various designs and legends on them, such as ‘Hansel and Gretel’
which one prisoner had on his knee, and designs of ships from prisoners’
chests.”

Frau Koch was convicted of such crimes at her trial before a U.S. military
court, but in 1948, the American military governor, General Lucius Clay, re-
viewed her case and determined that, despite testimony produced at her trial, Frau
Koch could not be related to the lampshades and other articles, which were “dis-
covered” (i.e. planted) in the Buchenwald commandant’s residence when the
camp was captured in 1945. For one thing, she had not lived there since her hus-
band’s, and her own, arrest in 1943. Also her “family journal,” said to be bound in
human skin and which was one of the major accusations against her, was never
located and obviously never existed. Clay thus commuted her life sentence to four
years imprisonment for ordinary sorts of brutalities.

What happened after the commutation provided one of the many episodes
which, together with the 1948-49 revelations of what had transpired at the Dachau
“trials,” exposed quite effectively the lawlessness that prevailed in the war crimes
trials. Rabbi Wise and other influential people protested the commutation so
strongly that there was a Senate investigation into the matter, which concluded
that:

“military authorities say they have been unable to find evidence of any
other crime lise Koch committed on which she could be tried without violating
the rule of double jeopardy. However |...] because the trial conducted by our
special military government court was based on charges that the various ac-
cused had mistreated ‘non-German nationals,’ the German courts might well
try Illse Koch under their law for crimes committed against German nationals.
[...] Should the German people bring Ilse Koch to trial on such charges, the
subcommittee is convinced that it would then be the duty of our military au-
thorities to give complete cooperation to the German authorities.”

This distinction between crimes against Germans and crimes against non-
Germans was merely a bit of sophistry that was trotted out for the occasion. Not
only had the U.S. war crimes courts always assumed jurisdiction in cases of al-
leged crimes against German Jews, but the distinction was irrelevant anyway, for

3 3420-PS; 3422-PS. For pictures see, e.g., Andrus, photographs. A “macabre collection” of speci-

mens from Buchenwald is also pictured in Pélissier, 640 pp.
7 3421-PS; IMT, vol. 3, 515; quoted Shirer, 984.
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Clay’s commutation of her sentence was based on a conclusion that she was not
guilty of the major charges against her, which had to do with lampshades and the
like, irrespective of the nationality of the alleged victims.

Clay did not change his position throughout the long public controversy con-
cerning efforts to try Frau Koch a second time on essentially the same charges, a
controversy which, according to the New York Times, “rocked the United States
and Europe.” Clay was firm on his decision in the Ilse Koch case and explained
that

“examination of the record, based upon reports which I received from the
lawyers, indicated that the most serious charges were based on hearsay and
not on factual evidence. For that reason the sentence was commuted.

1 hold no sympathy for llse Koch. She was a woman of depraved character
and ill repute. She had done many things reprehensible and punishable, un-
doubtedly, under German law. We were not trying her for those things. We
were trying her as a war criminal on specific charges.”

Despite this empathic stand of the American military governor, pressures from
the U.S. induced the German authorities to move against Frau Koch after she was
released from American detention in October 1949. She was again tried on the
familiar “lampshade” charges. Although the defense was able to show that the tes-
timonies of two of the prosecution witnesses contradicted declarations that they
had made in connection with earlier proceedings, thus forcing the German court to
strike their testimonies from the record, Ilse Koch was found guilty and sentenced
to life imprisonment. She hanged herself in her cell in 1967.7

Burney reports some Belsen-like scenes at Buchenwald, but mainly among in-
coming prisoners evacuated from more eastern locations during the final chaotic
weeks. So much for Buchenwald.”®

Dachau

Dachau was one of the oldest Nazi concentration camps, with an emphasis on
Austrian political prisoners, Roman Catholic priests (detained for reasons that
need not be examined here), and old and semi-employable people of all catego-
ries. The camp also had its group of ordinary criminals. Work was mainly at out-
side factories, but a herb plantation was being built up at the camp, and some
prisoners worked at draining swamps.77

It is useful here to go into some detail on how, at the end of and immediately
after the war, Dachau was misrepresented as an extermination camp with gas
chambers. In showing that such events never took place at Dachau we are not, of
course, contradicting the present story put forward by the bearers of the extermi-
nation legend, who do not claim Dachau in this connection, and build their story
around the camps in Poland, with Auschwitz occupying the central position in this

™ New York Times (Sep. 24, 1948), 3; (Oct. 1, 1948), 11; (Oct. 8, 1948), 10; (Oct. 22, 1948), 5;
(Dec. 27, 1948), 1, 12; (Dec. 20, 1950), 15; Jan. 16, 1951), 1; (Sep. 3, 1967), 1.

" Burney, 106-109.

" Lenz, 32, 42, 78; 1063-PS.
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respect. The point of exploring these details regarding Dachau is that the credibil-
ity of the U.S. occupation is thereby demolished. The U.S. propaganda had
claimed exterminations in the German camps and Dachau was the major camp
taken over by the Americans (Buchenwald was later surrendered to the Russians).
Thus, an effort was made to distort and misrepresent what had happened at the
Dachau concentration camp. A recognition of the amazing crudeness and clumsi-
ness of that effort, and the ludicrous nature of the “evidence” put forward will
prime the reader quite suitably for our analysis of the central part of the hoax, the
Auschwitz lie.

The conditions in the camps had forced the German government, in March
1945, to take the final step in reversal of its earlier policy of absolute exclusion of
the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) from the concentration
camps (existing conventions covered POWs, not concentration camp inmates). On
March 29, 1945, SS General Kaltenbrunner authorized the ICRC to place one
delegate in each camp for the purpose of distributing relief sup;glies, on the condi-
tions that the delegate remained there until the end of the war.”” The ICRC organ-
ized road transport for relief supplies (use of the railways was out of the question)
but its effectiveness was to a degree influenced by the attitudes of individual con-
centration camp commanders; for example, the reception at Mauthausen on April
23-30 was at first negative. SS Colonel Ziereis claimed that he had not heard of
the Kaltenbrunner order.”

At Dachau, the ICRC had gotten a relatively warm reception on April 27 (after
some coolness on April 26), and a delegate was allowed to establish himself in the
camp. By Sunday, April 29, it was found that most of the German officers,
guards, and employees had fled, and the effective command of the camp had
fallen to a certain SS Lieutenant Wickert who had similar intentions of leading a
flight of the remaining guards. Because this raised many dangers, notably vio-
lence by prisoners against German civilians of the area and the spread of epidem-
ics, the delegate talked Wickert out of this. They came to an agreement regarding
surrender of the camp, which the ICRC delegate was to do his best to have re-
spected. First, guards would remain in the towers to prevent the escape of prison-
ers.

Second, the soldiers not standing guard would assemble, unarmed, in one of
the courtyards.

Third, the garrison would be allowed to withdraw to its own “battle lines,” af-
ter the transfer of the camp to the Americans.

The ICRC delegate then affixed a white towel to a broomstick and, taking a
German officer with him, left the camp to hunt up some Americans. After a while
they encountered an American motorized unit and the delegate presented himself
to the American general (not named in the delegate’s report on these events) who,
on learning the identities of his new guests, immediately asked that the delegate
and the German officer accompany them for the purpose of taking press photos at
the camp, particularly of a certain train which was full of dead bodies. Although

" Red Cross (1948), vol. 1, 620; vol. 3, 83, 184; Red Cross (1947), 82-84.
" Red Cross (1947), 134-137.
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the Red Cross delegate had been at the camp for two days, he had apparently been
too busy to learn of this train while at the camp and learned of it from the general.

With its mission thus defined, the column set off for the camp. On the way, the
delegate was able to ask a Major Every to communicate to the general the agree-
ment for the transfer of the camp, but apparently this attempt to communicate
with the general was not successful.

On arrival at the camp, they found that some Americans had already arrived,
the German guards in the towers had been replaced and all the Germans had sur-
rendered. The inmates were in great disorder and some were armed; shots were
fired at SS guards and this resulted in some killed on both sides. The delegate was
finally able to gain the attention of the general to present the plan for the transfer
of the camp. The general assented to the plan, but the German prisoners were not
allowed to leave anyway, and many of them suffered at the hands of inmates seek-
ing vengeance. As many of the inmates were disarmed as possible, but this did not
end the disorders. Some inmates embraced the American soldiers while others
tore down barbed wire fences and escaped. Some shots were fired by the Ameri-
cans over the heads of inmates, and an uneasy calm was finally reached by 10
p.m. There were, however, occasional shots fired during the following night. The
following day, April 30, it was possible to pass out adequate food and on the next
day, Tuesday May 1, some members of the ICRC legation arrived and, according
to the delegate, they visited not only piles of corpses but “equally the execution
chamber, the gas chamber, the crematory ovens, etc.”

The preceding is a summary of the report of the Red Cross delegate. It con-
tains no assertions similar to later assertions made independently by former in-
mates Johann M. Lenz and Nerin E. Gun, both of whom claim that the Americans,
on arrival, started killing all SS guards in sight (unquestionably at least an exag-
geration).®' Gun claims that this policy even extended to the dogs in the kennels,
while Lenz claims that the general ordered a two hour bombardment of the de-
fenseless town of Dachau (he was eventually dissuaded from this) in retaliation
for the bodies which had been found lying around.™ If there is any truth to these
claims, the ICRC delegate made a fairly significant omission in his report.

It is very important to recognize what the Red Cross delegate refers to as the
“gas chamber” in his report. The tone of the delegate’s report is tongue-in-cheek
and contemptuous at several points, for it was written in defensive awareness of
all the drivel that was being given mass circulation in the press. Thus, he remarks,
in connection with the bodies found on the train at Dachau, that “many of these
men had been killed while the others were probably dead of hunger.” Also, while
the delegate is happy to pass along the names of /e lieutenant Wickert and le ma-
jor Every and others, he refuses to mention the name of the U.S. commander (ap-
parently either Linden or Patek), who is referred to only as “le general.”

80 Red Cross (1947), 144-146, 149-152.

1 Editor’s note: This massacre was photographed by the U.S. troops, see Fig. 21, bottom right.
Compare also Howard A. Buechner, Dachau; see also Dachauer Hefte, 1985, issue 1: “Die Be-
freiung”.

2 Lengz, 270; Gun, 63-64.
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There were two types of rooms which were claimed as gas chambers by the
U.S. propaganda after the camp was captured, and Gun reproduces the relevant
photographs. Here we present Figs. 16 and 22. The former shows an ordinary
shower which the U.S. propagandists had the audacity to claim was a gas chamber
disguised as a shower. Fig. 19 shows the entrance to this “Brausebad’ (shower
bath).

The second type of room, which was claimed as a gas chamber, was indeed a
gas chamber, the door of which is shown as Fig. 22. This door certainly appears to
be genuine and not manufactured for the propaganda. To see what is involved, ex-
amine Fig. 13 (top). On the left one can perceive the very same door and near the
door a heap of dirty prisoner clothing. That “gas chamber” was obviously a
chamber for disinfesting clothing; such equipment was necessary and existed at
all of the German concentration camps. The interior of the disinfestation room is
shown in Fig. 6.

The building shown in Fig. 13 housed disinfestation chambers, the shower
bath of Fig. 16, and the crematory of Fig. 17. This building has been maintained
and is regularly visited by tourists. It is removed from the main part of the camp,
located in a relatively isolated spot. It was perfectly logical to locate both the dis-
infestation chamber and the crematory in such a way that inmates did not come
into frequent contact with such things (the former for reasons of health and the
latter for reasons of morale). The shower was necessary, obviously, to decontami-
nate the people who worked in this building before they returned to the main part
of the camp. I do not know whether this shower bath also serviced incoming pris-
oners, or if a separate shower existed for that purpose. As suggested by Fig. 16
and confirmed by the literature, it was almost always the shower bath, rather than
the disinfestation chamber, which served the propaganda as a “gas chamber.”®
The latter was probably considered too small to represent as a gas chamber, which
had claimed countless victims.

Naturally, the “war crimes trials” produced witnesses who claimed gassings at
Dachau (e.g. IMT witness Franz Blaha, who also claimed tattooed skin scenes as
at Buchenwald®™). Naturally, the people whose bodies had been found at the camp
when it was captured, especially those on the train, were always represented as
having been murdered.

The number of bodies on the train at Dachau was approximately 500. Finding
dead people on trains in Germany toward the war’s end was not unusual even on
ordinary passenger trains; in January 1945, 800 Germans, frozen to death, had
been found on a train which had arrived in Berlin.* The German rail system was
in utter chaos, and conditions in April 1945 are difficult to imagine, but some at-
tempt should be made to see some of these corpse-laden trains in context. Some
thought might also be given to the possible conditions of people as they started
their journeys on these trains. It is entirely possible that the typical individual
concentration camp commander, presented with what he considered insane orders

8 M. J. Smith, 94-95.
% IMT, vol. 5, 167-173; Rassinier (1962), 78.
8 Burney, 107; Red Cross (1947), 151.
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to “transfer” N inmates to X camp, reasoned that putting the half dead on the train
had the double merit of minimizing numbers of deaths and also getting some of
the dying off his hands. However, such problems are not of essential or central in-
terest here.

The truth about Dachau was not long in coming out, but did not receive wide
publicity. The causes for the dead bodies, which were found at the camp when it
was captured, were described in a 1948 publication of the American Association
for the Advancement of Science. As the U.S. Army advanced into Germany, it
encountered the sorts of conditions, which its medical services had anticipated
and for which they had prepared counter-measures:*®

“Germany in the spring months of April and May was an astounding sight,
a mixture of humanity traveling this way and that, homeless, often hungry and
carrying typhus with them. [...] The more territory that was uncovered, the
greater was the number of reported cases; for Western Germany in the areas
of the American advance was rather uniformly seeded with typhus. To be sure,
there were heavily involved communities and others lightly affected. There
were great accumulations of cases in the concentration and prison camps, and
in nearby small communities.

As estimated 35,000-40,000 prisoners were found in [Dachau], living under
conditions bad even for a German camp of this kind and worse than any other
that came into American hands. Extreme filthiness, louse infestation, and
overcrowding prevailed throughout the camp buildings. Several car-loads of
human bodies were found packed in box cars in the railroad yards adjacent to
the camp, the vestiges of a shipment of prisoners from camps further north
who were transferred to Dachau in the late days of the war to escape the ad-
vancing United States troops.

The number of patients with typhus fever at the time the camp was first oc-
cupied will never be known. Days passed before a census of patients could be
accomplished. Several hundreds were found in the prison hospital, but their
number was small compared with the patients who continued to live with their
comrades in the camp barracks, bed-ridden and unattended, lying in bunks 4
tiers high with 2 and sometimes 3 men to a narrow shelflike bed; the sick and
the well; crowded beyond all description; reeking with filth and neglect — and
everywhere the smell of death.”

It is not surprising that Dachau had experienced catastrophes very similar to
those at Belsen. Since the beginning of 1945, there had been an estimated 15,000
prisoner deaths from typhus, mostly in the final two months.®’

The Americans brought the camp under control, and it served, as we have
seen, as an American camp and center of “war crimes trials.” An American law-
yer, Stephen S. Pinter, who was stationed there and evidently disapproved of what
had been carried out there in the name of the United States, wrote in 1959:%

“I was in Dachau for 17 months after the war, as a US War Department

% Gordon, 23-25.
7 Red Cross (1947), 150.
Letter by Pinter in Catholic weekly Our Sunday Visitor (Jun. 14, 1959), 15.
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Attorney, and can state that there was no gas chamber at Dachau. What was
shown to visitors and sightseers there and erroneously described as a gas
chamber, was a crematory. Nor was there a gas chamber in any of the other
concentration camps in Germany. We were told that there was a gas chamber
at Auschwitz, but since that was in the Russian zone of occupation, we were
not permitted to investigate, since the Russians would not permit it.

[...] uses the old propaganda myth that millions of Jews were killed by the
national socialists. From what I was able to determine during six postwar
years in Germany and Austria, there were a number of Jews killed, but the fig-
ure of a million was certainly never reached. I interviewed thousands of Jews,
former inmates of concentration camps in Germany and Austria, and consider
myself as well qualified as any man on this subject.”

In 1960, the Institut fiir Zeitgeschichte of Munich, “the paragon of hostility
and resistance to Nazism,” declared:®

“The gas chamber in Dachau was never completed and put into operation
[...] The mass extermination of Jews by gassing started in 1941/1942, and
took place [...] with the aid of installations technically designed for this pur-
pose, above all in occupied Polish territory [but nowhere in the Old Reich
]

This is essentially the Dachau myth as it stood in the summer of 1973: the in-
formation given the visiting tourist at Dachau correctly identified the disinfesta-
tion room as such, without any attempt to represent it as a gas chamber for exter-
minating people. In regard to the shower bath the leaflet explained that

“This gas chamber, camouflaged as a shower room, was not used. The
prisoners selected for ‘gassing’ were transported from Dachau to the Hart-
heim Castle, near Linz (Austria) or to other camps.”

So much for Dachau, a close examination of which was necessary in order to
evaluate the general credibility of the U.S. propaganda.

The Industrial Role of Auschwitz

The camps at Auschwitz were, of course, part of the same concentration camp
system as the camps we have just discussed. However, the operations referred to
with the term “Auschwitz” were really, in many ways, in a class by themselves.
This is so much the case that, in order to see the role of Auschwitz clearly, it is
necessary to go back considerably in time. It is also necessary, unfortunately, to
indulge in a certain amount of discussion that may seem excessively technical at
first.

The principal cause of the German defeat in World War I in 1918 had been
shortages brought about, chiefly, by the British blockade. Shortages of such things
as oil and rubber had been crippling the Army, and near starvation conditions in

% Die Zeit (Engl. Edition, Aug. 26, 1960), 14 (letter by M. Broszat); Rassinier (1962), 79. Rassinier

refers to the German edition of Die Zeit (Aug. 19, 1960).
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Germany had made the internal political situation unpredictable and unstable.
Germany capitulated, a victim of, among other things, the twentieth century’s first
“energy crisis.”

The extreme vulnerability of Germany in respect of raw materials had, of
course, been realized by the German chemical industry during the war, and after
the war the popularity of the concept of “autarky,” non-reliance on imports or for-
eign aid, was partially based on this consideration. The only raw materials that
concern us here are oil and rubber, of which there was essentially none in Ger-
many. In Europe, only Romania had significant oil resources, and there was no
natural rubber anywhere in Europe. There were, however, huge sources of coal in
Germany and elsewhere in Europe.

The great German chemicals company, 1. G. Farben, was in 1918 a collection
of six smaller companies, which later combined in 1925 to form Farben. The prin-
cipal predecessor company, Badische Anilin und Soda Fabrik (BASF) of Ludwig-
shafen-am-Rhein had, starting early in World War I, been working on processes
for producing synthetic oil and synthetic rubber from coal. These investigations
continued after the formation of Farben and also after the rise of Hitler in 1933.
The Nazi government soon adopted a policy of subsidizing these autarky-oriented
developments.” Thus, on account of government encouragement, the real need for
the synthetics, and the general German scientific-technological pre-eminence of
the time, especially in chemistry and chemical engineering, Germany was sub-
stantially ahead of the rest of the world in these areas.

Synthetic oil was by far the easier of the two problems. Coal is mainly carbon,;
the general principle is that coal treated with hydrogen gas at high pressure and
temperature (“hydrogenation”) resulted in oil. The usual range of chemical prod-
ucts could be made from this oil: dyes, explosives, drugs, etc. Another state of
hydrogenation yielded gasoline. The idea was basically simple, although the proc-
ess was inherently expensive, and most research consisted in a search for the most
effective catalysts. During World War II, there were many synthetic oil plants in
and around Germany; they produced about 75 percent of the oil available to the
Germans; the rest came mainly from Romania.”’

Synthetic rubber was a different matter; the technical problems in developing a
sufficiently economic synthetic rubber suitable for tires were most severe and
were not really resolved until approximately the beginning of the war.

The basic steps in making rubber are first making long chains of molecules of
some sort, polymerization, and then causing these chains to “cross-stitch” — to
join each other at various points — vulcanization. One needed a molecule conge-
nial to polymerization and vulcanization, and it was found that butadiene was par-
ticularly suitable. In the late twenties, it had been found that sodium was an excel-
lent catalyst for polymerization of the butadiene, and consequently the synthetic
rubber that was being made from butadiene with sodium (Na) as catalyst was
called “Buna” rubber. The sodium had been dropped by 1935, but the term
“Buna” was retained. By replacing 25 per cent of the butadiene with styrene,

% Howard, 3, 11-22, 44, 60-62; NMT, vol. 7, 79-80.
ol Craven, 172.
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“Buna-S” rubber, the type particularly suited for tires, was obtained.””

The earliest serious German Buna-S plant, and the largest, was the Schkopau
plant, started in 1937 and completed in 1939. It had a capacity of 6,000 tons per
month. A second plant was started at Hiils in 1938 and was in operation in August
1940; its capacity was 4,000 tons per month. A third plant was started in January
1941 at Ludwigshafen, Farben research headquarters, and it was producing Buna
in March 1943; its capacity was 2,500 tons per month. The fourth, at Auschwitz,
was begun in 1941 and was designed for a capacity of 3,000 tons per month.

During all this plant construction, research on new processes continued, and
the differences in the processes used in the four plants reflected this. All started
from coal, but at Schkopau the butadiene was produced via a classical calcium
carbide-acetylene-butadiene sequence; at Hiils the carbide state was replaced by
one involving hydrocarbon gases. Ludwigshafen reverted to the classical se-
quence, but the superior Reppe process was introduced for the acetylene-
butadiene state. The Buna plant at Auschwitz also used a version of the classical
sequence.”

The reason for the appearance of Auschwitz in this context is very simple:
Auschwitz was a huge industrial operation.

When Germany annexed a large part of Poland after the partitioning of Poland
in 1939 by Germany and Russia, it came into the possession of the great coal
fields of Polish Upper Silesia. It was naturally decided to exploit this, and the pos-
sibilities for a hydrogenation and Buna plant were examined. It was found that the
little town of “Os$wiecim” (population 13,000), translated into German as
“Auschwitz” (Auschwitz had been a duchy of the Habsburg Empire before World
War I), was ideally located, because the three rivers that joined there could pro-
vide the necessary water, while a fourth river for carrying off the waste was
nearby. In addition, Auschwitz was on the southern border of the Silesian coal
fields, the Kattowitz (Katowice) mining region of Poland.”*

In early 1941, it was decided to build a hydrogenation and a Buna plant at
Auschwitz employing both free and prisoner labor. By pure chance, there was al-
ready near the town a partisan POW camp holding 7,000 prisoners (it had for-
merly been a Polish artillery barracks); this camp became the nucleus for expan-
sion via its own enlargement and also the construction of additional camps. It was
quickly transformed into, and remained to the last, a camp for political prisoner-
workers; it is usually referred to as Auschwitz I. The terms “main camp,” “Haupt-
lager,” and “Stammlager” are also sometimes used.”

Sometime in 1941, work had begun on a second camp, Auschwitz II, generally
referred to as Birkenau (German for birch meadow). It was one to one and a half
miles northwest of Auschwitz I and was initially referred to as a POW camp. Part
of it was completed by April 1942; Russian POW labor was used for constructing
the camp. Its functions will be examined at length.

o2 Howard, 35-37.

o3 Dunbrook, 50; Naunton, 107.

% DuBois, 154-155.

% Reitlinger, 110, 128; NO-034 in NMT, vol. 5, 356-358.
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Some 4,000 Jews were moved out of the town to another town to make room
for free labor attached to the industries. On November 16, 1941, it was decided to
build a third camp, generally referred to as Monowitz, three miles east of the town
and close to the Farben plant, for quartering labor working on and in the plant.
Russian POW’s were again used for constructing the camp.”® The relative loca-
tions of the three camps are shown in Fig. 5.”

There was also a large number of smaller camps in the outlying region, most
of them within a radius of 25 miles. These “outer camps,” of which Raisko and
Harmense were two relatively close-in examples, were administered by the
Auschwitz camp administration, and the number has been variously given as 13 to
39, depending upon what is considered a single camp. The smaller or outer camps
were mainly for those who worked at the five blast furnaces or five coal mines.
Monowitz and the collection of all outer camps taken together are sometimes re-
ferred to a Auschwitz III. The collection of all camps, Auschwitz I, Birkenau
(Auschwitz IT) and Auschwitz III, together with the industries which employed
the inmates, is usually what is referred to under the blanket term “Auschwitz.””®

The prisoner population of Auschwitz II was nothing unusual except that there
was a significant number of British POWs.”” The NMT judgment was that the use
of British POWs was not contrary to the Geneva Convention, because the Buna
factory had an ultimate peaceful purpose.'® The Red Cross apparently concurred
because, although it was specifically aware of this situation, it did not mention the
employment of British POWs in its later report on the problems it had encoun-
tered during the war in respect to the use of POWs for war-related work.'""

Typical camp strengths were 20,000 for Auschwitz I, 35,000 for Birkenau (30
to 60 percent women) and 15,000 for Auschwitz IIl. By a wide margin, Ausch-
witz was the largest complex of concentration camps in the German system; in
August 1943, the second largest was Sachsenhausen with a population of
26,500."% There were also many free laborers working and living in the area. For
example, less than thirty per cent of the workers at the Farben plant were in the
“prisoner” category; more that half were free foreign workers who had enlisted
voluntarily for labor and the remaining approximate twenty per cent were ordi-
nary German employees.'”

Auschwitz I was the administrative center for all SS functions at Auschwitz.
These SS functions included the guarding, feeding, clothing, housing, recreation,
and disciplining of the prisoners, and also their medical services. The working
hours at Auschwitz were those standard for the German concentration camps:
eleven hours per day, six days a week, with extra work on Sunday mornings in

% Reitlinger, 114-115; DuBois, 156.
7 Central Commission, Figs. 2, 4; Langbein, 929.
Central Commission, 30; Reitlinger, 492; NO-021 in NMT, vol. 5, 385.
% DuBois, 217-218, 223-227; Reitlinger, 115.
100 NMT, vol. 8, 1183-1184.
191" Red Cross (1947), 92; Red Cross (1948), vol. 1, 546-551.
102" Central Commission, 31; Reitlinger, 123, 492; 1469-PS and NO-021 in NMT, vol. 5, 382, 385.
13 NI-11412-A in NMT, vol. 8, 311-312.
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“emergencies.”'** At Auschwitz there were divers recreational activities: concerts,
cabaret performers, movies and athletic contests. There was even a brothel for the
prisoners, staffed by professionals recruited for the purpose.'® Medical services
receive further comment later on.

The providing of such extensive services naturally meant that companies using
the labor of the prisoners “rented” them from the SS; a 'gypical rate seems to have
been RM 4.00-RM 6.00 ($1.00-$1.50) per day and up.'® Thus, the prisoners were
at the basis of Himmler’s bureaucratic and economic empire, and accordingly this
resource, together with the supporting functions of feeding, clothing, etc. were
jealously guarded. Nevertheless, Farben had been big enough to get a special ar-
rangement for those at Monowitz; it was granted full authority for the care of the
prisoners there and consequently the payments to the SS were reduced. This led to
the expected scraps between the SS and Farben. The SS complained of beatings
and other mistreatment such as unsanitary conditions at the Monowitz hospital.
Also, one-fifth of the people who had been registered at this hospital were dis-
charged by being sent to Birkenau, at which time the Farben appropriations for
their care immediately ceased and they became the responsibility of the SS which,
already wounded by not being accorded its customary rights in regard to employ-
able prisoners, was incensed at receiving in return only the unemployable from
Monowitz. The SS therefore demanded that the Monowitz hospital, which had
only 300 beds, be enlarged, but the reply to this, of course, was that “if they aren’t
strong enough to work, they don’t belong on the factory grounds.”'"’

Birkenau, like Auschwitz I, had a responsibility of supplying labor for Farben
and for sub-contractors to Farben. It also supplied labor for other enterprises such
as the Krupp fuse plant and the Siemens electrical factory. In addition, inmates
worked at clearing demolished structures, draining the marshy land, road con-
struction, operating an establishment for the cultivation of special plants (Raiskog,
building and operating a model farm (Harmense), clothing manufacture, etc.'®
Birkenau had other functions, as will be seen. It will be particularly necessary to
examine the claim that at Birkenau a program of mass killings of Jews via gas
chambers was in operation, the Jews having been transported to Auschwitz pri-
marily for this purpose.'”’

The rough figures given above for camp populations are only illustrative; the
Birkenau figure actually varied a great deal, and in addition, the Birkenau camp
was never completed. The projected capacity of Birkenau seems to have been
200,000 prisoners, while Auschwitz I expanded to a capacity of about 30,000 and
then stabilized."'® Thus, on the basis of seniority and also on account of quartering
the Auschwitz SS administrative offices, Auschwitz I was indeed the “main

14 N0-1290 in NMT, vol. 5, 371.

105 Cohen, 180; Christophersen, 34. See also the discussion of the Dachau brothel in Gun, 38-40.

106 NMT, vol. 9, 121; Central Commission, 37.

7" DuBois, 164, 220-224.

1% DuBois, 141; NMT, vol. 6, 207, 233; NMT, vol. 9, 120; US-WRB (1944), pt. I, 1-2; Christo-
phersen, 23-25.

199" Reitlinger, 115, 157; Hilberg, 565, 574.

10" Central Commission, 31.
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camp,” but Birkenau, designed for the specific requirements of the Auschwitz op-
erations, was clearly intended as the “principal camp” in terms of inmate accom-
modating functions.

While the Auschwitz-Kattowitz region was ideal from a technical point of
view, it was also wretched from a human point of view. The ground was ex-
tremely flat with no means of draining away water in many places; it was dotted
with stagnant ponds which poisoned the air and caused the area to be constantly
muddy. Malaria and typhus were natural, not wartime-created, dangers in this re-
gion; the war conditions greatly aggravated matters. It is said that “motor cars
were disinfected after each journey carrying prisoners or their clothing.”'"!

After 1942, the hydrogenation plant at Auschwitz produced oil and gasoline
and other chemicals, but by the time the camp was evacuated in January 1945, it
had not produced any Buna; it was only at the point of producing acetaldehyde
from acetylene.''? This relative slowness in plant construction was no doubt due
to the initially virgin character of the area, the use of prisoner labor, and the bad
health of many prisoners; the latter had further implications, which will be seen
later in proper context.

I do not know whether the Auschwitz Buna plant was to have been essentially
the same as the Ludwigshafen plant, an improved version of the latter, or a new
generation in Buna plant construction. In any case, if it had been finished, there
would have been no more advanced Buna rubber plant in the world at the time.

"' Central Commission, 27-29; DuBois, 130; Friedman, 33.
2" DuBois, 341; Naunton, 107; Bebb & Wakefield, 945.

72



Chapter 3:
Washington and New York

The Rubber Crisis of 1942

The military situation of the Allied powers in 1942 was superficially a desper-
ate one. After the winter of 1941-1942, the German armies continued their ad-
vance across Russia. The destruction of most of the American Pacific fleet at
Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, had made the Pacific a virtual Japanese lake.
America was suddenly faced with a problem that was, for her, a strange one: lack
of a crucial raw material without which no war effort appeared possible. Japan
controlled what had been the source of ninety per cent of America’s rubber, Ma-
laya and the East Indies, and the source of the other ten per cent, Central and
South America, was hopelessly inadequate.'"

The manner in which America extricated herself from this grave situation will
go down as one of the great ironies of history. America, one would expect, could
not resolve this problem because nobody in America had thought in terms of “au-
tarky.”

Standard Oil of New Jersey had the essentials of the I. G. Farben Buna rubber
process. This was on account of a series of agreements between the two compa-
nies, commencing in 1927, covering technical cooperation and mutual licensing
arrangements. Standard was quite interested in Buna rubber because it could also
be made (more easily) from oil.

The cooperation continued, with the consent of the German government, right
up to the outbreak of war and even, to some extent, after the outbreak of war. The
American side benefited hugely from these arrangements, but the German side got
almost nothing out of them.""*

The outbreak of war in September 1939 between Germany on the one hand
and England and France on the other threw these arrangements between Farben
and Standard into a certain amount of legal confusion, which need not be explored
here. Farben wished to clarify the confusion, and so a meeting was arranged at the
Hague on September 22, at which certain legal arrangements were made. Standard
official Frank A. Howard was puzzled by all of this:'"”

“I could not escape the conviction, however, that the Germans themselves
were the only people who could profit from a military standpoint by leaving
the relations between Standard and the 1. G. in the situation into which the
war had thrown them.”

13 Howard, 4-7, 216; U.S. Special Committee, 24.
"4 Howard, chapters 2-9.
5 Howard, 82-83.
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The arrangements that had been made at the Hague soon proved to be inade-
quate, so it was decided in the spring of 1940 that another meeting was necessary.
Howard saw another motivation for an additional meeting:

“[...] we intended also to ask them to supply some of their detailed designs
of manufacturing equipment and technique for Buna. We hoped that 1. G.
might obtain permission of its government to sell to us the plans for the Buna
polymerization plants they had erected in Germany under the government pro-
gram.”

These hopes were dashed at the conference between Standard and Farben
which finally took place in Basle, Switzerland, in mid-April 1940 during the
German occupation of Norway, which signaled the end of the Sitzkrieg. The new
political conditions arising from the German realization that the situation was a
serious one brought about at the conference the effective termination of the rela-
tions between Farben and Standard. Naturally, Standard got nowhere with its pro-
posals to buy plant designs. However, as Howard explains:

“One other point was very much on our minds. We wanted to make sure, if
possible, that the Germans had not, since the outbreak of the war in Europe,
made any radical change in their Buna manufacturing processes or formulas.
Direct questions were out of order, since the 1. G. men could not discuss any
phase of Germany'’s industrial war effort. But during the settlements of patent
transfers and discussions of license definitions needed to implement the Hague
agreement, we obtained sufficient data to feel sure that all of the fundamentals
of the Buna operation had remained unchanged. This conclusion was later
fully confirmed.”

This was the “last direct contact Standard had with the Germans on Buna rub-
ber.”!'

All American knowledge of the Buna processes, which made the American
war effort possible, came from these relationships with 1. G. Farben, and this is
accepted fact in the rubber industry.''’” Nevertheless, Standard later came under
some rather stupid criticism and even later legal action on account of them.'"®

The sudden unavailability in 1942 of a source of rubber set off a major politi-
cal crisis in the United States. There had been a Buna program in existence since
mid-1940, when the Rubber Reserve Corporation had been created within the Re-
construction Finance Corporation. This agency, headed by Jesse H. Jones, super-
vised the stockpiling of reserve crude rubber and also sponsored the construction
of Buna plants, which started in 1941. However, nobody in authority had foreseen
the complete loss of the Far East rubber, so the synthetic rubber program had been
modest in scope. Consequently, in 1942 there was almost no practical experience
with large scale use of the Farben processes.

The emergency had been realized immediately after the attack on Pearl Har-
bor, because three days later, the U.S. government banned the sale of new auto-
mobile tires for civilian purposes. General rationing of rubber followed quickly.

6 Howard, 104-108.
"7 Naunton, 104.
8 DuBois, 284.
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Early in 1942 it became realized that, if there was to be any American war effort,
a gigantic synthetic rubber industry would have to be created in record time. The
apparently dismal prospects for such an achievement were the cause of some
amount of panic, and naturally, scapegoats were sought. Jesse Jones was a favor-
ite target, and his claim that 300,000 tons of synthetic rubber would be produced
in 1943 and 600,000 tons in 1944 was jeered at (U.S. rubber consumption in 1940
was 648,500 tons). Standard Oil also came in for outrageously unfair abuse by
people who interpreted the Farben-Standard agreements as a conspiracy to retard
synthetic rubber development in the U.S. Harry S. Truman, chairman of a Senate
committee, which investigated war production problems, first became prominent
in connection with the rubber crisis of 1942.

The crisis also set off internal political conflicts. The big oil interests had a
long lead in the production of Buna-S, but the farm bloc was dominant in Con-
gress. Now, Buna can be made not only from coal and oil, but also from alcohol,
an agricultural product. Foreseeing the birth of a major new industry, the farm in-
terests started arguing in favor of making Buna from alcohol (the most expensive
method). They cited the fact that the Russians, also long active in the synthetic
rubber field, started from alcohol. They also produced a Polish refugee who was
supposed to have made some revolutionary invention in connection with making
Buna from alcohol.

There was another political bloc tied up with South American interests, which
proposed subsidies for plantations. There was also a small farm bloc which
pressed for more extensive planting of the guayule plant in the southwest. The ef-
fect of these internal political battles was to generate massive confusion and retard
the progress of the existing U.S. Buna program.

The rubber crisis filled the press in 1942 and was, in fact, the major crisis the
U.S. faced in connection with the war. There was constant lamenting that Ger-
many was well ahead of the U.S. and that the U.S. lacked the vital experience
with the processes that the Germans possessed. Methods being used in Germany
were cited in connection with discussing the prospects of the U.S. program.'"’

The farm bloc’s battle against what it called the “oily interests” achieved a
temporary major success in July 1942, when the Congress passed the weird “Rub-
ber Supply Act of 1942.” The Act would have established a new agency for rub-
ber production, entirely under the control of Congress and outside the domain of
the War Production Board, the Army, the Navy, or any executive agency of the
Government. Of course, the Act also specified that the rubber was to be made
from grain alcohol. President Roosevelt vetoed this bill on August 6 and an-
nounced the appointment of a committee to study the rubber problem and make
some recommendations in regard to the organization of an American synthetic

119" As stated, the rubber crisis “filled the press,” but the following stories seem to summarize the cri-

sis adequately: Business Week (Jan. 31, 1942), 22+; (Mar. 14, 1942), 15+; (May 30, 1942), 15+;
(Jun. 20, 1942), 15+; (Aug. 15, 1942), 15+; (Sep. 19, 1942), 15+; (Dec. 19, 1942), 28+; News-
week (Apr. 6, 1942), 46+; (Apr. 13, 1942), 56+; (June 1, 1942), 46+; (Sep. 21, 1942), 58+; New
York Times (Jan. 11, 1942), sec. 7, 6+; (Jul. 26, 1942), sec. 7, 3+; Fortune (June 1942), 92+; Na-
ture Magazine (May 1942), 233+; Harper's (Dec. 1942), 66+.
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rubber program: “probably the most widely acclaimed action on the domestic
front in the history of the war program.” The members of the committee were Dr.
James D. Conant, President of Harvard, Dr. Karl T. Compton, President of MIT,
and the financier and political leader Bernard M. Baruch, who served as Chair-
man. The committee is normally referred to as the Baruch Committee.'*’

These three men were chosen partially because they were not considered con-
nected with any specific interests in the conflict, and also because of their exper-
tise. The appointment of Baruch as chairman of such a technically oriented group
may seem peculiar at first, but this is not the case. Besides being a man of diverse
talents and important financial, industrial, and political connections, he had
chaired the War Industries Board during World War 1. Moreover, for a period of
more than thirty years, he had been interested in industrial ventures involving
rubber and had independently inventoried, with war requirements in mind,
American rubber stocks in the spring of 1941. As a consequence, he had gotten
into fights with various people, mainly Jesse H. Jones. In addition, unlike the
usual chairman of a “name” Washington ad hoc committee, Baruch threw all his
energy into the work of the Committee. His assistant Sam Lubell also was put to
work on the Committee’s assignment. Even after the issuing of the final report,
Baruch maintained interest: Howard reports that Baruch later expressed a wish to
speak to the Standard people and that a meeting was accordingly held, at which
the major technical-economic problems were discussed.'?'

The work of the Baruch Committee was completed with remarkable speed and
the final report was issued on September 10, 1942; the best explanation for this
speed would appear to be Baruch’s independent prior involvement in the problem.

We must attempt to see this problem as the Committee must have seen it in
1942. Primarily, it was a political problem requiring the reconciliation of the vari-
ous interests contending for the synthetic rubber business. Thus, the final report of
the Committee recommended the creation of a capacity to produce 100,000,000
gallons of additional grain alcohol per year. A second problem involved the lack
of practical American experience with the Buna processes. Technical specifica-
tions were at hand, but there existed many questions on many details and quite a
few alternative versions of the processes.

Thus, in order to accelerate the American synthetic rubber program, the Ba-
ruch Committee saw a need to learn as much as possible of the experiences of
others. It made a specific recommendation that an immediate effort be made to
learn the experiences of the Russians in the production of synthetic rubber and
make use of them in the American program (Jesse Jones had been charged with
overlooking this possibility). The effort was made but yielded no results of any
value.'? Under such conditions it is necessary to assume that somebody in Amer-
ica looked into new developments in Germany in as close detail as possible at the
time, and the new German development in rubber in 1942 was Auschwitz, the site
of the most advanced developments in Buna rubber at that time.

120 Naunton, 108; Howard, 210-213.
121 Howard, 221-222; Coit, 120-121, 162-222, 513-520.
2 Howard, 227-228; U.S. Special Committee, 13, 18, 50-51; Dunbrook, 40-46.

76



Chapter 3: Washington and New York

Auschwitz of Great Interest to Americans

The point to be made in our discussion of the American rubber crisis of 1942
is that American intelligence must have known what was going on at Auschwitz
in that year.

Clearly, it would be delightful if we could learn exactly what U.S. military in-
telligence knew about events in and around Germany during the war. However,
intelligence agencies are notoriously reluctant to release such information, even
many years after the events in question. With respect to World War II intelligence
operations, a few sensational episodes are known, but on the whole, the content of
Allied intelligence information has not been divulged. The intelligence relative to
Auschwitz will be a long, long time in being made public, if it is ever made pub-
lic.

In attempting to estimate, therefore, what information was possessed by Allied
intelligence agencies, one must proceed very much on the basis of common sense.
The difficulty is that my common sense may differ very much from another’s, and
that agreement on such matters may be most difficult to arrive at. Now, my com-
mon sense tells me that, quite apart from the rubber crisis, Allied intelligence
would have known, in mid-1942, what was happening at the largest German con-
centration camp. If additionally, as every version of the extermination legend as-
serts, there had been anything as outré as a program of systematic extermination
of Jews at Auschwitz in the summer of 1942, then my common sense tells me that
it is a certainty that U.S. military intelligence would have known about it.

If another’s common sense does not lead him to the same conclusion, it is very
doubtful that the disagreement could be settled by discussion. However, with
Auschwitz we have the fact that it was of interest not only as a large concentration
camp (and also, if the extermination claims were correct, an extermination camp),
but also as the site of the most advanced developments in synthetic rubber. In
1942, no location in the German Reich was of greater interest, and no industrial
operations of greater strategic importance. Therefore, if one wishes to claim that
U.S. (or the closely related British) intelligence did not know what was happening
at Auschwitz in the summer of 1942, then I am afraid that one must logically
claim the complete ignorance and incompetence of these intelligence agencies.

Auschwitz was of the greatest interest to the U.S. in mid-1942 on account of
its enormous technological significance. Above we saw Howard’s great interest,
in 1940, in any information about possible new developments that could be ob-
tained directly or inferred indirectly. A similar interest on the part of the Ameri-
cans in 1942 must be assumed. It is a certainty that intelligence had developed the
basic facts about the industry at Auschwitz: a plant for hydrogenation and other
chemical processes aimed at producing gasoline and rubber. It has been seen that
each one of the German Buna rubber plants employed processes differing in im-
portant details from the others and that the Auschwitz processes were to be the
beneficiary of accumulated experiences with several different versions. We are
thus justified in assuming, on account of the peculiar urgency of the rubber prob-
lem and the peculiar position of Auschwitz relative to this urgency, that the intel-
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ligence had gone into unusual detail in regard to Auschwitz, probably going over
every inch via aerial photographic intelligence, and that the assembled informa-
tion was available to various people in the U.S. The information probably in-
cluded many details not greatly relevant to the rubber problem, such as the em-
ployment of prisoner and POW labor at Auschwitz.

Although concealment of information has been the rule in the area of military
intelligence, we can nevertheless assume that the means of gathering intelligence
data on Auschwitz included more or less conventional methods: exploitation of
contacts with commercial representatives of Farben who were stationed in neutral
countries (Portugal, Spain, Turkey, Sweden, Switzerland), aerial photographic in-
telligence (aircraft used for such purposes may always have longer ranges than
bombers on account of their lack of armaments), general knowledge of German
industrial and economic matters, spies and informers in German industry and in
the German government (e.g. Admiral Canaris), and informers in the employ of
advantageously situated neutral organizations (such as the Swiss and Swedish dip-
lomatic corps and also firms doing business in Germany). Although all of these
means no doubt played a role, photographic intelligence was probably particularly
important; the technology of photographic intelligence had attained a respectable
level in 1942 so that a “you are there” effect was possible in blown-up aerial pho-
tos of even heavily defended positions. There were other channels of information,
whose nature and existence are of some particular importance here and which will
be discussed in due course.

Not being sufficiently acquainted with the technical problems that were asso-
ciated with Buna at the time, we have no idea what information the Americans
might have been after and how it could be inferred from the intelligence data, any
more than we have an understanding of what questions were on the minds of the
Standard people at the Basle meeting and how partial answers could be inferred
from the legal ritual that took place at that meeting. We can, however, offer one
possibility by way of example without any claim that such was the specific case.

We have seen that the first German Buna plant at Schkopau employed a car-
bide-acetylene-butadiene process and that at the Hiils plant the process was hy-
drocarbons-acetylene-butadiene. The new plant at Ludwigshafen, nearing comple-
tion when the Baruch Committee was meeting, had reverted to making the acety-
lene from carbide and had modernized the acetylene to butadiene stage. Because
either a carbide or a hydrocarbons process was potentially applicable to the proc-
esses to be employed in the U.S. (which could have started from oil or grain alco-
hol), it was no doubt of great interest whether Auschwitz was to employ a carbide
process (as was the case), suggesting abandonment of the hydrocarbons version
on the basis of the Hiils experience, or was to employ a hydrocarbons or other
process, suggesting failure to make a commitment to carbide processes.

Moreover, the carbide vs. hydrocarbons question could probably be answered
on the basis of aerial intelligence, if necessary.

What was the ultimate value, in terms of the problems the Americans faced, of
the detailed information about contemporary German Buna developments, which,
we feel certain, they examined closely approximately in middle-late 1942? Per-
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haps none, as was the case with most categories of information; it is just that you
don’t miss a bet in the sort of situation in which the Americans found themselves
regarding rubber in 1942,

Consideration of technical matters has been necessary here because it was in a
technical context that Auschwitz first became prominent in Washington. How-
ever, it is not the technical matters that have been our objective here but simply
the fact of prominence, or heavy exposure, in U.S. inner circles in the summer of
1942; this is the only point relevant to our subject. We have no direct evidence of
this, but we have reviewed reasons why such exposure may be assumed. It re-
mains to show that events at Auschwitz at this time were such as to suggest an
“extermination factory” charge to those in the inner political circles, who were
alert to the appearance of semi-factual bases for atrocity stories. The events at
Auschwitz in late 1942 — early 1943 will be covered in a second context in the
next chapter and hence are not annotated here.

The eeriest aspect that Auschwitz must have presented while the Baruch
Committee was meeting was that of the site of a ghost factory; starting around
August 1, the Buna plant had been closed. There was no activity to be seen except
possibly an occasional watchman. This must have excited great curiosity and no
doubt special steps were taken to find out what was going on.

Our ugly old friend typhus was at Auschwitz; an epidemic had shut down the
Buna plant for two months, so that work did not resume until late September. By
this time, the number of dead must have been a few thousand, although there is a
large degree of uncertainty here. The German policy was to cremate the bodies of
camp inmates who died, but the epidemic caught the Auschwitz authorities with
inadequate crematory facilities. There was a small crematory at Auschwitz I, but
more extensive facilities at Birkenau, plans for which existed in January 1942,
were still under construction in 1942, and the first complete new unit, consisting
of fifteen conventional crematory muffles, was not available until March 1943. It
appears that many of the victims of the epidemic were immediately cremated in
pits, but it is possible that many were buried, at least temporarily. That the Ger-
mans were constructing crematories at Birkenau was probably evident to contin-
ued Allied surveillance (which we assume existed) in the autumn of 1942. The
buildings housing the Birkenau ovens had certain halls, rooms, or cellars, which
the accusations say were the “gas chambers.”

Several books offer versions of Fig. 7, which is claimed to be a photograph of
gassed victims about to be burned in pits, taken by an Auschwitz inmate in
1944.'2 We have no way of knowing when, where, or by whom it was taken.
However, such scenes were common at Auschwitz in 1942, when the camp pre-
sumably attained some prominence in Allied intelligence. Indeed, the poor quality
of the picture caused some initial speculation on my part that it is an aerial intelli-
gence photograph; the low angle does not rule out the possibility because such
angles were frequently attained even with highly defended positions.'** Also, the

2 The photograph appears in Schoenberner, 162 (206 in paperback), and in Central Commission,
Fig. 39.
124 C.B. Smith, 166-171 and photographs.
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versions | examined in the various books do not have the border material which
tends to support the claim that it was taken on the ground. Our Fig. 7 is repro-
duced from a print obtained in 1973 from the museum operated by the Polish
government at Auschwitz, and there remain a number of mysteries concerning it.
The version reproduced here is the only one, so far as I know, that is not obvi-
ously falsified to some extent.'”> However, such an observation does not settle the
matter because of the strange fact that the falsified (or, at least, retouched) ver-
sions display more apparently genuine background detail (e.g. the fence and
trees).

In any case, Birkenau was, in a very real sense, a “death camp;” dead, dying
and sick people were sent there and, after the crematories were built, the dead
were disposed of in them. If one is to claim an “extermination camp” when there
is none, what better choice is there but a “death camp™?

While the preceding adequately suggests how the Auschwitz lie originated, it
is not relevant to the circumstances, under which the more general extermination
legend originated. The claims of exterminations of Jews have their origin not in
Allied intelligence information but in the operations of the World Jewish Con-
gress, whose leaders were at first either unconcerned with, or uninformed about,
the facts pertaining to Auschwitz.

In this connection one must reject two possible fallacious expectations. The
first is that Allied propaganda would strive to maximize Auschwitz propaganda
after it was realized that the propaganda possibilities were excellent. The second
is that the claims made in the Allied propaganda relative to Auschwitz would be
almost completely devoid of real fact.

The second fallacious expectation is that American propaganda relative to
Auschwitz would be almost free of fact. We have indicated already that this
should not be expected. Washington had excellent and accurate information about
Auschwitz, as it had about all important phases of German industrial activity, and
it has been remarked above that the real facts about Birkenau seemed to invite dis-
tortion of interpretation.

If, as is claimed here, there was no German extermination program, but certain
propagandists in the U.S. wished the acceptance of the thesis that there was, it
would have been a most serious blunder for the propagandists to give maximum
emphasis to Auschwitz or any other place as an alleged extermination camp, for
this would amount to making a charge that the Germans could answer. If high
U.S. officials, such as Roosevelt or his cabinet members, had made specific re-
marks about exterminations, naming sites where exterminations were taking place
under circumstances where their remarks received the wide publicity normally
given to public statements by officials of their rank, then both the Germans and
the Allies would have been put on the spot on the question, and the truth would
not have been long in coming out. On the contrary, as we shall see in Chapter 5,
the first period, in which there was a persistence of references to Auschwitz as an

13 Editor’s note: There are some reservations about the authenticity of this picture, see Udo Wal-
endy, “Do Photographs Prove the NS Extermination of the Jews?,” in G. Rudolf, Dissecting the
Holocaust, pp. 253f.
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extermination camp, appearing even under obscure circumstances, was immedi-
ately after D-Day (June 6, 1944), when nobody was paying any attention to such
stories. Later in the summer of 1944, the emphasis shifted to the Lublin camp,
which the Russians had just captured. The first reference to emerge from a U.S.
government source that was high enough so that it could not be ignored, and
which charged exterminations at Auschwitz, came in late November 1944, after
the exterminations are supposed to have been terminated.'*® Otherwise, people
such as Roosevelt and Churchill and their ministers spoke only in very general
moralistic terms about exterminations. It is only if one believed there actually
were exterminations taking place at Auschwitz, and one wanted to stop them, that
one would have made a specific charge concerning Auschwitz, to which the Ger-
mans would have felt obliged to respond. No such challenge ever materialized.
Despite the fact that in all versions of the extermination legend the Auschwitz ex-
terminations had certainly started by the late summer of 1942, and despite the fact
that U.S. military intelligence must have known whatever it was that was going on
at Auschwitz at that time, no specific extermination charges came from any high
source until much later.

The First ‘Extermination’ Claims and Washington

The first “inside” events relative to the extermination propaganda were in the
context of a conflict involving the U.S. State and Treasury Departments and the
World Jewish Congress (and American Jewish Congress), headed by Rabbi
Stephen S. Wise. The prominent characters in the story are Treasury Secretary
Morgenthau, later the nominal author of the notorious “Morgenthau Plan” for the
despoliation of Germany, Secretary of State Cordell Hull and Undersecretary of
State Sumner Welles, who were mildly reluctant to be carried along by the propa-
ganda, and Assistant Secretary of State J. Breckenridge Long, who was very resis-
tant to the propaganda. Also involved are the World Jewish Congress representa-
tives in Switzerland, Gerhard Riegner and Professor Paul Guggenheim, who
transmitted stories of supposedly European origin to Wise or to other persons in
the U.S., notably to the State Department through the U.S. Ambassador to Swit-
zerland, Leland Harrison, or through the U.S. Consul in Geneva, Paul C. Squire.
The principal work that has set forth the events surrounding the birth of the ex-
termination legend is Arthur D. Morse’s While Six Million Died, a book which is
supplemented to some extent by Henry L. Feingold’s The Politics of Rescue. Ad-
ditional material had been contributed by post-war accounts given by Morgen-
thau, historians J. M. Blum and Anthony Kubek (in interpreting Morgenthau’s
papers, the latter for the U.S. Senate publication Morgenthau Diary), historian F.
L. Israel (in summarizing the papers of J. Breckenridge Long), and J. DuBois,
who was at first Chief Counsel of the Treasury’s Foreign Funds Control, involved
in these matters chiefly in connection with efforts to extend assistance to refu-

12 Hilberg, 631; Reitlinger, 493-495.
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gees.

The first extermination claim appears to have been made by the London sec-
tion of the World Jewish Congress in June 1942. It was claimed that one million
Jews had been killed in some undesignated and unlocated “vast slaughterhouse for
Jews” which had been established in Eastern Europe. The only attempt to provide
evidence for this claim was a remark that the Polish government in exile in Lon-
don had received confirming information. The allegation was carried in the New
York Times in a story that will be reviewed below.

The evidence for this London claim was obviously too flimsy to serve as effec-
tive propaganda, so an effort was made to improve matters slightly. On August 8,
1942, Riegner and Guggenheim approached the U.S. Consulate in Geneva, which
had been cooperating with the World Jewish Congress to the extent of allowing it
to use diplomatic channels for messages, with a story that some anonymous Ger-
man industrialist had informed them that he had learned of a decision to kill all
non-Soviet Jews under German control. Discussions, which the industrialist had
overheard, were being held in the Fithrer’s Headquarters regarding the methods to
be employed. One method under discussion was gassing with Prussic acid (hy-
drogen cyanide gas) after the Jews had been concentrated at camps in Eastern
Europe. This story was forwarded to Washington by the Consulate via U.S. dip-
lomatic channels and to London via British diplomatic channels. The “industrial-
ist” has remained anonymous to this day.

When the U.S. State Department received the message, it was evaluated and it
was decided that:

“[...] it does not appear advisable in view of the [...] fantastic nature of
the allegations and the impossibility of our being of any assistance if such ac-
tion were taken, to transmit the information to Dr. Wise as suggested.”

The message was accordingly suppressed, but Wise learned of its contents
anyway. It is said that he learned from London, but it is also possible that he had
composed the message in the first place and learned of its transmission and sup-
pression through his various connections.

Wise immediately contacted Welles, who had approved the decision to sup-
press, in order to protest the State Department’s handling of the matter. Welles re-
plied that the “information” was somewhat too unsubstantiated to be taken seri-
ously and that some confirmation should be obtained before any public an-
nouncement was made. Welles then instructed the U.S. representative in the Vati-
can to attempt to check the allegations with Vatican sources. At that time, almost
nobody in Washington pretended to take these claims seriously, and even Presi-
dent Roosevelt assured Justice Felix Frankfurter that the Jews who had been de-
ported to the East were merely being used to help build fortifications.

In September 1942, two anonymous persons showed up in Geneva claiming to

'*" Unless otherwise noted, our treatment of the early extermination propaganda, related develop-
ments in Washington and New York, and the conflicts between the State Department, on one
hand, and Zionists and the Treasury Department on the other, and the events leading up to the es-
tablishment of the War Refugee Board, is based on Morse, 3-99; Feingold, 167-247; DuBois,
183-189; Blum, 207-227; Israel; 173-174, 216-217, 306-337; Morgenthau.
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have escaped from German controlled areas. They reported the extermination of
Polish Jews and the utilization of the Jewish corpses for the manufacture of fertil-
izer. This was forwarded to Washington through diplomatic channels, and again
an attempt was made to get confirmation by the Vatican (which had thus far ig-
nored the first request for confirmation). At about the same time, Wise had re-
ceived a message from a World Jewish Congress official in Europe reporting on
the “manufacture of soap and artificial fertilizer” from Jewish corpses.

In late September 1942, Riegner came forward with two new documents. The
first had, he said, been prepared by an (anonymous, naturally) officer attached to
the German High Command and had reached Riegner through several intermedi-
aries. The anonymous officer claimed that there were at least two factories in exis-
tence which were manufacturing soap, glue, and lubricants from Jewish corpses
and that it had been determined that each Jewish corpse was worth 50 Reich-
marks. The second document consisted of two coded letters that had, it was said,
been written by a Swiss Jew resident in Warsaw. The anonymous Jew reported
wholesale exterminations of Warsaw Jews deported to the East. All of these mes-
sages were forwarded to Washington and then filed.

In passing we should note the resemblance of such claims to World War I
propaganda and the appalling lack of originality and creativity on the part of the
World Jewish Congress. It scarcely requires remarking that the soap and glue fac-
tories were a very transient propaganda phenomenon and that the only similar
charges made at Nuremberg were made by the Russians. These charges were
largely ignored even then, and nobody, to my knowledge, has since come forward
with the locations of these factories, the identities of the persons who managed
them, or similar information. Reitlinger does not claim the existence of such fac-
tories, and Hilberg (page 624) does not believe they existed.

On October 10, the Vatican finally informed the U.S. representatives that it
had been unable to confirm the many reports it had heard of severe measures
against the Jews.

On October 22, Riegner met with Ambassador Harrison and presented him
with more of the same sort of “evidence,” this time reporting “information” pro-
vided by yet another anonymous German informant (whose name, however, is
said to have been presented to Harrison in a sealed envelope and to have been
kept secret from everybody but the Office of Strategic Services, OSS) and also an
anonymous official of the International Red Cross. Harrison forwarded this mate-
rial to Washington, but also wrote two personal letters to Welles in late October,
claiming that he knew the name of the German industrialist and also claiming that
the anonymous Red Cross official was Carl Jacob Burckhardt, the distinguished
Voltaire-Goethe scholar who was prominent in the International Red Cross during
the war. He enclosed an affidavit that Guggenheim had deposed before Squire on
October 29, in which Guggenheim claimed that he had obtained from an anony-
mous German informant information confirming Riegner’s claims. The anony-
mous German informant had gotten his information from an anonymous official
of the German Foreign Ministry and from an anonymous official of the German
Ministry of War. Moreover, an anonymous Swiss informant, resident in Belgrade,
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had also given information to Guggenheim supporting the claims.

In order to confirm the claims, Squire arranged an interview with Burckhardt,
which took place in Geneva on November 7. On November 9, Squire communi-
cated to Harrison his memorandum on the interview, in which he had recorded
that Burckhardt’s information was that Hitler had signed an order that before the
end of 1942 Germany must be free of all Jews. Squire’s account of the interview
explains:'®®

“I then asked him whether the word extermination, or its equivalent, was
employed, to which he replied that the words must be Juden-frei (free of Jews)
were utilized. He then made it clear that since there is no place to send these
Jews and since the territory must be cleared of this race, it is obvious what the
net result would be.”

This, the report of an ambiguous remark, made by an imperfectly informed
Swiss citizen, reported by an intermediary who was friendly to the World Jewish
Congress and eager to discover a sinister interpretation to such facts as were
available, is as solid as this “evidence” ever got. To my knowledge, Burckhardt
never spoke out publicly, during or after the war, in connection with these mat-
ters. He answered some written questions, which were put to him by Kaltenbrun-
ner’s defense during the IMT trial, but these questions relating to Kaltenbrunner’s
efforts to permit the Red Cross to enter the German camps toward the end of the
war were not relevant to our subject. Nobody asked Burckhardt about extermina-
tions.'?

Late in November 1942, the State Department received “information” from an
anonymous Vatican source consisting of a three page description, in French, of
events allegedly transpiring in Poland. The document is unsigned, and the only
sort of endorsement is a handwritten notation, “from Mr. F. at Vatican City,”
which appears in an unknown hand on the first page. The document reports, infer
alia:'*

“Farms for the breeding of human beings are being organized to which
women and girls are brought for the purpose of being made mothers of chil-
dren who are then taken from them to be raised in Nazi establishments. |...]
Mass execution of Jews continues. |...] They are killed by poison gas in cham-
bers especially prepared for that purpose (often in railway cars) and by ma-
chine gun fire, following which the dead and the dying are both covered with
earth. [...] Reports are being circulated to the effect that the Germans are
making use of their corpses in plants manufacturing chemical products (soap
making factories).”

128 Guggenheim’s affidavit is in dispatch no. 49 of October 29, 1942, of the retired files of the U.S.

Consulate, Geneva, which are in the archives of the Foreign Affairs Document and Reference
Center, Department of State, Washington. Squire’s memorandum of his interview with Burck-
hardt is attached to Squire’s personal letter of November 9, 1942 to Harrison, which is in the
same file.

The question put to Burckhardt and his answers are IMT document Kaltenbrunner 3, IMT Vol.
40, p. 306.

The statement of the “Vatican source” is in the U.S. National Archives as Department of State file
740.00116 EW/726.
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During the late summer and autumn of 1942, Wise had continuously cam-
paigned for the Allied governments to take a public position directly condemning
the alleged exterminations of Jews in Europe. On December 8, 1942, Wise led a
delegation to the White House and presented to President Roosevelt a twenty-
page document entitled Blue Print for Extermination, which was based on the sort
of “information” we have reviewed. Related Jewish pressures finally brought ca-
pitulation to Wise on the mythical exterminations, and on December 17, 1942, the
Allies, led by Washington, issued a statement condemning the exterminations. A
related statement, released two days later, claimed exterminations at Belzec and at
Chelmno, but Auschwitz was not mentioned (the relevant news stories are re-
viewed below).

Despite this public declaration, the group headed by J. Breckenridge Long
continued to resist the propaganda. On January 19, 1943, Riegner gave Harrison
the “information” that “in one place in Poland 6,000 Jews are killed daily.” On
January 21, Harrison communicated this material to the State Department and also
to certain unspecified “private Jewish agencies,” apparently meaning Wise. The
message was merely filed, and the Department made no public mention of it. For
a time, the private Jewish agencies were also silent about the message. On Febru-
ary 10, Long’s group took a further step in suppression of such propaganda. In a
message signed by Welles (who is said to have not read the message) and with
particular reference to Harrison’s cable of January 21, it instructed Harrison:

“in the future, reports submitted to you for transmission to private persons
in the United States should not be accepted unless extraordinary circum-
stances make such action advisable. It is felt that by sending such private mes-
sages which circumvent neutral countries’ censorship we risk the possibility
that neutral countries might find it necessary to take steps to curtail or abolish
our official secret means of communication.”

Finally, on February 14, the New York Times published the story (see below).
For explanation of the delay of four weeks in publishing the story, despite its be-
ing received by “private Jewish agencies” on January 21, and despite the evident
policy of publishing the unsupported claims of such agencies, we can only conjec-
ture that certain unknown persons were hoping that the State Department, given
the precedent of the declaration of December 17, would release the “information”
so as to confer a greater credibility than would have been granted to the story as it
eventually appeared: a claim indistinguishable in terms of authority from the av-
erage sort of atrocity claim.

The Treasury (which, because of Morgenthau’s long crusade against Germany,
had repeatedly interfered in the conduct of foreign affairs since at least 1936'")
was soon to come into conflict with State over this suppression. A second and
more substantial basis for conflict between the two Departments was also estab-
lished in February 1943. It was learned that the Romanian government was pre-
pared to transfer 70,000 Jews to Palestine on Romanian ships bearing Vatican in-
signia (it is unlikely that the Romanians really cared where the Jews were sent, so

B Hull, 471-473.

85



Arthur R. Butz, The Hoax of the Twentieth Century

I assume that the Palestine destination must have been somehow specified by the
Zionists involved in the formulation of the proposals). An important condition
was specified by “officials who were in charge in Romania of Jewish interests.” A
cost of 250 pounds (about $1200) per capita was specified. There were other dif-
ficulties. The British policy at the time was not to antagonize the Arabs, especially
in view of the potentially catastrophic consequences of an Arab uprising in war-
time, and thus the British at first refused to consider the admission of so many
Jews to Palestine. The British took the position that, if such Jews were to be taken
out of Europe, the U.S. should provide camps in North Africa for them. In addi-
tion, both the British Foreign Office and the U.S. State Department took the posi-
tion that there would inevitably be spies in such a large group of people, that the
logistical problems involved in transporting and accommodating such numbers
were formidable, and that the money demanded might fall into the hands of the
enemy (who valued Allied currency for various purposes). The Treasury was ea-
ger to get into the business of aiding Jewish refugees, and thus, it sought to over-
come such objections. By July 1943, there was said to be bribe money demanded
for the Romanian Jews, $170,000, and the Treasury and the World Jewish Con-
gress proposed that Romanian Jewish businessmen could produce the bribe
money, if they could be reimbursed after the war with money to be held in escrow
in Switzerland. However, the British objections to admitting Jews to Palestine
stood, and efforts to circumvent them by proposing other destinations for the Jews
ran into the opposition of various candidate countries and also into U.S. immigra-
tion laws.

The State Department, especially J. Breckenridge Long and associates, consid-
ered all the talk about “exterminations” to be just wartime propaganda in the same
spirit as the stories invented during World War 1. They were, after all, continually
considering proposals to move these exterminated people out of Europe. As late
as January 1944, the Department was taking steps to encourage Jews to leave Po-
land for Hungary. Long wrote that one danger in supporting the proposals of Wise
was that it “may lend color to the charges of Hitler that we are fighting this war on
account of and at the instigation and direction of our Jewish citizens.” State con-
sidered the whole project pointless and, indeed, in conflict with the requirements
of an optimum war effort. Long wrote that:

“Wise always assumes such a sanctimonious air and pleads for the ‘intel-
lectuals and brave spirits, refugees from the tortures of the dictators’ or words
to that effect. Of course only an infinitesimal fraction of the immigrants are of
that category — and some are certainly German agents. |...] I did not allude to
the Navemar — en route from Lisbon to Havana and New York — a freight boat,
passenger accommodations for 15 and 1200 poor Jews above and below decks
with no sanitary arrangements, no service, no kitchen facilities, at from 3700
to 81500 apiece, 4 dead before reaching Bermuda, 6 hospitalized there, 1 of
which died, victims of the greed of their fellows — not of Germany or the
United States policy. The vessel is a menace to the health of any port where it
stops and a shame to the human greed which makes it possible. But I did not
allude to it in reply to Rabbi Wise. Each one of these men hates me. I am to
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them the embodiment of a nemesis. They each and all believe every person,

everywhere, has a right to come to the United States. I believe nobody, any-

where has a right to enter the United States unless the United States desires.”

The State Department either procrastinated on the matter or actively sabotaged
the proposed project. At the end of the summer of 1943, it was learned that 6,000
Jewish children could be taken out of France, and this possibility got involved in
the problem.

The people from the Treasury and the World Jewish Congress kept pressing
for the proposed projects and continually asserted, with apparent complete seri-
ousness, that the only alternative was the death of the people in question at the
hands of Hitler. It was even openly charged that the failure to approve the projects
was “acquiescence of this Government in the murder of the Jews.” Pressure was
also put on the British by various people. Long had become a whipping boy both
publicly and within government circles, and he wrote bitterly that

“the Jewish agitation depends on attacking some individual. Otherwise
they would have no publicity. So for the time being I am the bull’s eye.”

As a result of this campaign, Wise and Morgenthau achieved a breakthrough in
December 1943, when arrangements were finally made for the evacuation of Ro-
manian Jews and money was put into a Swiss account controlled by Riegner and
the U.S. Treasury. Moreover, in December 1943, Romania put out peace feelers
and was assured it would be treated well if it treated its Jews well; Romania im-
mediately decided to repatriate Jews it had resettled by the Sea of Azov in Russia.

This Morgenthau victory had been achieved at a December 20 meeting of
Hull, Long, Morgenthau, and John Pehle, chief of the Treasury’s Foreign Funds
Control. Morgenthau had evidently decided on a showdown with State over the
entire matter, for at that meeting he casually requested a copy of the complete text
of the February 10 message from Welles to Harrison (the suppression instruction).
The State Department complied, but deleted the reference to Harrison’s message
of January 21, thereby causing the message of February 10 to appear utterly rou-
tine. In thus editing the message, State was obviously unaware that the complete
contents of this correspondence had already been leaked to DuBois in the Treas-
ury by Donald Hiss of the State Department (brother of Alger Hiss and later iden-
tified in Bentley-Chambers testimony as a Communist, although he denied it),
who had acquired copies of the messages only with great difficulty and, in com-
plying with DuBois’ request, nevertheless cautioned the latter that the messages
werel;;none of Treasury’s business” and that Hiss could lose his job for the
leak.

When Morgenthau received the edited message, he knew that he had another
weapon to use against Long and associates, and thus, he brought on a collision by
charging editing of the message and demanding to see the unedited files, which
were produced shortly later, exposing State’s clumsy attempt at concealment. The
State Department people were now very much on the defensive, and further ex-
amination of the State Department files (which the Treasury was now in a position

B2 Morgenthau Diary, 6.
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to insist on) revealed that, in response to a request by Wise, Welles had cabled
Harrison in April to meet with Riegner and transmit new information that Riegner
was supposed to have obtained. The confused Harrison did as requested
(Riegner’s information had to do with proposals to assist Jewish refugees in
France and Romania) and also remarked to Welles that such material should not
be subjected to the restriction imposed by the February 10 message.

Morgenthau was victorious in the State-Treasury collision; Roosevelt, drawn
into the issue, sided with him by establishing in January 1944 the so-called War
Refugee Board consisting of Morgenthau, Hull, and Secretary of War Stimson.
However, the executive director was “Morgenthau’s fair haired boy,” John Pehle,
and Josiah DuBois was the general counsel. It was thus Morgenthau’s Board. The
WRB naturally acquired the powers that had been held by the three Government
Departments that were involved in the proposed projects for taking Jews out of
Europe. Thus, the State Department became committed to appointing special atta-
chés with diplomatic status on the recommendation of the Board (the UNRRA —
United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration — set up the 3previous
November, was to have a similar function but only after the war ended)."

In order to completely grasp the nature of its development and its import in
terms of our subject, we should go beyond noting the obvious fact that the WRB
was to serve, to a great extent, simply as an instrument of the World Jewish Con-
gress and other Zionist organizations. The Communist apparatus was also through
one of the directors involved, for the person to whom Morgenthau had delegated
all of the Treasury’s powers in the areas relevant to the WRB was Harry Dexter
White, later exposed as a Soviet agent. White became a member of Morgenthau’s
inner circle in the spring of 1938. A week after Pearl Harbor, Morgenthau an-
nounced that “on and after this date, Mr. Harry D. White, Assistant to the Secre-
tary, will assume full responsibility for all matters with which the Treasury De-
partment has to deal having a bearing on foreign relations [...].” The extreme
generality of the wording of this order, especially the phrase “having a bearing
on,” were to create grand opportunities for White in the years ahead. In early
1943, Morgenthau amplified White’s responsibilities:

“Effective this date, I would like you to take supervision over and assume
full responsibility for Treasury’s participation in all economic and financial
matters [...] in connection with the operations of the Army and Navy and the
civilian affairs in the foreign areas in which our Armed Forces are operating
or are likely to operate. This will, of course, include general liaison with the
State Department, Army and Navy, and other departments or agencies and
representatives of foreign governments on these matters.”

White, who became an Assistant Secretary of the Treasury in early 1945, took
full advantage of these powers, especially in connection with occupation policy in
Germany. It is also evident that, because the WRB was to a large degree an arm of
the Treasury, its operations fell into White’s domain. It is also worth remarking
that the general counsel of the WRB, DuBois, was “closely associated” with the

133 New York Times (Jan. 22, 1943), 6; (May 13, 1943), 8; (Sep. 5, 1943), 7; (Sep. 6, 1943), 7.23,
1944), 11.
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Communist agent William L. Ullmann and was also a witness of White’s will."**

Long had mixed and, as it developed, prescient thoughts about the implications
of these developments:

“[...] it will be only a few more days now before I relinquish jurisdiction in
connection with refugees and let somebody else have the fun. And it has been a
heavy responsibility — domestic as well as foreign, because there are 5 million
Jews in the country, of whom 4 million are concentrated in and around New
York City. And we have no Arab or Moslem population, but we do have in-
creasingly important commercial interests — principally oil — in the Moslem
countries. In addition our ally England has hardly any Jewish citizenship but a
very large political interest in the Near East. So our policy is increasingly
based in part — a large part — on a domestic situation, while England’s is
based entirely on a foreign affairs base — and the two are hard to reconcile
[...] it is good news for me [...] this ensures me staying out. What they can do
that I have not done I cannot imagine.”

Long miscalculated on the last point, for the WRB eventually did a consider-
able amount of Jew relocation, and its acts on behalf of refugees are of great im-
portance in this book and are discussed in Chapter 7. In the final weeks of the
war, it also aided concentration camp inmates through the Red Cross."*® As an in-
strument of Wise and other Zionists, the WRB also did considerable propagandiz-
ing,"*® and its most consequential propaganda achievement was a booklet, Ger-
man Extermination Camps: Auschwitz and Birkenau, Executive Office of the
President, Washington, November 1944. The booklet is hereafter referred to as
the WRB report.

The WRB report constituted the formal birth of the “official” thesis of exter-
minations via gas chamber at Auschwitz. In it all of the essentials and many of the
details of the later Auschwitz hoax are found. The Nuremberg charges grew out of
the WRB report. There does not seem to have been any particularly strong reac-
tion, one way or the other, to the WRB report at the time that it was issued. How-
ever, an American journalist, Oswald F. Schuette, wrote a critical letter to Stim-
son lg(;ne of the signers of the report), but Schuette did not get a satisfactory re-
ply.

Of course, the WRB report failed to change the opinions of the State Depart-
ment people who had scoffed at the extermination propaganda from the very be-
ginning. In private with DuBois, they were blunt in their opinion of the WRB re-
port:

“Stuff like this has been coming from Bern ever since 1942. [...] Don’t for-
get, this is a Jew telling about the Jews. [...] This is just a campaign by that
Jew Morgenthau and his Jewish assistants.”

The WRB report was said to have been transmitted from Bern to Washington.
The report will be discussed in depth after we have surveyed a key part of the

Morgenthau Diary, 6-9.

33 DuBois, 198-199; Red Cross (1947), 20, 23, 59-60; US-WRB (1945), 9-10, 56-61.
16 US-WRB (1945), 45-56.

7 Morgenthau Diary, 805-810; Aretz, 366-368.
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wartime propaganda in its public aspect. First, however, we should point out that
some otherwise keen observers misinterpret the role of Auschwitz in the extermi-
nation legend. The distinguished American ;oumalist and historian Harry Elmer
Barnes wrote in 1967 that the extermination'®

“[...] camps were first presented as those in Germany, such as Dachau,

Belsen, Buchenwald, Sachsenhausen, and Dora, but it was demonstrated that

there had been no systematic extermination in those camps. Attention was then

moved on to Auschwitz, Treblinka, Belzec, Chelmno, Jonowska, Tarnow,

Ravensbruck, Mauthausen, Brezeznia, and Birkenau, which does not exhaust

the list that appears to have been extended as needed.”

The basis for Barnes’ misunderstanding, of course, is that at the end of the war
the mass media, for the sake of sensation mongering, did indeed seize on the
scenes found in the German camps as proof of exterminations, and it is also true,
as we indicated in the previous chapter, that these scenes have served as the mass
propaganda “proof” of exterminations. However, our analysis shows that Ausch-
witz had been carefully chosen in 1944 as the core for the extermination hoax.
This point will be supported by material to be reviewed below and also in Chap-
ters 4 and 5. By publishing the WRB report in November 1944, Washington
committed itself to a specific form of the hoax. That form was maintained in the
trials in Nuremberg, and even today, the form of the hoax does not differ in any
significant respect from the WRB report.

After his WRB victory, Morgenthau busied himself with other things, particu-
larly with the policies to be followed in occupied Germany. He found that existing
plans actually paid regard to the Hague and Geneva Conventions, to which the
United States was signatory, and which prohibited such things as the seizure of
private personal property of no military significance, the detaining of POWs long
after the end of hostilities, and the needless imposition of starvation rations. He
therefore campaigned for the harsher policies, which later became known as the
Morgenthau Plan and of which many were actually adopted and put into practice.
David Marcus in the CAD sponsored Morgenthau’s objectives there and kept him
informed about his opponents. Colonel Bernard Bernstein, long associated with
Morgenthau, performed a similar function for him at Supreme Headquarters Al-
lied Expeditionary Forces (SHAEF) in London. Baruch also helped out.'*

The First ‘Extermination’ Claims and New York

The thesis of this book is that the story of Jewish extermination in World War
II is a propaganda hoax. Obviously, therefore, we must examine the origins of the
hoax in wartime propaganda. We have already discussed many of the “inside” as-
pects, and the public aspects remain to be examined.

The enormity of the task plus the “controversial” nature of the subject seem to

138 .
Barnes, quoted in Anonymous, 3.

139 Blum, 343, 383.
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have discouraged a thorough study of the propaganda. There have been studies of
special aspects. John T. Flynn, in While You Slept, surveyed the propaganda in re-
spect to communist and pro-communist influences, especially in regard to Asia.
James J. Martin made a study of the manner, in which the American media treated
the Soviet Union, the negotiated peace question, and the Allied terror bombings
during the war.

It is out of the question to survey all of the atrocity and extermination propa-
ganda pertaining to the European theater in World War II. Here we may econo-
mize on the magnitude of the survey to be undertaken by noting that we are inter-
ested only in the Jewish extermination question and only in what important people
were doing. We will therefore find that examination of stories concerning alleged
Jewish extermination that appeared in the New York Times, spring 1942 through
1943, together with a summary of 1944 propaganda, which will be presented in
Chapter 5, is all that is required to get a satisfactory conception of the propaganda.
Therefore, we start here with spring 1942 stories.

Concurrent commentary will be made. In many cases there is a story involved
— allegedly originating in Europe — claiming mass killings, and the matters of par-
ticular interest in such cases are the source of the story, the location of the alleged
killings, and the method of killing allegedly employed. It should also be kept in
mind that the post-war extermination legend claims only three varieties of mass
exterminations: gassing at six sites in Poland, “gasmobiles “ in Russia, and mass
shootings in Russia.

“REPORTS NAZI SLAUGHTER OF JEWS

April 6, 1942, p. 2 Kuibyshev, Russia, April 5 (AP) — The Anti-Fascist Jew-
ish Committee reported today that the Germans have killed 86,000 Jews in and
around Minsk, 25,000 at Odessa and ‘tens of thousands’ in Lithuania, Latvia
and Estonia. In Estonia, the report said, the entire Jewish population number-
ing 4,500 was wiped out.”

“NAZIS BLAME JEWS FOR BIG BOMBINGS

June 13, 1942 Berlin, June 12 (From German broadcast recorded by the
United Press in New York) — Propaganda Minister Joseph Goebbels said to-
night that Germany would carry out a mass ‘extermination’ of Jews in reprisal
for the Allied air bombings of German cities which, he acknowledged, have
caused heavy damage.

Dr. Goebbels, in an article in the publication The Reich, said the Jews
would be exterminated throughout Europe ‘and perhaps even beyond Europe’
in retaliation against the heavy air assaults.”

Goebbels’ remark was directed against the Jewish controlled press, which he
regarded as largely responsible for the propaganda atmosphere which made the
terror bombings possible. His remark in Das Reich was:

“In this war the Jews are playing their most criminal game, and they will
have to pay for that with the extermination (Ausrottung) of their race in
Europe and perhaps far beyond. They are not to be taken seriously in this con-
flict, because they represent neither British nor American, but exclusively Jew-
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ish interests.’

Now this is indeed an extermination threat, because the primary meaning of
the term “Ausrottung” is “extermination” (the English “uprooting,” to which the
word is related etymologically, is only a secondary meaning). Similar totally pub-
lic utterances were also made occasionally by Hitler. Examples are “the result of
this war will be the destruction of Jewry,” and “it will not be the Aryan peoples
that will be annihilated but it will be Jewry.”'*

In reaction to this, one should observe that (a) extreme statements were a per-
vasive feature of Nazi oratory and rhetoric, (b) the extermination mythologists
find it necessary to claim that the exterminations were carried out in the most ex-
treme secrecy, which makes it somewhat untenable to take such occasional refer-
ences in the public declarations of Nazi leaders as evidence of exterminations, (c)
it is necessary to fully grasp the specific circumstances of the Goebbels remark,
i.e. it was a reaction to Allied terror bombings, (d) people can say heated things in
wartime, and bloodthirsty statements were made by supposedly responsible peo-
ple on both sides during the war, and (e) it is often the case that a complete under-
standing of context is necessary when interpreting the specific meaning of a refer-
ence to “extermination” or “annihilation” (or, in German, “Ausrottung,” “Vernich-
tung,” respectively). Moreover, the German word for “Jewry,” das Judentum, is
ambiguous in meaning. Let each of these five points be examined in order.

(a) It is well known that Nazi oratory and rhetoric tended to have a provoca-
tively inflammatory character whose origins go well back into the days when the
Nazis were a minor party in Weimar Germany. It appears that this was a result of
a deliberate and studied policy, for in 1931 Hitler explained the reasons for it in a
private interview:'*!

“What some madman of an editor writes in my own press is of no interest
to me. [...] We can achieve something only by fanaticism. If this fanaticism
horrifies the bourgeoisie, so much the better. Solely by this fanaticism, which
refuses any compromise, do we gain our contact with the masses.”

Put more simply, he often found that he could get attention by making wild
statements.

Naturally, all of the Nazi leaders, especially Goebbels, were infected with this
attitude to some degree. It is true that, after the Nazis came to power and assumed
responsibility for ruling Germany, their public declarations became much more
moderated in tone, but the tendency never entirely departed from them, and of
course the war and the problem of attempting to reach public opinion in the Allied
countries revived the feature somewhat. Under the circumstances, it is actually
remarkable that Hitler and Goebbels only rarely made such declarations.

(b) We shall see in following chapters that the extermination mythologists are
forced to take the position that the Nazis went to extremes to preserve the secrecy
of their killing program of continental scope and did in fact preserve this secrecy
to a most remarkable extent. What is known of the behavior of European Jews
during those days, for example, despite the claims of some individual authors and

" Das Reich (Jun. 14, 1942), 2; Jaeckel, 62-63.
1 Calic, 34-35. Hitler also made relevant remarks in Mein Kampf.
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the indubitable fact that there were all sorts of rumors current, shows that the Jews
were not conscious of any extermination program. When they were told to pack
up for transport, they did just that, and went without resistance. On p. 140 we
shall note Theresienstadt Jews volunteering for transport to Auschwitz as late as
August 1944, for the Jews at Theresienstadt knew nothing of any extermination
program at Auschwitz or anywhere else. On p. 262 we shall note that the Nazis
were allegedly even unwilling to commit anything to confidential documents for,
we are told, ‘the drafting of circumspect minutes was one of the major arts of Hit-
ler’s Reich.” Because this is the case put forward by the extermination mytholo-
gists, then it is not merely that occurrences of the sort of remarks under considera-
tion do not support their case; the problem becomes that of explaining such occur-
rences.

(c) The Goebbels remark should be seen for what it was: a professional propa-
gandist’s reaction to the Allied bombings, which obsessed German policy in vari-
ous ways from May 1940 on. Because the facts in this connection, although well
established, are not well known, they are very briefly summarized here, but in or-
der to avoid an inexcusably long digression, the summary is indeed brief. The
reader interested in more thorough treatment is referred to Veale and to Colby.'*

At the outbreak of war in 1939, German air doctrine viewed the bomber as a
form of artillery and thus a weapon to be used in support of ordinary ground op-
erations. It was in this connection that the well-publicized bombings of Warsaw in
1939 and Rotterdam in May 1940 took place: only after these cities had actually
become the scenes of military operations and the laws of siege applied. “Strategic
bombing,” as we understand the term, played no role in German combat opera-
tions (although of course it had been and was under study by German military
planners).

This was not the case in Britain, however, for at the time that the Germans
were using their bombers as artillery in the Netherlands, the British made the
“splendid decision” to bomb German civilian targets, knowing perfectly well that
Hitler had no intention or wish to engage in warfare of this sort (Hitler, indeed,
did not want war with Britain at all).

There was a moderate amount of German bombing of targets in England dur-
ing the early summer of 1940, but only specifically military targets were attacked,
even while such cities as Hamburg and Bremen were undergoing general attack. It
was only after three months of this, and with the greatest reluctance, that Hitler
felt himself forced to reply in kind, and in this way the well publicized “Blitz”
hoax was established. The British people were not permitted to find out that their
government could have stopped the German raids at any time merely by stopping
the raids on Germany.

The British raids on Germany, while of no military significance in 1940, had
put the German government on the spot in German popular opinion, because the
German people naturally thought that their government should be able to do
something about them. The only reason the Germans adopted retaliatory bombing

2 Frederick J. P. Veale, Advance to Barbarism, and Benjamin Colby, ‘Twas a Famous Victory.
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was as a last resort. In announcing the policy, Hitler declared in a Sportpalast
speech of September 4, 1940:'*

“If the British Air force drops two or three or four thousand kilograms of
bombs, we will drop a hundred and fifty, a hundred and eighty, two hundred
thousand, three hundred thousand, four hundred thousand kilograms and
more in a single night.”

This was a gross exaggeration of his capabilities relative to the British, for his
bombers were designed for support of troops and not for the “strategic bombing,”
for which the British bombers were equipped, although at the time Germany’s
bombers were numerically superior to the British. Nevertheless, violent words are
cheap, and after the Luftwaffe, which was never more than a nuisance for the Al-
lied bombing operations, violent words (sometimes coupled with promises of se-
cret new weapons) were about all Hitler and Goebbels were able to come up with
in 1940 or at any subsequent time to oppose the bombings. It is in this context that
the Goebbels remark should be grasped.

(d) There were bloodthirsty remarks made on both sides during the war. In the
U.S. there were many examples of wild views earnestly put forward by apparently
civilized persons, which were received with apparently thoughtful reactions of
approval by equally respected persons. Because there were so many such people,
it will suffice to remark only on Clifton Fadiman, the well known author and critic
who, at the time, was the book review editor of the New Yorker weekly magazine.

Fadiman was the principal luminary of the Writers War Board, a semi-official
government agency that did volunteer writing for government agencies in connec-
tion with the war. The Board was chaired by Rex Stout. The thesis that Fadiman
and Stout carried to the writers’ community in 1942 was that writings on the war
should seek “to generate an active hate against all Germans and not merely
against Nazi leaders.” This generated some heated controversy, and writers and
observers took sides in what became a debate hot enough for Fadiman to declare
that he knew of “only one way to make a German understand and that’s to kill
them and even then I think they don’t understand.”

These were not isolated outbursts, for Fadiman welcomed the opportunity to
set down his views on Germans in a more organized context through his column
in the New Yorker. In April 1942, he had found the juvenile concept he needed in
a book by de Sales, The Making of Tomorrow. Taking for granted the reader’s
concurrence that the Nazis were at least the worst scourge to come along in centu-
ries, he wrote that de Sales’

“argument is simply that the present Nazi onslaught is not in the least the
evil handiwork of a group of gangsters but rather the final and perfect expres-
sion of the most profound instincts of the German people. ‘Hitler is the incar-
nation of forces greater than himself. The heresy he preaches is two thousand
years old.” What is the heresy? It is nothing more or less than a rebellion
against Western civilization. Mr. de Sales traces five such German rebellions,
beginning with Arminius. At first you are inclined to be skeptical of the au-

3 Hitler, 848.
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thor’s grand indictment — his anti-Germanism may conceivably stem from his

French ancestry — but as you follow his argument it becomes more and more

cogent and the true proportions of this war emerge with great clarity.”

His reviews of books on the war expressed the historical concept that he had
found in de Sales’ nonsense. Scoffing at Howard K. Smith’s claim that “If we can
offer (the Germans) a real alternative to extermination, the nation, though it may
not succumb to actual revolution, will fall into our hands,” Fadiman wrote:

“The world has been appeasing the Germans ever since their human wolf
packs broke out of their forest lairs in the time of Arminius. The result is a
Europe on the verge of suicide.”

This was followed by his obvious approval of “Hemingway’s extraordinary
[...] suggestion that ‘the only ultimate settlement’ with the Nazis is to sterilize
them. He means just that, in a surgical sense.” Of course, Fadiman also saw no
distinction between Nazis and other Germans and ridiculed Dorothy Thompson’s
“passionate argument” for such a distinction as well as her conviction “that our
postwar efforts must be directed toward the construction of a European federation
of states, with Germany, under democratic leadership, occupying a leading posi-
tion.” Although Fadiman never advocated the killing of all or most Germans, at
least not in so many words, this was the clear sense of his declarations. After all,
what else can be done with “wolf packs who broke out of their forest lairs,” who
are now trying to enslave the rest of the world, and who “understand” only if you
“kill them” and must not be given “a real alternative to extermination?”'**

Clifton Fadiman was only a very prominent and semi-official example of a
“school of thought” that existed among leaders of opinion in the U.S. during the
war. James J. Martin and Benjamin Colby have published longer studies of Allied
propaganda based on hatred of all Germans, the latter presenting a particularly
thorough study of the Writers War Board.

The climate of wartime opinion in Britain, of course, was about the same and,
on account of England’s earlier entry into the war, of longer standing. In reacting
to Hitler’s Berlin Sportpalast speech on the initiation of German air raids on Brit-
ish cities (quoted above), the London Daily Herald gloated that Hitler had made
“a frantic effort to reassure his raid-harassed people” who “are in an extremely
nervous condition and stay awake even when there is no alarm.” The same issue
of the Herald goes on to present the recommendations of the Reverend C. W.
Whipp, vicar of St. Augustine’s Leicester:

“The orders ought to be, ‘wipe them out,” and to this end I would concen-
trate all our science towards discovering a new and far more terrific explo-
sive.

These German devils (that is the only word one can use) come over our cit-
ies and turn their machine-guns on women and children.

Well, all I hope is that the RAF will grow stronger and stronger and go
over and smash Germany to smithereens.

A Minister of the Gospel, perhaps, ought not to indulge in sentiments like

14 New York Times (Oct. 29, 1942), 20; New Yorker (Apr. 18, 1942), 62; (Sep. 12, 1942), 53; (Oct.
24, 1942), 64f: (Nov. 28, 1942), 82; (Dec. 5, 1942), p. 82.
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these.

1 go further, and I say quite frankly that if I could I would wipe Germany
off the map.

They are an evil race and have been a curse in Europe for centuries.

There can be no peace until Hitler and all those who believe in him are
sent to hell which is their place of origin and their final home.”

The Herald remarked that Whipp “has aroused considerable local contro-
versy,” so it is evident that in Britain, as in the U.S., there were many people who
kept their heads despite the Fadiman types.

The peculiar ad hoc philosophy of history enunciated by de Sales and pro-
moted by Clifton Fadiman also made its apparently independent appearance in
England. An article by Reginald Hargreaves in the June 1941 issue of the re-
spected journal National Review (not to be confused with the National Review
that was founded in the U.S. in 1955) proposed as a war aim (as distinct from an
unavoidable consequence of the war) that “at least three million Nazi soldiers (be)
put permanently out of action,” it being:

“[...] an absolutely vital prerequisite to the laying down of arms that a suf-
ficient number of the present-day corrupted, brutalized and delirious young
dervishes of Nazidom should be left dead upon the field.”

The necessity for this arose from the consideration that:

“[...] throughout her whole history Germany has shown herself as utterly
uncivilized and worthy of nothing but detestation and disgust. From the very
beginning the behavior of the Teutonic peoples had qualified them for the role
of pariahs — the outcast mad dogs of Europe. [...] Our real war aim must be,
not only military triumph in the field, but the reduction of the German people
to such a shrunken and delimited condition that never again will they be in
such a position to ‘start anything’ to the detriment of generations yet to come.
Our conflict, despite mushy affirmations to the contrary, is with the German
people; a race so savage, so predatory, so unscrupulous and so utterly uncivi-
lized that their elimination as a major power is the only hope for a world that
has no choice but to take the surgeon’s knife and cut out this cankerous
growth from its body-politic, thoroughly, relentlessly, once and for all.”

Such declarations seem even more extraordinary when one considers that they
came from a nation noted for understatement.

The point of this discussion is not that there had grown up any consensus in
the U.S. and Britain that all Germans are by nature monsters and should be killed
or at least sterilized. Everybody would agree that no such consensus existed (and
even the extermination mythologists would agree, I think, that no consensus fa-
voring extermination of the Jews existed in Germany). Moreover, as we all real-
ize, the genocidal policies advocated or implied by many leaders of opinion in the
U.S. and Britain were not, in their literal form, within the bounds of the possible;
the American and British people would never have permitted such deeds to be
done in their names. The point is that during the heat of wartime the most extraor-
dinary things were said. For the most part (unfortunately, one can only say for the
most part) such lunacies were not realized in events, but they were expressed nev-
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ertheless.

Murderous things were said on both sides, and in my opinion and dim recol-
lection of the times, the rhetoric in the U.S. (especially in regard to the Japanese)
seems to me to have been more violent than anything that now seems to have been
current in Germany during the war, although such a comparison is difficult and
perhaps should not be attempted in regard to degree, on account of the very dif-
ferent roles played by “public opinion” and by the statements of political leaders
in the two political systems involved.

On the Axis side, one should also note that Fascist Italy had various anti-
Jewish laws that were however very mild in application and certainly never ap-
proached murder. Nevertheless, the anti-Jewish rhetoric in the Fascist press was at
least as violent as anything generated in Germany, and assuming the New York
Times (October 22, 1941) reported accurately, it even advocated that all Italian
Jews be “annihilated as a danger to the internal front,” because “this is the mo-
ment to do away with half-way measures.”

(e) A final point is that one must use some common sense and a feeling for the
context in interpreting references to “extermination” and “annihilation” properly.
In the American Civil War, many wanted Lincoln to “annihilate” the South, and it
is not inaccurate English to say that Lincoln did just that, but it was understood,
then as now, that the killing of all Southerners was not contemplated.

Naturally, the same observation may be made in connection with public decla-
rations of Nazi leaders, but there is an additional point to be made in this connec-
tion. Very often the Jews were referred to via the German word das Judentum,
one of whose correct translations is “Jewry,” but which can also mean “Judaism”
or even “Jewishness” or “the idea of Jewishness.” Thus, a Hitler reference to “die
Vernichtung des Judentums,” if lifted out of context and interpreted in a purely
literal way, can be interpreted as meaning the killing of all Jews, but it can also be
interpreted as meaning the destruction of Jewish influence and power, which is
what the politician Hitler actually meant by such a remark, although it is true that
he could have chosen his words more carefully. Alfred Rosenberg made specific
reference to this ambiguity in his IMT testimony, where he argued that “die Aus-
rottung des Judentums,” a term he had used on occasion, was not a reference to
killing in the context in which Rosenberg had used it.

The lengthy digression made necessary by Goebbels’ “Ausrottung” remark be-
ing concluded, we return to the survey of stories in The New York Times for 1942-
1943.

June 14, 1942, p. 1: “258 JEWS REPORTED SLAIN IN BERLIN FOR BOMB PLOT AT
ANTI-RED EXHIBIT
by George Axelsson — by telephone to the New York Times Stockholm,
Sweden, June 13. At the Gross Lichterfelde Barracks in the western suburbs of
Berlin 258 Jews were put to death by the SS on May 28, and their families de-
ported, in retaliation for an alleged Jewish plot to blow up the anti-Bolshevist
‘Soviet Paradise’ exhibition at the Lustgarten. [...] If there were any bombs,
they evidently were discovered before they had time to explode. [...] The SS
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wanted the executions to be published. [...] Instead [...] leaders of the Jewish
colony were called in.

Observers are inclined to see a link between the Berlin executions and the
massacre at Lidice, in Czechoslovakia, after the assassination of Reinhard
Heydrich.”

June 30, 1942, p. 7: “1,000,000 JEWS SLAIN BY NAZIS, REPORT SAYS

London, June 29 (UP) [...] spokesmen for the World Jewish Congress
charged today.

They said Nazis had established a ‘vast slaughterhouse for Jews’ in East-
ern Europe. [...] A report to the Congress said that Jews, deported en masse
to Central Poland from Germany, Austria, Czechoslovakia and the Nether-
lands were being shot by firing squads at the rate of 1,000 daily.

Information received by the Polish Government in London confirmed that
the Nazis had executed ‘several hundred thousand’ Jews in Poland.”

No such “slaughterhouse” where executions were by “firing squad” is claimed
today. As noted above, this was the start of the World Jewish Congress’ campaign
of extermination propaganda. It is quite possible that this first story was inspired
by Goebbels’ then recent “Ausrottung” remark.

July 22, 1942, p. 1: “NAzI PUNISHMENT SEEN BY ROOSEVELT
[...] President Roosevelt declared last night in a message read to 20,000
persons at Madison Square Garden |...]

President’s Message

‘The White House

‘Washington

July 17, 1942

‘Dear Dr. Wise:

‘[...] Citizens [...] will share in the sorrow of our Jewish fellow-citizens
over the savagery of the Nazis against their helpless victims. The Nazis will
not succeed in exterminating their victims any more than they will succeed in
enslaving mankind.

The American people [...] will hold the perpetrators of these crimes to
strict accountability in a day of reckoning which will surely come. [...]’

Text of Churchill Message
T...1 you will recall that on Oct. 25 last, both President Roosevelt and I
expressed the horror felt [...] at Nazi butcheries and terrovism and our resolve
to place retribution for these crimes among the major purposes of this war.

[...1"”

Such vague statements of the wartime leaders, while devoid of any specific
charges, carried more weight among the public than any of the more specific sto-
ries that the leaders may have seemed, by their statements, to be endorsing. We
shall see that the specific claims of the time, at least for several months, did not
very much resemble the claims made at the later trials. Nevertheless, the politics
of the situation, as perceived by Roosevelt and Churchill, made it opportune for
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them to “go along,” at least to the extent of making vague public statements sup-
porting the propaganda.

September 3, 1942, p. 5: “50,000 JEWS DYING IN NAZI FORTRESS

London, Sept. 2 (UP) — Fifty thousand Jews from Germany and Czechoslo-
vakia have been thrown into the fortress at Terezin and several thousand who
are ill or charged with ‘criminal’ acts are in underground dungeons where
they are ‘dying like flies’ a Czech Government spokesman said tonight.

‘All hope for them has been abandoned,’ the spokesman said. [...] The
spokesman said the Germans had launched a campaign to exterminate Jews
from the protectorate and that of 40,000 Jews formerly in Prague only 15,000
remain. Pilsen and Bruenn have been cleared of Jews, he said, many of them
being sent to Terezin, largest concentration camp in Nazi-controlled Europe.

A European observer said the Germans planned to exterminate the Jews
not only in Europe, but throughout the world. He declared the Nazis had exe-
cuted 2,000,000 Jews in the past three years [...].”

The only truth in this story lies in the fact that the death rate of Jews was rather
high at Terezin (Theresienstadt) due to the German policy of sending all Reich
Jews over 65 there. Another category at Theresienstadt was the “privileged” Jews
— the war veterans — especially those with high decorations. There were other
Jews, many of whom were eventually moved out, but if they suffered, it was not
at Theresienstadt. The place was visited by the Red Cross in June 1944, and the
resulting favorable report angered the World Jewish Congress.'* There will be
more to be said about Theresienstadt in subsequent chapters. While it was not the
“largest concentration camp in Nazi-controlled Europe,” it nevertheless plays an
important role here.

September 5, 1942, p. 3: “US REBUKES VICHY ON DEPORTING JEWS

Washington, Sept. 4 — The State Department has made the ‘most vigorous
representations possible’ to the French Government through the American
Embassy in Vichy over the mass deportation of Jews from unoccupied France,
it was announced today by the American Jewish Committee.

The protest followed representations by four Jewish organizations, and the
action was communicated to them in a letter by Sumner Welles, Under-
Secretary of State. [...] Mr. Welles said: ‘I have received your communication
of Aug. 27, 1942, enclosing a letter [...] in regard to the mass deportation of
Jewish refugees from unoccupied France.

‘1 am in complete agreement with the statements made concerning this
tragic situation, which provides a new shock to the public opinion of the civi-
lized world. It is deeply regretted that these measures should be taken in a
country traditionally noted for adherence to the principles of equality, freedom
and tolerance.

‘The American Embassy at Vichy [...] has made the most vigorous repre-
sentations possible to the highest authorities at Vichy [...]."

45 Reitlinger, 176-186.
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[...] The letter of the four organizations to the Secretary of State follows:

‘On behalf of the organizations we represent |...] the undersigned respect-
fully request our government to transmit to the government of France a solemn
protest against the action taken recently by that government to turn thousands
of refugees over to the agents of the Nazi government for deportation to Po-
land and to other Nazi-occupied regions in Eastern Europe.

‘Reports reaching us [...stating] that the government of France is permit-
ting the [...] deportation by the Nazis of Jewish refugees who have been in-
terned in a number of camps in the south of France. This action began about
Aug. 8, when a total of 3,600 men, women and children were rounded up,
loaded on trains and sent off without any word regarding their destination.

‘The reports agree that these 3,600 were the first contingent of a total of
10,000 Jewish refugees which the French government has agreed to deport to
eastern territories |...]

T...1 Mass deportations of Jews from Germany and from territories under
German occupation have been going on ever since the conquest of Poland. In
accordance with the announced policy of the Nazis to exterminate the Jews of
Europe, hundreds of thousands of these innocent men, women and children
have been killed in brutal mass murders. The rest are being herded in ghettos
in Eastern Europe under indescribably wretched conditions, as a result of
which tens of thousands have succumbed to starvation and pestilence.’”

We should only note at this point that even the four Jewish organizations are
not completely secure in claiming exterminations, because they allow themselves
an “out” by referring to those being “herded in ghettos.” Welles’ reply, while “in
complete agreement” with the letter, avoids direct endorsement of the extermina-
tion claim.

November 24, 1942, p. 10: “HEBREW PAPERS MOURN
JERUSALEM, Nov. 23 (UP) — The Hebrew press appeared today with
black borders around reports of mass murders of Jews in Poland. The reports,
received by the Jewish Agency, asserted that systematic annihilation of the
Jewish population was being carried out by a special German ‘destruction
commission’ [...] on the former frontier between German and Russian Poland,
thousands were thrown into the Bug river and drowned.”

December 13, 1942, p. 21: “TARDY WAR REPORT HELD AID TO FAITH
[...] Rabbi Israel Goldstein declared: ‘Authenticated reports point to
2,000,000 Jews who have already been slain by all manner of satanic barba-
rism, and plans for the total extermination of all Jews upon whom the Nazis
can lay their hands. The slaughter of a third of the Jewish population in

Hitler’s domain and the threatened slaughter of all is a holocaust without par-
allel.””

December 18, 1942, p. 1: “11 ALLIES CONDEMN NAZI WAR ON JEWS
Special to the New York Times Washington, Dec. 17 — A joint declaration
by members of the United Nations was issued today condemning Germany’s
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‘bestial policy of cold-blooded extermination’ of Jews [...]. The declaration
was issued simultaneously through the State Department here, and in London.

[...]

Text of Declaration
‘[...] From all the occupied countries Jews are being transported in condi-
tions of appalling horror and brutality to Eastern Europe. In Poland, which
has been made the principal Nazi slaughterhouse, the ghettos established by
the German invader are being systematically emptied of all Jews except a few
highly skilled workers required for war industries. None of those taken away
are ever heard of again. The able-bodied are slowly worked to death in labor
camps. The infirm are left to die of exposure and starvation or are deliberately
massacred in mass executions. The number of victims of these bloody cruelties
is reckoned in many hundreds of thousands of entirely innocent men, women
and children.””
This was the beginning of the State Department involvement in the extermina-
tion legend, and that it came from such a seemingly official source was the basis
for special comment in the Times editorial of the same day:

December 18, 1942, p. 26: “HITLER’S TERROR

Despite all that has been written about Nazi persecution of the Jews, the
facts in the joint statement issued yesterday in Washington, London and Mos-
cow in the name of the United Nations will come as a shock to all civilized
people who have preserved a modicum of human decency. For this statement
is not an outcry of the victims themselves to which many thought it possible to
close their ears on the ground that it might be a special plea, subject to doubt.
1t is the official statement of their own governments, based on officially estab-
lished facts. [...]”

Clearly, it was believed that atrocity claims apparently coming from the State
Department were more credible than claims coming from such groups as the
World Jewish Congress, which is no doubt what is meant by the “victims them-
selves.” However, we have seen that Wise was also behind the “joint declaration.”
The December 17 statement marked the start of U.S. and British government
complicity in the extermination legend. The German government did not see the
event as laden with import, and von Stumm of the Foreign Office’s press section
flippantly explained to the neutral press that the Allied declaration was for the
purpose of helping the Christmas sales of the Jewish department stores of New
York and London.'*

December 20, 1942, p. 23: “ALLIES DESCRIBE OUTRAGES ON JEWS
What is happening to the 5,000,000 Jews of German-held Europe, all of
whom face extermination, is described in a statement released yesterday by the
United Nations Information Office. |...]
[...] Novel methods of mass execution by shooting and lethal gas are cited
in the main body of the report, which states that this destruction of the Jews is

14 Reitlinger, 439.
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not ‘isolated in one country but is continent-wide. Early in December 1942 the

State Department in Washington gave some figures showing that the number

of Jewish victims deported and perished since 1939 in Axis-controlled Europe

now reached the appalling figure of 2,000,000 and that 5,000,000 were in
danger of extermination. |...]

The document concludes:

‘The means employed in deporting from the ghetto all those who survive
murders and shooting in the street exceeds all imagination. In particular, chil-
dren, old people and those too weak for work are murdered. Actual data con-
cerning the fate of the deportees is not at hand, but the news is available — ir-
refutable news — that places of execution have been organized at Chelmno and
Belzec, where those who survive shootings are murdered en masse by means of
electrocution and lethal gas.””

The alleged electrocutions at Belzec appeared a few times in the propaganda
and will be discussed again on p. 183. They are one of the versions of extermina-
tions that were quickly forgotten about after the end of the war. Nevertheless, we
can see, at this point, a clear tendency of the propaganda to resemble the claims
which have become the fixed features of the legend, the gas chambers and the ap-
proximate 6,000,000 killed during the course of the war. We will have more to
say a bit later on the origin of the six million figure.

December 28, 1942, p. 21: “DEMAND JEWS BE SAVED
Albany, Dec 27 (AP) — Dr. Wise, president of the American Jewish Con-
gress and the World Jewish Congress [ ... urged] formulation of an Allied pro-
gram to halt the Nazi slaughter of civilians.”

Jan. 8, 1943, p. 8: “93 CHOOSE SUICIDE BEFORE NAZI SHAME
Ninety-three Jewish girls and young Jewish women, the pupils and the
teacher of a Beth Jacob School of Warsaw, Poland, chose mass suicide to es-
cape being forced into prostitution by German soldiers, according to a letter
from the teacher, made public yesterday by Rabbi Seth Jung of the Jewish
Center of New York City.”

February 7, 1943, VI, p. 16: “IN THE VALLEY OF DEATH
[magazine article by Sholem Asch...] gas chambers and blood poisoning
stations which are established in the outlying countryside, where steam shov-
els prepare community graves for the victims.”

February 14, 1943, p. 37: “TYRANNY OF NAZIS SHOWN

Warsaw is being subjected to a deliberate Nazi pattern of death, disease,
starvation, economic slavery and wholesale elimination of population, the Of-
fice of War Information states in a twenty-four page pamphlet, ‘Tale of a
City,” published today.

Declaring that Warsaw has been the testing ground for Nazi plans of world
conquest [...]

T...] there is no way of telling at this time exactly how many Poles have
been murdered by the Nazis in Warsaw.’ The execution spot is now Palmiry,

102



Chapter 3: Washington and New York

near Warsaw, where mass shootings occur either at dawn or during the
night.”

February 14, 1943, p. 37: “EXECUTION ‘SPEED-UP’ SEEN

Mass executions of Jews in Poland on an accelerated tempo was reported
by European representatives of the World Jewish Congress in a communica-
tion made public by Rabbi Stephen S. Wise, president of the American Jewish
Congress.

In one place in Poland 6,000 Jews are killed daily, according to the report,
dated Jan. 19. Jews left in Poland are now confined in fifty-five ghettos, some
in the large towns and some in the smaller towns that have been transformed
into ghettos.”

This was the propaganda story involved in the conflict between State and
Treasury. As noted in connection with the remarks on the Times editorial of De-
cember 18, if this story had managed to emerge from the State Department,
greater credibility would, apparently, have been attached to it. Unfortunately for
the propaganda inventors at the time, they had to settle for Rabbi Wise as ostensi-
ble source.

February 16, 1943, p. 7: “Nazis SHIFT 30,000 JEWS
Geneva, Switzerland, Feb. 15 (ONA) — All the aged and feeble [from
Czestachowa, Poland] were sent to Rawa-Russka, in Galicia, for execution by
the Nazis, sources from inside Poland said.”

February 23, 1943, p. 23: “ATROCITIES PROTESTED
Thirty-five hundred children [...] held a solemn assembly of sorrow and
protest against Nazi atrocities in Mecca Temple, 133 West Fifty-fifth Street.
[...] Six refugee children related their experiences at the hands of the Nazis.”

March 2, 1943, pp. 1, 4: “S4VE DOOMED JEWS, HUGE RALLY PLEADS

Immediate action by the United Nations to save as many as possible of the
five million Jews threatened with extermination [...] was demanded at a mass
demonstration [...] in Madison Square Garden last night.

[...Rabbi Hertz said] ‘appalling is the fact that those who proclaim the
Four Freedoms have so far done very little to secure even the freedom to live
for 6,000,000 of their Jewish fellow men by readiness to rescue those who
might still escape Nazi torture and butchery. [...]’

[...Wendell Wilkie said] ‘Two million human beings, merely because they
are Jews, have already been murdered by every fiendish means which Hitler
could devise. Millions of other Jews [...] face immediate destruction [...]’

[...Chaim Weizmann said] ‘Two million Jews have already been extermi-
nated. [...]

‘The democracies have a clear duty before them. [...] Let them negotiate
with Germany through the neutral countries concerning the possible release of
the Jews in the occupied countries. [...] Let the gates of Palestine be opened to
all who can reach the shores of the Jewish homeland [...]""
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March 7, 1943, p. 30: “600 JEWS SENT TO SILESIA
Stockholm, Sweden, March 6 (Reuter) — Nearly 600 Norwegian Jews |...]
are now known to have reached Polish Upper Silesia. Most of the men have
been sent to work in the mines near Katowice.”

March 10, 1943, p. 12: “40,000 HERE VIEW MEMORIAL TO JEWS
Forty thousand persons listened and watched |[...] last night to two per-
formances of ‘We Will Never Die,’ a dramatic mass memorial to the 2,000,000
Jews killed in Europe. [...] The narrator said ‘There will be no Jews left in
Europe for representation when peace comes. The four million left to kill are
being killed, according to plan.’”

April 1, 1943, p. 2: “FRENCH JEWS SENT TO A NAZI OBLIVION

Wireless to The New York Times London, March 31 — A system of ‘death
convoys’ under which French Jews are being rounded up [...] and then
shipped out to various points in Eastern Europe, after which they are no
longer heard from, was described here today by the British section of the
World Jewish Congress, which charged that the ‘full force’ of the Nazi and
anti-Jewish terror now was being concentrated in France.

Basing its report on first hand information supplied by a prominent French
Jew who has escaped to a neutral country, the Congress declared the last
‘convoy’ left France about Feb. 20. It involved 3,000 Jews of all classes and
ages, and all that was known about its eventual destination was that it was
somewhere in the East.

In mid-February, the Congress added, the Gestapo raided the Lyon head-
quarters of the General Union of French Jews, arrested the entire staff, re-
moved them to the Drancy concentration camp and since has shipped them,
too, to some ‘extermination center’ on the other side of Europe.”

Reitlinger (page 327) tells us that “less than a tenth of the Jews who were de-
ported (from France) possessed French nationality.” By his figures that is perhaps
5,000 of the 240,000 French Jews, suggesting that maybe the 5,000 enlisted for
work voluntarily or were actually “politicals” or partisans.

April 12, 1943, p. 5: “N4zis ERASE GHETTOS IN Two POLISH CITIES
London, April 11 (AP) — The Polish Telegraph Agency said tonight that the
Germans had erased the ghetto at Krakow in a three-day massacre that
started March 13, and also had eliminated the ghetto in Lodz.
The fate of the Jews in the latter city was unknown, but the agency said it
was believed they also were killed.”

April 20, 1943, p. 11: “2,000,000 JEWS MURDERED
London, April 19 (Reuter) — Two million Jews have been wiped out since
the Nazis began their march through Europe in 1939 and five million more are
in immediate danger of execution. These figures were revealed in the sixth re-
port on conditions in occupied territories issued by the Inter-Allied Informa-
tion Committee.
[...] The report said lethal gas and shooting were among the methods be-
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>

ing used to exterminate the Jews.’

April 20, 1943, p. 11: “RESCUE OF JEWS URGED

The Jewish Agency for Palestine, in a memorandum addressed to the Ber-
muda Refugees Conference yesterday, urged that measures of rescue be
launched immediately on behalf of 4,000,000 Jews estimated to be still surviv-
ing in Nazi occupied countries.

The Agency, headed by Dr. Chaim Weizmann, is recognized in the Mandate
for Palestine as a body to advise and cooperate with the Government of Pales-
tine on matters affecting the establishment of the Jewish National Home.

The memorandum declares that ‘should the announced policy of the enemy
continue unchecked, it is not impossible that by the time the war will have been
won, the largest part of the Jewish population of Europe will have been exter-
minated.’”

April 25, 1943, p. 19: “SCANT HOPE SEEN FOR AXIS VICTIMS
Special Cable to the New York Times Hamilton, Bermuda, April 24 — The
large scale movement of refugees is impossible under wartime conditions, and
neither the United States nor Great Britain, alone or jointly, can begin to solve
the refugee problem. These two concrete impressions have emerged after al-
most a week’s discussion of the refugee problem by the American and British
delegations here.”

Because almost all Jews outside the Continent, particularly those in the U.S.,
believed the extermination claims, they brought political pressures which resulted
in the Bermuda Conference. It was believed,147 correctly, that the Nazis wished
the emigration of the Jews from Europe (under appropriate conditions), and this
put the British and American governments, on account of the propaganda basis for
their war, into an awkward position, around which they were obliged to continu-
ally double-talk."** We have described the conflict between State and Treasury in
this regard. The British had, at that point, no intention of opening Palestine, and
both the British and Americans had no intention of providing the resources, in the
middle of the war, for massive operations undertaken for reasons that were valid
only to the degree that their propaganda was taken seriously. No sane modern
statesmen believe their own propaganda. This is the dilemma, which J. Brecken-
ridge Long and other State Department officials felt themselves facing.

Another point that should be made here before proceeding with the survey of
the propaganda is that the six million figure had its origin apparently in the propa-
ganda of 1942-1943. An examination of the problem of the origin of the six mil-
lion figure could easily lead to the conclusion that it had its origin at the IMT,
where the indictment mentioned a figure (supplied by the World Jewish Congress)
of 5,721,800 “missing” Jews and Wilhelm Hottl of the SD signed an affidavit,
2738-PS, asserting that he had gotten a figure of six million from Eichmann. Ac-
cording to Hottl, Eichmann had visited his Budapest office in a depressed mood be-
cause he was convinced that the war was lost, thought that the Allies would punish

7" DuBois, 197.
Y8 New York Times (Nov. 1, 1943), 5; (Dec. 11, 1943), 1; (Dec. 13, 1943), 11; (Jan. 3, 1944), 9.
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him as a major war criminal, and then declared, with no other witnesses present, that
four million Jews had been killed in extermination camps and that two million had
met death in various other ways, mainly through executions carried out by the Ein-
satzgruppen in Russia.

Here we offer a different theory regarding the origin of the six million figure.
Its very first appearance seems to be Rabbi Goldstein’s statement of December
13, 1942, followed by the story of December 20 to the same effect, except that it
specified a potential seven million in danger of being exterminated, rather than the
six million implied by Goldstein’s statement. However, it could correctly be ar-
gued that one must not infer the origin of the six million figure purely on the basis
of these stories.

However, the appearances of the two million killed — four (or five) million to
be killed — extermination claim at the public affairs reported on March 2 and 10,
1943, must be taken much more seriously. More information about the latter affair
can be extracted from an advertisement that also appeared on March 10 (page 10),
reporting that the show had been organized by the “Committee for a Jewish Army
of Stateless and Palestinian Jews,” headed by Senator Johnson of Colorado. The
advertisement makes the same extermination claim (two million killed, four mil-
lion to be killed) and also lists the sponsors of the organization, which included
many members of Congress and other notables. The same organization had also
run a full page advertisement on February 16 (page 11), specifying two million
killed and four million to go (and also claiming that the only Arabs who objected
to massive Jewish immigration into Palestine were Nazi agents). The two stories
of April 20 suggest rather widespread usage of the two million killed — four (or
five) million to be killed — form of the extermination claim in early 1943. We
therefore have very general usage of the six (or seven) million figure, long before
the end of the war, by the political establishment that wrote the charges at Nurem-
berg: Thus, I believe that we can take late 1942/early 1943 propaganda as the ori-
gin of the six million figure. The complete independence of that figure of any real
facts whatever is reflected in Reitlinger’s elaborate apologies for his belief that he
can claim only 4.2 to 4.6 million Jews, almost all East European, who perished in
Europe during World War I, one third of them dying from “overwork, disease,
hunger and neglect.”'* However, Reitlinger’s figures are also mostly independent
of any real facts, but that matter will be discussed in Chapter 7.

It is not at all remarkable that after the war somebody could be found to de-
clare at Nuremberg that the propaganda figure was correct. Hottl, indeed, was a
completely appropriate choice, because he was one of those stereotype “opera-
tors,” with which the world of intelligence work is plagued. Born in 1915, he en-
tered the SD in 1938 and soon acquired a reputation for mixing official business
with personal business deals. His teaming up with a Polish countess friend in a
Polish land deal led to an SS investigation of his activities in 1942. The report of
the investigation characterized him as “dishonest, scheming, fawning [...] a real
hoaxer,” and concluded that he was not even suitable for membership in the SS,

149 Reitlinger, 533, 545, 546.
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let alone a sensitive agency such as the SD. He was accordingly busted down to
the ranks, but then the appointment in early 1943 of his fellow Austrian and Vi-
enna acquaintance Kaltenbrunner to head the RSHA seems to have reversed his
fortunes, and he rose to the rank of Lieutenant Colonel by the end of the war and
played a responsible role in foreign intelligence work. After the war, he worked
for the U.S. Army Counter-Intelligence Corps until 1949 in lining up ex-SS per-
sonnel to give information. It is said that he managed to make this job rather lu-
crative. After 1949, he immersed himself in the snake pit of Vienna cold war poli-
tics, maintaining links with neo-Nazis, Soviet agents, and nearly everybody else.
He had a particularly close relationship with one Soviet agent Kurt Ponger, a
naturalized U.S. citizen whom he had met when Ponger was employed as a trans-
lator at the IMT (in addition a Kurt Ponger, probably the same person, was a
prosecution lawyer in NMT Case 4). Hottl consequently became suspect in the
Verber-Ponger espionage case of 1953 and was arrested by U.S. authorities in
March in Vienna but released a few weeks later. In the mid-Fifties, he published
two books on his wartime experiences. In 1961, he signed a prosecution affidavit
for Eichmann’s trial (substantially the same as his IMT affidavits).'*

Authors on my side have written that Hottl was an Allied agent during the war.
This is not correct. The only real fact that is involved in this claim is that Hottl
was in touch with Allen Dulles of the OSS in Switzerland toward the end of the
war. This was a part of his duties: the RSHA was attempting to arrange a favor-
able conclusion of the hostilities, and Hottl was one of the persons involved in the
secret contacts with the western Allies.

No doubt, during the very last weeks of the war many of these intelligence of-
ficers started acting with their personal interests in mind, and also without doubt,
Hottl would have been delighted to have been enlisted as an Allied agent at this
juncture of the war and may even have volunteered some favors to Dulles with
this development in mind. However, these contacts are no more evidence that
Hottl was an Allied agent than they are that Dulles was an Axis agent (Dulles is
even said to have peppered his conversation with anti-Semitic remarks when he
was trying to win the confidence of some German contacts'™"). If Hottl had been
an Allied agent, it would seem that he would boast about this in one of his two
books (The Secret Front and Hitler’s Paper Weapon), but he makes no such
claim. In addition, Ian Colvin, who knows as much about these matters as any-
body, wrote the Introduction for The Secret Front, and makes no remarks in this
connection.

April 27, 1943, p. 10: “NORWEGIAN DEPORTEES DIE
Stockholm, Sweden, April 26 (ONA) — Reports from Oslo said today that
most of the Norwegian Jewish women and children deported from the country
[...] had died of starvation.
Transports of deportees that left Oslo in November and February were re-

0 Time (Jul. 12, 1954), 98, 100; New Republic (Dec. 20, 1954), 22; New York Times (Apr. 7, 1953),
20; (Apr. 12, 1953), 33; Eichmann, session 85, A1-L1; IMT, vol. 11, 228.
51 R. H. Smith, 214-215.
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moving them toward an ultimate destination in the Silesian mining region
around Katowice. [...]”

May 3, 1943, p. 12: “BRITAIN SCORED ON JEWS

An audience of 1,500 persons [...] heard Pierre van Paassen [...] assert
that Palestine presented the only solution to the refugee problem.

[...] Mr. van Paassen said that Great Britain had made a ‘hollow mockery’
of the refugee conference in Bermuda by excluding discussion of Palestine
among the possible solutions.

‘Britain feels that the modernization of Palestine by the Jews endangers the
pillars of her empire. [...] That is the real reason many more Jews face death
because Britain wants to keep the doors of Palestine shut to them.’”

May 20, 1943, p. 12: “EDEN TIES VICTORY TO REFUGEE HOPES
Special Cable to the New York Times London, May 19. [...] Eden [...] in-
sisted that it was not fair to accuse the British Government of utterly ignoring
the situation.
[...] ke disclosed that the war Cabinet had approved the [Bermuda Confer-
ence] report [...]

[WJC DISAPPOINTED WITH BERMUDA CONFERENCE]

London, May 19 (Reuter) — The World Jewish Congress [...] expressed
deep disappointment with the results of the Bermuda Conference.

The note [...] pointed out that the way to Palestine is now also free.’

>

May 22, 1943, p. 4: “JEWS LAST STAND FELLED 1,000 NAZIS

Wireless to the New York Times London, May 21 — Nearly 1,000 Germans
were killed or wounded in the battle in the Warsaw ghetto in the last two
weeks when the Nazis undertook the final liquidation of the ghetto.

[...] More news of the anti-Jewish campaign in Poland was picked up to-
day from SWIT, the secret Polish radio station. It said the Nazis had started
liquidating the ghetto of Cracow and Stanislawow [...] shooting Jews wher-
ever they were found or killing them in gas chambers.”

June 7, 1943, p. 15: “*R4LLY OF HOPE’ IS HELD
Six thousand children [...] participated yesterday in a ‘Rally of Hope[...].
T...1Jewish children and their parents are tortured and put to death by a bar-
barous enemy. [...]"”

June 9, 1943, p. 3: [DEPORTATIONS OF JEWS]

“London, June 8 (Reuter) — No fewer than 3,500 Jews have recently been
deported from Salonika, Greece, to Poland, it was stated here today. Men,
women and children were herded indiscriminately into cattle trucks, which
were then sealed, it was added.”

June 13, 1943, p. 8: “N4zI GAS KILLINGS OF REFUGEES CITED
By Telephone to the New York Times Stockholm, Sweden, June 12 — More
than 10,000 Jews were killed since last October in the Brest-Litovsk district
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[...] according to the Swedish language Jewish Chronicle published in Stock-
holm.

Thousands were gassed to death in hermetically sealed barns and others
have been shot in groups of sixty in adjoining woods, the paper says.

[...]1 When Dr. Robert Ley, chief of the German Labor Front, recently
spoke at Koenigsberg, Bialystok and Grodno he said: ‘The Jews are the cho-
sen race, all right — but for extermination purposes only.””

June 15, 1943, p. 8: “NAzis DEPORT 52,000 BELGIANS
London, June 14 (AP) — The Belgian Government in exile said today that
the Germans had removed nearly all 52,000 Belgian Jews to concentration
camps in Germany, Poland and occupied Russia.”
Reitlinger reports for Belgium the same situation as in France. Among the
Jews deported from Belgium, “virtually none” were Belgian Jews. It is worth re-
marking that essentially the same held for Italy and Denmark.'>

June 21, 1943, p. 2: “BERMUDA PARLEY SCORED
A resolution condemning the ‘inaction’ of the Bermuda Conference and
another calling upon President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Winston Chur-
chill to open the doors of Palestine to refugees were adopted unanimously yes-
terday by the order of the Sons of Zion [...] at the Hotel Pennsylvania.”

June 21, 1943, p. 3: “ROMANIANS BLAMED FOR KILLING OF 5,000
Berne, Switzerland, June 20 (UP) — Swiss newspapers said tonight that
5,000 bodies reported by Axis propagandists to have been buried near Odessa
were those of Romanian Jews killed by the Romanian secret police.
The Romanian press announced the discovery of the mass tomb on April
22, claiming the bodies were those of Romanians killed by the Russians after
the latter occupied Bessarabia and Bukovina in 1940.”

June 23, 1943. p. 8: “NETHERLAND JEWS OUSTED BY NAZIS
London, June 22, (UP) — All Jews in Amsterdam have been deported by the

Germans to Poland, thus completing the removal of the entire Jewish popula-

tion of the Netherlands, the Aneta news agency said today.”

This story is not true. Nevertheless, the majority of Dutch Jews were deported.
The reasons for the great differences in policy in the Netherlands (and Luxem-
bourg) on the one hand and in Belgium and France and other countries on the
other will be seen on page 265. It will be shown that the ultimate, as distinct from
immediate, destination of the Jews deported from the Netherlands was most
probably not Poland. Of the 140,000 Dutch Jews, about 100,000 were deported.'”

June 28, 1943, p. 8: [ARYANIZATION OF JEWISH PROPERTY]
“London, June 27 (Reuter) — A German radio broadcast tonight quoted
Premier Nicholas von Kallay of Hungary as stating that all remaining prop-
erty of Jews in Hungary would pass into ‘Aryan’ hands at the end of this year.

132 Reitlinger, 367, 370-371, 378.
3 Reitlinger, 352.
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This property will be distributed among those who have distinguished them-
selves in the war and families with many children, it is said.”

June 29, 1943, p. 6: “NAzis EXECUTE 150 JEWS

London, June 28 (Netherlands News Agency) — The Germans have
launched mass executions of Netherlands Jews deported to Poland, it was re-
ported tonight.

[...] 150 Jews in the village of Turck had been mowed down with machine
gun fire. [...] At Socky [...] 340 Netherlands Jews were machine-gunned, and
100 women and children were slain near Potok. [...] They were among the
thousands of Jews who had been transported from the Netherlands to the noto-
rious Treblinka concentration camp.”

It seems odd to transport people out of an extermination camp and then kill
them. Whoever composed this story was evidently not only uninformed on what
Treblinka was supposed to be, but also on the order of magnitude of the numbers
that were supposed to be thrown around.

July 21, 1943, p. 13: “QUICK AID IS ASKED FOR EUROPE’S JEWS

Immediate action to rescue the Jews of Nazi-dominated countries was de-
manded last night by speakers at the opening session of the Emergency Con-
ference to Save the Jews of Europe, held at the Hotel Commodore.

[...] Representative Rogers pointed out that some 3,000,000 of Europe’s
7,000,000 Jews already have perished and insisted that ‘this is a problem
which cannot be solved through the exercise of vocal cords and routine pro-
tests.’

[...] ‘Certainly there are enough open spaces and unpopulated areas to
accommodate 4,000,000 tortured human beings,’ he said. ‘Palestine is the
logical place. It is nearer and over land instead of over water [...]’

[...] Count Sforza voiced the hope that Jews and Arabs would be able to
cooperate in the future in the building of a great Near East federation, with
Palestine as a member.”

August 2, 1943, p. 10: “16,000,000 MADE REFUGEES BY AXIS

Washington, Aug. 1 — A survey of the European refugee problem, published
today by the Foreign Policy Association, said that only a collective effort on
the part of the great powers or an international organization could deal effec-
tively with the situation that would follow the end of the war.

[...] On the basis of reports from the governments in exile and other infor-
mants, the report said, it was estimated that of the Jews who in 1939 inhabited
European countries now held by the Axis, two million already have been de-
ported or had perished from various forms of mistreatment or deliberate ex-
termination.”

The Foreign Policy Association does not seem to be very secure in asserting
exterminations, because it gives the impression that most of the Jews had been
“deported,” even though by this time other propagandists were speaking of three
million dead Jews.
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August 8, 1943, p. 11: “2,000,000 MURDER